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Co-Chairmen’s and CEO’s Statements

BMEEERBEVIITERS

Dear Shareholders,

ANE has made a profound strategic transformation in 2023. Faced
with the uncertainty of macroeconomics and fierce competition among
leading express freight networks, we have completely shifted the
original scale and freight volume driven strategy to a new one centered
on profit and quality while focusing on effective scale growth. After
more than a year of unremitting efforts, the transformation of ANE has
achieved fruitful results so far. In 2023, our freight volume reached
12.0 million tons, with gross profit increasing by 73.6% compared with
the previous year.

In 2023, with strategic focus on quality growth, ANE has reached a
consensus on the strategic goal of effective scale growth. Following
the course of action of “new strategy, new organization, new quality,
and new execution”, we reinformed ourselves with determination to
succeed, enhancing the operational efficiencies and organizational
capabilities, while reshaping the growth of our business. ANE
continues advancing towards the long-term strategic goal.

In order to ensure the implementation of the strategy, we continue
to hone organizational resilience. Firstly, we continue to optimize
our organization to be flat in order to ensure flexibility; secondly,
we continue to stimulate organizational vitality through authorizing,
activating and empowering our front-line operative regional
organization; Besides, we transformed our middle and back offices
into a professional shared service center. With a more solid budget
and financial management system, as well as more digitalised business
analysis tools, our middle and back offices are now more capable of
providing guidance and support for operative regional organization.
Last but not least, we comprehensively upgraded the performance-
oriented organizational assessment and incentive framework to
motivate our strategic transformation.
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Co-Chairmen’s and CEO’s Statements

We drove high-quality growth through a series of initiatives. In
order to optimize the ecosystem of our freight partners and agents,
we adopted a more precise pricing scheme, introduced a primary

organization called “Iron Triangle” to ensure agile response to
our freight partners and agents, and provided comprehensive
empowerment support. As a result, we have created a more fair and
more sustainable freight partner ecosystem with wider coverage. On
the product side, we emphasized on quality, timeliness and service to
differentiate our products and enhance competitiveness. In addition,
we have deepened our channel development to create new momentum

for freight volume growth.

In terms of operations, we continued to improve operational efficiency
and build ultimate cost control capabilities. On the sorting side, we
continue to upgrade our sorting networks, while improving efficiency
leveraging people, sites, and equipment. We strictly controlled costs
and expenses through lean operations. On the transportation side,
we improved transportation efficiency through precise route planning
and fleet capacity optimization by building a robust fleet management
system. Meanwhile, we optimized the efficiency and steadiness of
our shipment. Additionally, we continued to increase operating profit
margins through fleet cost reductions.

We acknowledge that everyday efforts are crucial to a thorough
transformation which cannot be accomplished in one fell swoop.
As 2023 is the year of in-depth transformation, ANE has laid a
solid foundation for the Company’s long-term development. We are
confident that we will continue to iteratively advance based on our
past experience, and unfold a new era of high-quality growth for ANE
leveraging our focus, precision, and flexibility, with the guidance of
the Five Most goals of “most optimal cost, most superior quality,
most stable timeliness, most timely service response, and most dense
network coverage”.

Mr. Qin Xinghua
Executive Director, chief executive officer and Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, March 26, 2024
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Corporate Information

NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Yongjun

(Chairman, resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Qin Xinghua (Co-Chairman, chief executive officer)
Mr. Jin Yun

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weihao (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jian (resigned with effect from August 4, 2023)

Ms. Li Dan (resigned with effect from March 30, 2023)

Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)

Mr. Zhang Yinghao (appointed with effect from August 4, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Wilson Wei
Mr. Geh George Shalchu
Mr. Lam Man Kwong
(resigned with effect from November 20, 2023)
Ms. Sha Sha (appointed with effect from June 30, 2023)
Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk
(appointed with effect from November 20, 2023)

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

8th Floor, Block B

E Linke World North District
999 Huaxu Road

Xujing Town

Qingpu District

Shanghai, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

5/F, Manulife Place
348 Kwun Tong Road
Kowloon

Hong Kong
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REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. PUN Ka Ying

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. PUN Ka Ying
Mr. Wang Yongjun (resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Qin Xinghua (appointed with effect from January 9, 2023)

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Somerley Capital Limited

20th Floor, China Building
29 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong
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Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands
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Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
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Corporate Information

NEER

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Wilson Wei (Chairman)

Mr. Geh George Shalchu

Mr. Lam Man Kwong (resigned with effect from November 20,
2023)

Ms. Sha Sha (appointed with effect from June 30, 2023)

Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk (appointed with effect from November
20, 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lam Man Kwong (Chairman) (resigned with effect from
November 20, 2023)

Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk (Chairman) (appointed with effect from
November 20, 2023)

Mr. Qin Xinghua

Mr. Li Wilson Wei

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Qin Xinghua (Chairman, appointed with effect from
January 9, 2023)

Mr. Wang Yongjun (resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)

Mr. Lam Man Kwong (resigned with effect from November 20,
2023)

Mr. Li Wilson Wei

Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk (appointed with effect from November
20, 2023)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Weihao (Chairman)

Mr. Qin Xinghua (appointed with effect from January 9, 2023)

Mr. Wang Yongjun (resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)

Mr. Lam Man Kwong (resigned with effect from November 20,
2023)

Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk (appointed with effect from November
20, 2023)
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Weihao (Chairman)

Mr. Qin Xinghua

Mr. Wang Jian (resigned with effect from August 4, 2023)

Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)

Mr. Zhang Yinghao (appointed with effect from August 4, 2023)

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants and Registered PIE Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER
Davis Polk & Wardwell
10/F The Hong Kong Club Building

3A Chater Road
Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

9956

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.aneb56.com
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Financial and Operational Highlights

MBEREERH

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2019
20194

RMB’000

AREFT

Revenue WA 5,338,201

Gross profit EH 679,540

Operating (loss)/profit 484 (E518) / FIiE 61,137

(Loss)/Profit for the Year &R (E18),/ FI;8 (214,927)
Adjusted pre-tax RBRA

(loss)/profit MNote 1) (&518),/ Fim 106,182

Adjusted net RS
(loss)/profit Note 1) (&518),/ Fim 209,874
Adjusted EBITDA (Nete 1 K FHEEEBITDA 1) 894,853

%S E
Year ended December 31,
BZ12831HLEFE

2020 2021 2022 2023
20204 20214 20224 2023 F

(Restated)Moe 2

(g &5|) W)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT | ARETT ARBTT | AR®TR
7,081,791 9,645,366 9,334,931 9,916,899
1,051,466 1,066,197 730,362 1,268,003
578,322 257,190 (171,001) 619,508
218,181  (2,007,071) (400,455) 407,245
518,994 286,046 (89,775) 654,415
654,316 408,438 (209,111) 509,805
1,199,570 1,342,303 1,096,435 1,730,355

As at December 31,
M12A31H

2019
20194

RMB’000

ARETT

Total liabilities aERE 9,209,191
Total assets BERE 2,613,143
Total equity B (6,596,048)

2019

20194
RMB’000
ARETT

2020 2021 2022 2023
20204 20214 20224 20234
(Restated)®Mt?
(&&= ) HE2)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT | ARETT ARETT | AR¥Tx
9,699,363 3,667,278 3,330,556 2,802,835
3,710,788 6,335,586 5,845,012 5,777,054
(5,988,575) 2,668,308 2,514,456 2,974,219

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILLFE

2020
20204
RMB’000
AREF T

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARETTT

2022
20224
RMB’000
AREF T

2023
2023F
RMB’000
ARETT

Net cash flows from RE BB
operating activities ReneEFH 859,260 722,555 1,084,519 1,444,778 1,706,182

Note: B3 -

1. Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis - 1. BRIZFEBHBMEEAEFOHE - F2HA
Il. FINANCIAL REVIEW — Non-HKFRS Measures” in this annual report for FERSTERETHENN —I. FIEEE —
details of non-HKFRS measures. BB M EREAIEIR] & -

2. As disclosed in subsection (c) of note “2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 SINAFHRUYBFHREAMT[2.2F A BRLH
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES” to financial statements in this annual BEIBC)DEMBE  ARECERT BB
report, the Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred LRAF125% (B A) RE—QXFELMAER
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction, BERENELTRE KM AEEETEIBE
resulting in direct quantitative impact on deferred tax assets and income ENARHAXELTEENSLTE  URHE
tax expense, and indirect impact on profit/(loss) for the year, reserves and AFE S (BB) - FEREEREZNEERY
non-controlling interests. 2.
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Financial and Operational Highlights
MBEREERH
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED M

10

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We operate a leading express freight network in China’s less-than-
truckload (“LTL”) market. Express freight network operators, like
us, are LTL service providers who have nationwide coverage, and
deliver timely and comprehensive freight transportation services. In
2023, we have completed shipment of a total LTL freight volume
of 12.0 million tons, compared to 12.1 million tons in 2022.

We mainly provide transportation services, value-added
services and dispatch services to our freight partners, our direct
customers. We, together with our freight partners and agents,
served approximately 5.5 million shippers, our end-customers,
across China as of December 31, 2023, compared to over 4.7
million as of December 31, 2022.

Our investment in self-operated fleets helps us achieve self-
operation of essentially all two-way route line-haul transportation.
In order to fully utilize the backhaul capacity of self-operated fleets
deployed for one-way route, we also provide full-truckload (“FTL”)
services, which fulfils the freight demand of shippers by engaging
truck vehicle as the unit of transportation for direct point-to-point
service.

Our Market and Industry

With the accelerated digitalisation of commerce and trade in
China, the full spectrum of the supply chain, from manufacturers
to distributors, merchants and retailers, requires fast and high
frequency inventory turnover. This could only be achieved
through efficient and comprehensive freight transportation
solutions to bring merchandise to warehouses and stores closer
to end consumers. This in turn generates significant demand for
timely, comprehensive and reliable LTL services with nationwide
coverage. We are well-positioned for this opportunity by leveraging
our nationwide network with comprehensive and diverse product
offerings tailored to different shipper preferences. For instance, we
offer time-definite products to address e-commerce merchants’
increasing focus on timeliness, guaranteed safety product for
medicine distributors in the transportation of fragile and valuable
goods, and economy freight to meet auto parts suppliers’ demand
for cost-effectiveness transporting parts to auto manufacturers.

ANE (Cayman) Inc. « ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Historically, China’s LTL market was highly fragmented and
inefficient with a large number of regional direct line and freight
operators providing local logistics services in their respective
areas. Such freight operators struggle to capture the opportunities
and meet the challenges brought by B2C (business-to-consumer)
e-commerce growth and evolution in supply chains that have
ensued. We have created the freight partner platform model to
draw such local operators to our platform as freight partners and
agents, empowering them and our entire network to serve as the
infrastructure for China’s new commerce landscape.

Our Freight Partner Platform

Under our freight partner platform model, we directly operate and
control all mission-critical sorting and line-haul processes while
our freight partners and agents are responsible for investing and
operating the outlets at their own costs and providing feeder
service, pickup and dispatch services. We enable and empower
tens of thousands of local freight operators to connect with more
shippers and to provide digitalised, nationwide, reliable, timely,
efficient and comprehensive LTL services to shippers. We deliver
unique values to freight partners, agents and shippers. We will
continuously invest in sorting centres and line-haul transportation
as the freight volume increases to optimise operational efficiency
while improving our service quality.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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We are dedicated to creating more value to our freight partners
and agents while benefiting from their growth. As a result, we
believe we are best positioned to further increase our market
share in this broad yet fragmented market. As of December 31
2023, we had over 28,000 freight partners and agents, enabling
us to better serve shippers while expanding nationwide coverage.
We continue to enjoy strong relationship with our top freight
partners. The retention rate of our top freight partners’, which refers
to the ratio of the number of top freight partners that remains as
our freight partners in a given period, over the total number of top
freight partners in the previous period was 95.7% and 98.2% in
2022 and 2023, respectively.

Our Service Quality

We mainly provide transportation services, value-added services
and dispatch services to our freight partners and agents, our
direct customers. As of December 31, 2023, we, together with
our freight partners and agents, served approximately 5.5 million
shippers, our end-customers, across the entire commerce
landscape in China.

The “top freight partners” are defined as the largest freight partners
contributing 50% of our total revenue from freight partners in a given
period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As part of our strategic transformation, adhering to the brand
proposition of “Great Goods, Great ANE” (‘AAR&EEFE"),
service quality enhancement has been strategically emphasized
and continuously implemented throughout the whole year to better
fulfill the demand of our end customers. As of timeliness, the
average shipment time decreased by 10.1% to less than 72 hours
from the year ended December 31, 2022 to the same period of
20283. The timely fulfillment rate (number of shipments completed
within guaranteed duration per total number of completed
shipments) increased from 61.2% in the year ended December
31, 2022 to 73.2% in the same period of 2023, indicating the
enhancement of steadiness of our service timeliness. Further,
we reiterated the importance of our service quality. As a result,
our loss rate (number of lost units per hundred thousand units)
decreased by 83.2%, from 1.2 in the year ended December 31,
2022 to 0.2 in the same period of 2023. And our damage rate
(number of damaged units per hundred thousand units) decreased
by 33.6%, from 49.0 in the year ended December 31, 2022 to
32.6 in the same period of 2023. Besides, better service also
leads to lower complaint rate (number of complaints per hundred
thousand shipments), which decreased by 64.4%, from 1,294 in
the year ended December 31, 2022 to 461 in the same period of
2023.

Our Network and Infrastructure
We continuously improve our operational efficiency through

managing, optimizing and investing in our critical infrastructure,
mainly comprising our sorting centres and line haul transportation.
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Sorting Centres

As of December 31, 2023, we had 81 self-operated sorting
centres across China, allowing us, together with our network
outlets, to cover approximately 98.2% of the counties and
townships in China. We directly operate our sorting centres mostly
on leased premises. Our sorting centres are connected by the
line-haul transportation network that we operate. The consolidation
sorting centres receive and sort the freight and dispatch them to
the destination sorting centres, which deconsolidate the freight
and assign the freight to dispatching freight partners and agents.

Throughout 2023, we have optimized our sorting centre network
reduce our line-haul routing and sorting costs. We have taken
measures such as: (1) extending our direct line-haul route to by-
pass small consolidation sorting centres while transporting freight
from our key sorting centres/hubs to our freight partners (or vice
versa); (2) optimizing labour force allocation to improve sorting
efficiency and reduce labour cost; and (3) precisely planning
sorting areas to enhance infield movement efficiency. Such
measures allow us to reduce the number of self-operated sorting
centres, enhancing our operational efficiency while maintaining our
national footprint and coverage.
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The following map illustrates our nationwide sorting centre network TEREREMEZ2023F12A31BHE
as of December 31, 2023: B> B RO AR

Key Hubs

* R

° Transit hubs and other sorting centres
hEE AR E D B

o Sorting centres planned to be put into use by end of 2024
RBh DB P (FART2024 FFEEATIRAGEA)

I Line haul routes for illustrative purpose
BRRE (HEAAR) -
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Based on the functions, operating freight volume and line-haul
connectivity, our sorting centres include key transit hubs, transit
hubs and other sorting centres. Out of our 81 sorting centres as of
December 31, 2023, we had 36 key transit hubs with full coverage
of China and 19 transit hubs, which are primarily responsible for
interprovincial transfer of freight. The following table sets forth
details of our sorting centres as of December 31, 2023:

BENEE  KEEENHBERBR - &
D BERLEFEZLPEIRA - PER
AN A 5B o BE2023F 12 A31
B &Ms1ESEFLF - B36E2AEE
EPEZOPEEARIOEEXEEETS
BEEYEENPEREM - TRITIEM
HZE2023F 12 A31 B D FEHR LS ¢

Average daily

handling

volume in the

year ended

December 31,

Average 2023

Number

Area (m?) (tons) | Functionality
H £2023F
12A31H
LFEER
FHREER

FIHmEE
(FEFK)
Key hubs
O AR 36 36,172
Transit hubs
PR 19 17,036
Other sorting centres
Hit DB L 26 4,718

(W) | EEEE

Nationwide full connectivity

3,986 EHHENEB

Inter-provincial connectivity
1,470 &HRE®E

Regional connectivity
264 HhlmfEE 38

Our key transit hubs are located in key commercial centres in
China such as Shanghai, Hangzhou, Guangzhou, Shenzhen,
Chengdu, Suzhou, etc. Compared to December 31, 2022, we
improved our network layout by leveraging key hubs while closing
down certain less efficient sorting centres, primarily small ones
for consolidation purposes, which enables us to reduce transit
ratios and improve service quality. On average, our key transit
hub handled a freight volume of over 1.1 million tons in 2023. Our
transit hubs are normally adjacent to highways and is each directly
connected to about 16 provinces on average as of December 31,
2023.
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Line-Haul Network

We directly manage all the line-haul transportation in our network.
Our sorting centres are connected with approximately 2,300 well-
planned line-haul routes as of December 31, 2023, among which
approximately 88.5% are two-way routes.

In order to reduce transportation costs and improve transportation
efficiency, we have disposed redundant line-haul trucks and
optimized the truck-to-trailer ratio. As of December 31, 2023, our
self-operated fleets consisted of over 3,600 high-capacity line-
haul trucks and approximately 6,300 trailers, as compared to
approximately 4,000 high-capacity line-haul trucks and over 6,200
trailers as of December 31, 2022. All of our self-operated fleets
are operated by our approximately 5,500 contracted drivers as of
December 31, 2023.

Network Outlets

As of December 31, 2023, all of the network outlets are owned
and operated by over 28,000 freight partners and freight agents
across China, covering approximately 98.2% of counties and
townships in China.

Our Technology

Technology is at the core of our operations. It is critical to our
platform, network and service offerings. We have digitalised every
process of our operations through self-developed IT systems to
achieve real-time data tracking, smart outlet management, route
planning, sorting management and automated customer service
to shippers, which in turn contributes to our superior network
capabilities.

BEEERWED T

5 AR B AT

BMEZEENEAMBE®RRER - #H=
2028312 A31H » MW/ BHRLAKX
#)2,300 168 045 &I M B A3 B B AR BE i 7 -
HF#488.5% 2 E2 IR o

REREERKNARRESERIE  HMAL
ETEHNBERERELT FHERE
RILEBl - B Z20284 12 A31 8 - &AM
BRE LB AIEBIAS,6008EBEEIE N+
BN #416,3008 B EAAR - MBI E20224F

{BiE6,2008 A E 4K © #E2023F 12 A
31H ' FTEEZEKBELS550084 R A
HiBE o

2

EHZE2023F12A3818 » BMIFAANEY
2 ER BB B Z A 38 28,000
REBAEBAEERERHE REE -
BEPH4L98.2% K SEL FN4BEA o

B FIHIRE

BMRRRMASEZOME - HERMNHF
& HEERBHELAER - HfIERE
BEEAENTRE2EEAFLEERA
LENBERE  EREFBURRNR

DRMEHER  BERE  2BEEUR
RREEPREERERR - EMmEBRM
EREBABREEES
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Il. FINANCIAL REVIEW 1. 8175 B B8
Overview BE
The following discussion is based on, and should be read in AT mIDERRNEREME D T 2 8
conjunction with, the financial information and notes included HER RMEE - B —IRTE -

elsewhere in this annual report.

Our results of operations are affected by the total freight volume. BPMEERESINEERENTE - T
The following table sets forth our total freight volume and unit ZHENKRMNAMI RN EELE RBRM
economics of our key operating and financial metrics for the FRASE R IR R B AL B M

periods indicated:

For the year ended Year-to-year
December 31, change
BZ12A31B8LFE & b 2 &)

2023 2022
20234 2022

SREERESYE (TH) 12,037 12,115 -0.6%
Total LTL shipments ('000)

TREZH(TE) 128,839 114,304 12.7%
Freight weight per LTL shipment (kg)

EHE(RT) 93 106 -12.3%

Total LTL freight volume™°t (000 tons)

Unit price for LTL transportation services (RMB/ton)

THREHRGEE (AR T W) 454 441 2.9%
Unit price for LTL value-added services (RMB/ton)
THRIZEREEE (ARET H) 149 138 8.0%
Unit price for LTL dispatch services (RMB/ton)
TERXRBGEE (AREIT M) 215 188 14.4%
Unit price for total LTL services (RMB/ton)
TERBEEB (ARET, M) 818 767 6.6%
Unit price for total services (RMB/ton)
R EEE (AR T, W) 824 750 9.9%
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For the year ended Year-to-year
December 31, change

BZEZ12831ALLEE G L & &)

2023 2022
20234 2022

Unit line-haul transportation cost (RMB/ton)

BUBRBRKAN (ARET, B 317 320 -0.9%
Unit sorting centre cost (RMB/ton)
BN HEROKA (ARBIT, ) 170 178 -4.5%
Unit cost of value-added services (RMB/ton)
IEERRI BRI A (ARMEIT,1E) 31 28 10.7%
Unit cost of dispatch services (RMB/ton)

BT R A (ARMETT,WE) 200 165 21.2%
Unit cost of revenues (RMB/ton)
BUEERE (ARSI M) 718 691 3.9%

Unit gross profit for value-added services (RMB/ton)

BAEERBEN (ARET H) 118 110 7.3%
Unit gross profit for dispatch services (RMB/ton)

BhORERBEN (AR, HE) 15 23 -34.8%
Unit gross profit (RMB/ton)

BUERN(ARYT M) 106 59 79.7%

Unit operating profit/(loss) (RMB/ton)

BASLETE,(BR) (ARBT, 1) 51 (14) TiE M
Unit adjusted pre-tax profit/(loss) (RMB/ton)
B ERAEBANE, (B (ARBT 1) 54 ) iE A
Unit adjusted EBITDA (RMB/ton)
B FHREBITDA (AR T /1) 144 88 63.6%
Note: The “freight volume”, means the amount of freight by volumetric M (&8 HES|EEYNTEEE - &
weight. As LTL and FTL has different pricing and settlement model, REERESENEENRBEEEX BT
freight volume is mainly used to illustrate LTL business. HE - EEFEETEEK -
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In 2023, we have completed shipment of a total LTL freight volume
of 12.0 million tons, compared to 12.1 million tons in 2022. In
terms of freight weight mix structure, the freight volume of mini
freight (<70 kg)'and light freight (70 — 500 kg)?, increased by 9.1%
and 2.4%, respectively. The freight volume of bulk freight (~500
kg)® decreased by 9.7%, which more than offset the increase in
mini freight and light freight and led to the slight year-on-year
decrease of LTL freight volume. The growth of our mini and light
freight segments lead to a 12.7% growth of our total number of
shipments, while the average freight weight per LTL shipment
decreased from 106kg in 2022 to 93kg in 2023. The above trend
reflects our strategy to optimize our freight weight mix structure,
as lighter freight has higher unit price and higher margins and
requires higher quality and more value-added services. With our
focus on profitability and service quality, complemented by our
upgraded more precise cost-based pricing scheme, we were able
to gradually replace low and negative margin segments with better
quality and higher margin business and pursue sustainable growth
of such business.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, we derived our revenues from
transportation services, value added services and dispatch
services. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our
revenue for the periods indicated:

LTL business

THRER

2023F - ZKME TN TEEELES12.08
BN - M2022FMEELERI1218E
WE - MEBHEBMS - RIRNE(T0RT
AT RNETE (7025008 )&
EDRIEIN A% K2.4% > KEZHE (500
NTAE)SEE TR 7% » | T IR/
ERNBETENBR % EERTEYE
SRLME - R NERNETEMNER
BEAZHIER12.7% © MEHEH2022
FH106 A TFEE2023FHIBZ AT © AL
BEARBRTRMESELEBELHBE
BNBETEMNBEMNABERRS YRS
EEMNEREa BEEERE S FAEES
MFmER - EERMBERFE D TRBEE
B UKL ERRENERKARN
EEMEE  RMEEHANEEFHHETH
EEmESDAFBEERSEME TR I
o BREBNABERRE -

A
R¥wERRE - HAHKAKRE RN ESR

% SBERS RIRE R o TRE A
TP AR O W A BR AR

For the year ended December 31,
BZ12831HLFE

(in thousands, except percentages)

Transportation

(AT& - BAESN)

Eiy 5,461,469 55.5 5,339,150 57.5
Value-added services

A AR TS 1,796,889 18.2 1,670,350 18.0
Dispatch services

3% AR 75 2,590,061 26.3 2,282,851 24.5
Total revenues

FENON 9,848,419 100.0 9,292,351 100.0

Freight that weights less than or equal to 70 kg.

Freight that weights more than 70 kg and less than or equal to 500 kg.
Freight that weights more than 500 kg.
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FTL business For the year ended December 31,
BB BZ12A31HILFE

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&H - BALERSN)

Transportation
B 68,480 100.0 42,580 100.0

Total revenues
AN 68,480 100.0 42,580 100.0

LTL and FTL Business For the year ended December 31,
TERBEEL BZ12A31HLFE

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&E - BN

Transportation

B 5,529,949 55.8 5,381,730 57.7
Value-added services

BB R 5 1,796,889 18.1 1,670,350 17.8
Dispatch services

I AR 7S 2,590,061 26.1 2,282,851 24.5
Total revenues

FAL N 9,916,899 100.0 9,334,931 100.0
The price level of our transportation services is determined by BAMERRBNESKEERANZER
various factors, including the volumetric weight of the freight, = BREVNERESE:E  SHbs E
transportation distance, product types, market conditions and miER - MBARAMBEEE - RPELE
competition. We are optimizing our dynamic pricing system which {LBETFEERL % 25 E BT A M
periodically evaluates and adjusts our pricing levels, allowing us BPREBEKT - ERMEHEBIENE
to optimize our capacity management and operational efficiency. BRELUE BMFEREEESERD
We primarily rely on freight partners and agents to fulfill dispatch MREEETRERYE  RKERTER
services, while undertaking dispatch services by ourselves in TtEgBETRBRIKERS -

certain circumstances.
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Our total revenue increased by 6.2% from RMB9,334.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB9,916.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, primarily driven by the increase in
our unit price for LTL service from RMB767/ton for the year ended
December 31, 2022 to RMB818/ton for the year ended December
31, 2023, which offset the decrease in our LTL freight volume
from 12.1 million tons for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
12.0 million tons for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The increase in our unit price for LTL transportation was mainly
due to (i) the growth of mini freight and light freight that has higher
unit transportation prices, and (i) the implementation of a new
cost-based pricing scheme which provides us with a better tool to
adjust and monitor our price and margin.

The increase in our transportation revenues was mainly driven
by the increase in our unit price for transportation services from
RMB441/ton for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB454/
ton for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The increase in our value-added services revenues was mainly
attributable to the increase of unit price of value-added services
from RMB138/ton for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
RMB149/ton for the year ended December 31, 2023, due to the
growth of mini freight and light freight that require more value-
added service and higher value-added services fee on weight unit
basis (i.e. from a per ton perspective).

The increase in our dispatch services revenues was mainly due
to the increase of our unit price of dispatch services. The unit
dispatch services revenue increased from RMB188/ton for the
year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB215/ton for the year
ended December 31, 2023, due to (i) the enhancement of our
dispatch service quality that required higher pricing; (ii) the
increase of mini freight and light freight that has increased our
number of shipments thus increase the number of dispatchments.

We launched FTL business in May 2022. In the long run, we will

keep strategic focus on LTL business and the FTL business will
remain as a supplement of LTL business to better utilize our fleet.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cost of revenues

Our cost of revenues primarily consists of costs for (i) line-haul
transportation, (i) sorting centre, (iii) value-added services, and
(iv) dispatch services. The following table sets forth a breakdown
of our cost of revenues and as a percentage of our total cost of
revenues for the periods indicated:

BEENWED

ERARAR

BERATBOIEN)BRESR  (I)DEHR
R s (i) IS ERRTE ¢ R (iv) IR KR IE BU A AN o
TR PIAFT R BB A & ER A k(G
BEERANE D LLABAMA

For the year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BLLEE

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&E - BN

Line-haul transportation

BiRER 3,821,272 44.2 3,980,614 46.2
Sorting centre

DR 2,049,286 23.7 2,216,973 25.8
Value-added services

HER®E 371,732 4.3 352,119 4.1
Dispatch services

X AR 7S 2,406,606 27.8 2,054,863 23.9
Total

et 8,648,896 100.0 8,604,569 100.0

Our cost of revenues increased by 0.5% from RMB8,604.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB8,648.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, which was mainly due to
(i) the increase in our value-added services cost from RMB352.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB371.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, and (ii) the
increase in our dispatch services cost from RMB2,054.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB2,406.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, which are in line with the
revenue growth of value-added services and dispatch services,
respectively.

BMHOEERAREZ2022F12A831H
IFFEEHARKES 604.6 8 ETHENMN0.5%
EHE2023F12A31HIEFEHARE
8,648.9E ML + = B () EEMBHRA
HEZ2022F12A31HIEFENARKE
352 1EE T EHE2023F 12 A31H1E
FEMAREI7TI7TEET - K(i)KERE
RABEZ2022F12 A31 HIEFEHA
R#2,054. 9B 8T EEE2023F 12 H
S1HIEFEMARE2406.6E&7T D7
H1I(E AR 7S R X RIS BV UL A G RARFF —
@( °
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Line-haul transportation cost primarily includes (i) service costs
for third-party fleet operators and (i) operating costs incurred
by our self-operated fleets such as truck fuel costs, road tolls,
driver compensation and depreciation costs. The following table
sets forth a breakdown of our line-haul transportation cost for the
periods indicated:

BREBRATEBRNE=ZTEHLE
BERIEAAR - R (i) BEBREENLE
A PIINEERME - BEE - B
T RITERA - TRINHRMIRFRHE
B AR B SR AR B4R

For the year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALFE

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&H - BRI

Services costs for third-party fleets

F=HEBRRBBA 454,546 11.9 380,633 9.6

Operating costs incurred
by self-operated fleets:

B HE B EE SRR ¢ 3,366,726 88.1 3,599,981 90.4
Toll costs EiGE 1,105,226 28.9 1,125,822 28.3
Fuel costs #AmE 970,790 25.4 1,017,483 25.6
Driver compensation =1 Bl & 697,142 18.2 733,277 18.4
Depreciation #T& 358,584 9.4 355,847 8.9
Others Efth 234,984 6.2 367,552 9.2

Total line-haul transportation costs

RRBEWAR A 3,821,272 100.0 3,980,614 100.0

Qur line-haul transportation costs decreased from RMB3,980.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB3,821.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2023. While the line-
haul transportation unit cost decreased from RMB320/ton for
the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB317/ton for the year
ended December 31, 2023. This reflects the improvement of our
fleet efficiency, which is mainly attributed to: (i) the decrease of
fuel cost driven by the decreasing oil price and our procurement
optimization; and (i) operational efficiency improvement due to
more straight line-haul routing, benefiting from the removal of
small sorting hubs that allows more straight line-haul routing.
As the restructuring of sorting network was completed by
July, we recorded a more significant enhancement on the unit
transportation cost in the second half of 2023, which is RMB310/
ton.
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Sorting centre cost includes (i) labour costs, (i) depreciation
of right-of-use assets in relation to leased sorting centres, (iii)
property management fees and utility costs, (iv) equipment rental
costs, and (v) operation and maintenance costs. The following
table sets forth a breakdown of our sorting centre cost for the
periods indicated:

BEEERWED T

DEPORABIE()S B SARA ¢ (i)
EnEhLBERNERBREENE (i)Y
XERBMAARERA  (v)REHEE
A R(v)EE BB - TR H A
AR B 2 B R OB Y R AR

For the year ended December 31,

Z£12A318LLEE

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&H - BRI

Labour costs % &) 1K 7 1,210,604 59.1 1,301,694 58.7
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

FREEENE 554,547 27.1 580,559 26.2
Property management fees and utility costs

MHEEREE RN ARERA 132,444 6.4 155,135 7.0
Equipment rental costs & &R A 71,965 3.5 93,691 4.2
Others EAth 79,726 3.9 85,894 3.9
Total sorting centre costs 7 % F1 /048 A 2N 2,049,286 100.0 2,216,973 100.0

Our sorting centre costs decreased from RMB2,217.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB2,049.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023. While the sorting centre unit
cost decreased from RMB178/ton for the year ended December
31, 2022 to RMB170/ton for the year ended December 31, 2023.
This is attributed to (i) the optimizations we made to some of
our smaller sorting centres since Q4 2022, which allows us to
reduce the number of our self-operated sorting centres, and (ii)
the reduction of our labour force and improvement of our labour
efficiency, which resulted in a decrease in labour costs. Similar to
unit transportation cost, we recorded a more significant decrease
in unit sorting centre cost in the second half of 2023, which is
RMB156/ton, after the completion of restructuring sorting network
by July.

TP BROKABEE2022F12 H
BIHILFEEMARKE2 217088 TR
EHE2023F12A31BILFEMARE
2,049.3B&TT - HEP O EMKABE
£2022F12A31BILEFEMNAREEA17S
T/ WETREFHE2023F12A318 1k
FEMARBATOR W - ERER()B
2022F FENEER - BMEE T NAE D
PLURBLERD TEESBPONEE

K (i F IR0 8 TH AR 2 R ERFIRI S T
XEFRES  AMERLBHEATE -
HEBAERAEAREL - R7 AR R DB
MEERE KMo BPOHBLKRR
20283 F T HFEHEBARBTEE - HAARMK
1567C,/ g °
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Costs of value-added services are costs directly incurred in
relation to our provision of value-added services, such as the cost
of digital devices, shipment waybill and consumables.

The increase in our costs of value-added services from RMB352.1
2022 to RMB371.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 was substantially

million for the year ended December 31,

consistent with the increase of our value-added services revenues.
The increase in our unit costs of value-added services from
RMB28/ton for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB31/ton
for the same period in 2023 was mainly because the increase in
freight shipment led to higher unit fixed cost on a weight basis as
we charge value-added service fee by number of shipment instead
of weight.

Costs of dispatch services primarily represent (i) fees of dispatch
services paid to our freight partners, the price of which is
determined based on the cost structure of freight partners and
market conditions, and (ii) costs incurred by our self-operated
dispatch services.

The increase in our costs of dispatch services from RMB2,054.9
2022 to RMB2,406.6
million for the year ended December 31,

million for the year ended December 31,
2023 was mainly
attributable to (i) the increase of LTL mini freight volume, and (i)
the adjustment of the dispatch fees paid to our freight partners
in order to enhance the service quality. The increase in our unit
dispatch costs from RMB165/ton for the year ended December
31, 2022 to RMB200/ton for the same period in 2023 was caused
by the same factors set out above.

Our total cost of revenues was RMB8,648.9 million for the year
20283, compared to RMB8,604.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022, mainly due to the above

ended December 31,

reasons.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the gross profit and gross
profit margin was RMB1,268.0 million and 12.8%, respectively,
as compared to RMB730.4 million and 7.8%, respectively, for the
year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in gross profit was
mainly driven by (i) the combination of our new pricing scheme and
reinvigorated freight partners ecosystem, which has contributed
to a strong growth in our mini and light freight segment, our high
margin business, thus leading to an increase of RMB8/ton in the
unit gross profit of value-added services; and (i) the increase in
2028 overall unit revenue. The increase in gross profit margin was
mainly driven by the above-mentioned reasons. As a result, our
unit gross profit increased from RMB59/ton for the year ended
December 31, 2022 to RMB106/ton for the year ended December
31, 2023.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the major

components of our general and administrative expenses both
in absolute amount and as a percentage of total general and
administrative expenses for the periods indicated:

For the year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

BEENWED

EMNRENR

HE20283F12A31HLEFENENR
EFEDR ABARKE1,268.088 LR
12.8%  MEE2022F 12 A31BILFE
MEFMREFESBNABARBT730.485E
TTRT7.8% ° EFIEINTIEE B ()R
MEERBRNEESIEREREBRE(E
“EERETHSEMERINKIMENE
TEEENEELER - Aifﬁﬁﬁﬁ%miﬁ
ERIEMT ARKSIT, /WA : K (ii)20234F

BUBMANEEER - EFRMEMES
=L REAMRS - At - B EFBHEE
202212 A1 B ILEEMARES9T
WEIZ N EE E2023F 12 A1 HIEFER
ARMA067T M

—RRITEREAX
TRBIR AR AR — A RATEF

BT EERE D (REBYH SR RE—RKEIT
B AE B D) R4

(in thousands, except percentages)

(CAT5F - B LLERIN)

Salaries and other benefits & & H {th 12 Fl| 440,268 56.8 445,064 49.8
Business operation expenses 5iE &5 % 86,633 11.2 115,230 12.9
Professional service fees HERTFE 102,080 13.2 80,377 9.0
Depreciation and amortisation #7 & K # §& 42,240 5.5 63,227 7.1
Share-based payment expenses &7 3 11 F % 102,568 13.3 188,881 21.2
Total &5t 773,789 100.0 892,779 100.0
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QOur general and administrative expenses decreased from
RMB892.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
RMB773.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The
main changes include (i) the decrease in share-based payment
expenses due to less grant of share rewards in 2023, and less
amortisation from historical grants in 2023; (i) the decrease in
business operation expenses due to more disciplined expense
control; (i) the decrease in depreciation and amortisation due to
the maturity of certain intangible assets; and (iv) the increase in
professional fees was mainly due to strategic consulting service
fees incurred for our strategic transformation.

Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Net

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of
our other income and gains/(losses), net for the periods indicated:

BMEO—MEITHRAX B ZE2022412
A31HIEFENARKS2.8EE LR
EEZE2023F12831HIEFEMARKE
773.8BEEBIT - X EFFBIE()HEMR2023
FREMKRMDEE R BERD A ER
Lo HMEBRND AR (i) EE&
B E) B S R HI GBS L ER OB ¢ (i)
ETEREEDNHESINE RBHA D

R(iVVBEEE LR TZRAARMEEE
AR ELA T HENBRGBAREE

Htp AR Wz (BR) - F8
3R B R BT R P A A R R

/(518 SFREM AR R4
For the year ended December 31,
Z12A31ALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224

(RMB in thousands)
(AR¥FTT)

Government grants 4 Bf 20,170 21,078
Gains on weighted deduction of value-added tax & 1B ANt Uk = 135,914 57,446
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) SMNEZ / (E518) 2,440 (2,173)
Interest income FI| 2 WA 19,140 15,120
Gain/(loss) on disposal of long-term assets & & REE EMWES (EE) 31,945 (13,985)
Asset impairment & E B (44,249) (41,788)
Others HAth (40,066) (44,282)
Total &5 125,294 (8,584)
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We recorded other income and gains of RMB125.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to other losses
of RMB8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
change was primarily due to the increase in weighted deduction
of value-added tax which is RMB135.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, mainly in relation to the utilized weighted
deduction of VAT for the year ended December 31, 2023. We
recorded gains on disposal of long-term assets of RMB31.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to losses
on disposal of long-term assets of RMB14.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, which was mainly due to the gains
incurred by (i) the termination of leasing contracts in advance in
relation to the optimization of our sorting network; and (i) the
disposal of redundant fleets.

Operating Profit/(Loss) and Operating Profit/
(Loss) Margin

As a result of the foregoing, our operating loss of RMB171.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 increased to an
operating profit of RMB619.5 million for the year ended December
31, 2028. Our operating loss margin of 1.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2022 increased to an operating profit margin of
6.2% for the year ended December 31, 2023, which was mainly
due to the above-mentioned reasons.
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FE: AR¥A3088 L) TEHEHFZE
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IEHBRER - HPIBE2023F12 A31
AEFEHSHERBEENREARE
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m B

RERB(BR) REERE
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STHILEFEMNKEBEBARK171.08
ETEMEERE20234F12A31HILE
EREEFBARK619.588 T - AE
FE2022F 12 3T HIEFENKLBEX
1.8%EMNEEHZE2023F12 A1 HILEFE
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Finance Costs

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of
our finance costs for the periods indicated:

Bt 7 AR AR

TR ETIR PR B 2 A B 15 AR AR B0 AR AR
BB BAAR

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
(RMB in thousands)
(AR¥TFTT)
Interest on lease liabilities THE & &F| & 41,281 58,379
Interest on bank loans and other loans $R1TE R & H M EZF 2 37,621 61,820
Total &5t 78,902 120,199

Our finance costs decreased by 34.4% from RMB120.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB78.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, mainly because (i) the decrease
in interest on lease liabilities of RMB17.1 million in relation to the
optimizations we made to some of our smaller sorting centres
since Q4 2022, and (ii) the decrease in interest on bank and other
loans of RMB24.2 million mainly because we pre-paid part of the
loans for the purchase of trucks as we accumulate excess cash
from operations.

Fair Value Change of Financial Assets at Fair
Value through Profit or Loss

The fair value change of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 was profit of
RMB11.2 million, as compared to profit of RMB10.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022.
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Income Tax Expense

We recorded income tax expense of RMB144.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, as compared to income tax expense
of RMB119.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
primarily because tax losses from previous periods of certain
subsidiaries were utilised to offset taxable profit. The deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits would be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and tax losses can be utilised.

Profit/(Loss) for the Reporting Period

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded a profit of RMB407.2
million with a net profit margin of 4.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2023, as compared to a loss of RMB400.5
million with a net loss margin of 4.3% for the same period of
2022, which was, in particular, attributable to (i) the increase
of RMB537.6 million in our gross profit due to the increase of
overall unit revenue and the above-mentioned factors, (i) the
increase of RMB133.9 million in other income and gains due to
the increase in weighted deduction of value-added tax and gain
on disposal of multiple assets, and (iii) the decrease of RMB119.0
million in general and administrative expenses in relation to our
organizational upgrades.

Non-HKFRS Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements that are
presented in accordance with HKFRS, we also use adjusted
net profit/(loss) for the period (a non-HKFRS measure),
adjusted pre-tax profit/(loss) (a non-HKFRS measure) and
adjusted EBITDA (a non-HKFRS measure), as additional
financial measures, which are not required by, or presented in
accordance with, HKFRS. We believe that these non-HKFRS
measures facilitate comparisons of operating performance
from period to period and company to company by eliminating
potential impacts of items that our management does not
consider to be indicative of our operating performance. We
believe that these measures provide useful information to
investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they
help our management. However, our presentation of these
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non-HKFRS measures may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures presented by other companies. The use of these non-
HKFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and you
should not consider them in isolation from, or as a substitute
for analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as
reported under HKFRS.

The following table sets out our non-HKFRS measures, and a
reconciliation from loss for the period to adjusted net profit/(loss),
adjusted pre-tax profit/(loss) and adjusted EBITDA for the period
(three non-HKFRS measures) for the periods indicated.

P2 ZEFIFREBYHRSEEIERER
LR EHEM R B2 ELUREENIER
B - ERREFIRBE R BREELIER
ERDMTAEBEERRE - BT TERZ
FEEABUNKAIBREMARETEY
B E AP 2 AR E RGBS FIOR
BT -

TREIAFREBANRM A IEE B SR
HEAERE - UREBREBRLCHZRR
SFFRE (B8 - EARBATFE (8
18) MG FAREBITDA (Z EIEE B B E
ERIFEZE) HEER o

For the year ended December 31,

BE12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022

(RMB in thousands)
(AR¥EFTT)

Profit/(loss) for the year SERFIE /(E1E) 407,245 (400,455)
Add: i :

Share-based payment expensesioe i {5 37 {+ 5 & i 102,560 191,344
Adjusted net profit/(loss) for the year EHABERFEFE (FHE) 509,805 (209,111)
Add: i

Income tax expense FT{575 5 5% 144,610 119,336
Adjusted pre-tax profit/(loss) for the year

KRABRFRBAFE (FHE) 654,415 (89,775)
Add: i

Depreciation #T& 1,007,355 1,058,830
Amortisation of other intangible assets £ fih 2 & &= # 44 8,823 22,301
Interest income F| 24 A (19,140) (15,120)
Finance costs BAHSAK AN 78,902 120,199
Adjusted EBITDA & ZEBITDA 1,730,355 1,096,435

32 ANE (Cayman) Inc. « ANNUAL REPORT 2023




Management Discussion and Analysis

Note: Share-based payment expenses relates to the share rewards we
granted to our employees, non-cash item.

BEEERWED T

B RE At ST P ST BB P B B T ey A i 82
BAR - EIEREAER -

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

Net profit/(loss) margin SE#58 / (E58) &
Adjusted net profit/(loss) margin ZHEFRE (FE) &

Adjusted pre-tax profit/(loss) margin ZEBBHAFE (FE) =

Adjusted EBITDA margin & ZEBITDARE=R

4.1 (4.3)
5.1 (2.2)
6.6 (1.0)
17.4 11.7

Capital Management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value. The Group manages its capital
structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the Reporting Period.
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Depreciation e
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of T 2% 551 B B R HARS R P9I & B 4B AR SR 4
our depreciation for the periods indicated: BT -

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

(RMB in thousands)

(AR¥TFIT)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {# AL EITE 570,825 621,075
Depreciation of motor vehicles ;5B & 384,976 383,882
Others Hfth 51,554 53,873
Total #&5t 1,007,355 1,058,830
L . . 2= My

Liquidity and Financial Resources B K B A B R

The Group’s cash and cash equivalent increase from RMB1,039.3 AEB R RREEEYH2022F12A8
million as at December 31, 2022 to RMB1,407.9 million as at 31THMARK1,039.3FE LIENE2023
December 31, 2023. The increase in the cash and cash equivalent F12A31AMARKE1,407.9BE T ° %
was primarily attributable to the cash inflow from operating B4 RELZEYMNENTESHERGS
activities, which was partially offset by the cash outflow from EBWE ST - BARIEEESNES

investing activities.

PR

The Group’s liquidity remains strong. During the Reporting Period, AEENRDERFTES - RBEHA -
the Group’s primary source of funds was from its ordinary course TEENESTEREHBER - 1R
of business, including payments received from its customers. Z2EIWEEFR o
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Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

As at December 31, 2023, the Group had outstanding secured
borrowings of approximately RMB568.7 million, and had no
outstanding unsecured borrowings. The Group’s borrowings
carried interest at prevailing market rates.

As at December 31, 2023, our gearing ratio, calculated as total
borrowings divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company, was approximately 19.1%, compared to 41.5% as
at December 31, 2022.

The borrowings of the Group are all held in Renminbi. And the
cash and cash equivalents of the Group are held in Renminbi,
U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has not used any derivatives and other instruments for
hedging purposes.

Significant Investment Held

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
significant investments, acquisitions or disposals.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of December 31, 2023,
the Group did not have plans for material investments and capital
assets. Please see the section headed “Events after the End of
Reporting Period” for details of acquisition of minor interest in
Shanghai ANE (as defined below).
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Charge on Assets

As at December 31, 2023, certain of our bank loans and other
borrowings were secured by mortgages over certain of our motor
vehicles and buildings with a net carrying amount of RMB140.5
million and RMB70.8 million, respectively.

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2023, we did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Capital Commitment

As of December 31, 2023, the capital commitment of the Group
amounted to RMB19.1 million.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

We have transactional currency exposures. We conduct our
businesses mainly in Renminbi, with certain transactions
denominated in other currencies, such as U.S. dollars. Certain
of our cash and bank balances and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, are denominated in foreign currency which
are exposed to foreign currency risk. During the Reporting Period,
we did not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge
against the volatility associated with foreign currency transactions
and other financial assets arising in the ordinary course of
business. We currently do not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, our management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider appropriate hedging measures in the
future should the need arise.

Share Pledge

During the Reporting Period, there is no pledge by our controlling
shareholders of their interests in the shares of the Company
(the “Share(s)”) to secure the Company’s debts or to secure
guarantees or other support of its obligation and the Company
had no controlling shareholder as at December 31, 2023.
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lIl. OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Future Strategy

2024 marks a pivotal year for the Company to drive in-depth
transformation, as we will continue to implement the strategy
emphasizing both quality and profitability. Over the past decade,
we have built a leading LTL network through a scale-driven
approach and achieved great success in that regard. In today’s
ever-changing business environment, we must adapt and evolve
to consistently improve our profitability and service quality to
sustain high quality growth. We have decided to shift our strategic
focus from one that prioritizes on scale to one that emphasizes
increasing operational efficiency and consistently improving service
quality. We are rigorously implementing below measures to ensure
a smooth strategic transformation.

(i) Improve quality and timeliness of our service
e Improve the overall quality and timeliness of our service
through lean management to attract and retain high-
margin shippers
e Optimize route planning to improve transit efficiency,
while coordinating with our freight partners and agents to
enhance timeliness

(i) Enhance operational efficiency

e Further upgrade our sorting centre network and enhance
sorting efficiency to drive unit cost reduction

e Improve transportation efficiency and reduce fleet cost

e Continue adequate control of expenses to enhance
operating profit margins
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(iii) Strengthen our management over our ecosystem, primarily
with freight partners and agents to drive freight volume growth

Use price tools to deliver precise subsidies to stimulate
freight volume growth while maintain sustainable margins

Continue to attract new freight partners and agents to
deepen the network coverage

All-around enabling of our freight partners and agents,
including customer acquisition, operation support, after-
sale service, etc. to cultivate long-term sustainable growth
and loyalty

(iv) Accelerate investment in digitalisation

Further investment in a comprehensive and sophisticated
IT infrastructure as the foundation of firm-wide
digitalisation

Deepen the digitalisation granularity of our operation
and management to further unlock efficiency and quality
improvement potentials

(v) Expand product offerings and new types of customers to
capture potential growth opportunities

Further explore key account business and expand new
clients

Extend our product to meet more logistics demand such
as regional LTL transportation needs and timeliness-
sensitive products
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B ET B T

(vi) Focus on sustainable growth (vi) EfFalfrEERE
e Integrate “green transportation” into the guidelines of daily e BIREEH|ESRARTLE
operations to consistently reduce carbon emission EED - R AR
e Improve public disclosure of ESG-relevant information o EIIRIE - tE RABMABEERN
YNGE &
We believe that above strategies are crucial to the deepening BPBEN BB EEN TR EE
of our transformation, allowing us to strengthen our competitive ZFREZ - BEDREME —PREHES
edges while driving consolidation of China’s LTL market. B REPBRTHETEES -
s
IV. RISK MANAGEMENT Iv. Bl B8
We are exposed to various risks during our operations. We BMREENMARSERR - RMEH
have established and currently maintain risk management and VHBRMEREETRREE RATIE
internal control systems consisting of policies and procedures HlHE - EEdERERMERES T
that we consider to be appropriate for our business operations. HIZE TS EERBUR RORZHENK - MBS
We are dedicated to continually improving these systems. We RIFBETEZEHE -  BMEEEBEE
have adopted and implemented comprehensive risk management B E 7 E (fE B8l - B mE - WE
policies in various aspects of our business operations such ERENAEZES) XALREREANRRE
as information technology, financial reporting, investment BIBUK o

management and internal control.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EERENEEERBE

Executive Directors

Mr. Qin Xinghua (Z8%) (formerly known as Qin Xinfa (Z#H%)),
aged 53, is an executive Director, chief executive officer and president
of our Company. Mr. Qin was appointed as our Director in February
2015 and re-designated as our executive Director in May 2021. Mr.
Qin has also been our chief executive officer and president since
June 2010. He has been appointed as one of the co-chairmen of the
Board with effect from January 9, 2023. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee, the ESG Committee and the Strategy Committee. Mr.
Qin is responsible for the overall strategic planning, organisational
development and overseeing the business operations of our Group.

Mr. Qin has over 25 years of experience in the logistics industry. Prior
to joining the Group, he held a senior management role at Guangxi
Airport Group Co., Ltd. for approximately 15 years till May 2009. Prior
to that, Mr. Qin served as an officer in the Air Force of the People’s
Liberation Army from which he retired in December 1993.

Mr. Qin is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of the
Company, including Shanghai ANE and Giantruck.

Mr. Jin Yun (£E), aged 49, joined the Group in February 2012 and
has been working in a principal subsidiary of the Company, Anneng
Juchuang Supply Chain Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., since
then, where he currently serves as the general manager. Mr. Jin was
appointed as our executive Director in September 2022, served as our
chief growth officer from September 2022 to July 2023 and has been
serving as our chief operating officer since July 2023.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jin worked at Guangzhou Feifan
Aviation Passenger and Cargo Service Co., Ltd. from March 2000 to
December 2011, where his last position was the marketing manager.
Mr. Jin graduated from North China Institute of Aerospace Engineering
with tertiary education qualification in accounting and auditing in June
1999.

Mr. Jin is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of the
Company, including Shanghai ANE and Giantruck.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weihao (BR{E%), aged 44, is a non-executive Director of
our Company. Mr. Chen was appointed as our Director in December
2019 and re-designated as our non-executive Director in May 2021.
He has been appointed as one of the co-chairmen of the Board with
effect from January 9, 2023. He is the chairman of each of the ESG
Committee and the Strategy Committee.

Mr. Chen has been a partner and managing director of Centurium
Capital Management Ltd. since July 2019. From October 2011 to May
2019, Mr. Chen worked at a Warburg Pincus entity where his last held
position was a managing director. Prior to that, Mr. Chen worked as
a vice president at Crescent Advisors China (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from
January 2008 to October 2011 and in the investment banking division
of Morgan Stanley Asia Limited in Hong Kong from April 2007 to
November 2007.

Mr. Chen is currently a director of Shanghai ANE, a principal
subsidiary of our Company.

Mr. Chen obtained his Bachelor’s degree in accounting from the
Fudan University in Shanghai, PRC in July 2002 and his Master’s
degree in business administration from the INSEAD Business School in
2006. Mr. Chen is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Mr. Wei Bin (B13&), aged 54, joined the Company as a non-executive
Director in March 2023. Mr. Wei has worked in CDH Investments
since April 2019, including CDH Investments Management (Hong
Kong) Limited where he is currently serving as a senior partner.
Mr. Wei obtained his Bachelor’s degree in auditing from Zhongnan
University of Economics in 1992 in China and his Master’s degree in
finance from Jinan University in 2001 in China. Mr. Wei has become
a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 1993, a Senior Auditor granted by the National
Audit Office of the People’s Republic of China since 2003 and
a Senior Accountant granted by the Beijing Municipal Bureau of
Personnel since 2003. Mr. Wei served as an executive director of OCI
International Holdings Limited (REZREFIZRAR2AF), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 329), from October 2020 to
May 2023, and as a non-executive director thereof from May 2023 to
September 2023.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EERENEEERBE

Mr. Wei is currently serving as an independent non-executive director
of Honghua Group Limited (RESEBRAF]), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 196); an independent non-
executive director of Sinohealth Holdings Limited (FEEIZRER A
Al), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2361); and
an independent director of Huize Holding Limited, a NASDAQ-listed

company (NASDAQ: HUIZ).

Mr. Zhang Yinghao (GR#M2), aged 47, joined the Company as a
non-executive Director in August 2023. Mr. Zhang has been working
at Beijing Panmao Investment Management Co., Ltd. (It REEXIZRE
EIEARAF]) since January 2019. From August 2004 to January
2009, Mr. Zhang served as the managing director of China Life
Insurance Co., Ltd. (FEASREBRMDBERAF]), a company that
specialises in asset management, where he last served as the division
manager in the investment management department. From January
2009 to August 2011, Mr. Zhang served as the managing director
of CITIC Private Equity Funds Management Co., Ltd. (F{EEZEKRE
HEELEEAR AT (“CITICPE"), a company that specialises in asset
management. Since November 2016, Mr. Zhang has served as the
director of CIIC Guanaitong (Shanghai) Technology Co., Ltd. (%
BB RN AR AR, an employee benefit solutions provider
listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 871282). Mr. Zhang currently serves as the non-executive
director of ManpowerGroup Greater China Limited (BB EAPIES
fR /A A]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2180).

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor's degree in science from Henan
University (ATFAZ2) in the PRC in July 1998. Mr. Zhang also obtained
a master’s degree in management from Lancaster University in the
United Kingdom in November 2001 and a master’s degree in finance
from The University of Manchester in the United Kingdom in November
2002.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wilson Wei (Z#), aged 46, has been served as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company since October
30, 2021. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Li has been the chief financial officer of Spark Education, a
China-based online education platform, since September 2020. From
September 2018 to June 2020, Mr. Li was the chief financial officer
of OYO Hotels. From April 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Li was the chief
operating officer and chief financial officer of CAR Inc. (stock code:
0699) and the executive vice-president and the chief financial officer
from May 2014 to April 2016. From July 2010 to April 2014, Mr. Li
worked as the chief financial officer of UniTrust Finance & Leasing
Corporation. From January 2007 to July 2010, Mr. Li was the chief
financial officer for Global Supply Chain Asia Group in GE Healthcare.
From January 2004 to January 2007, Mr. Li was part of the General
Electric corporate audit staff based in the United States and Asia.
From August 2002 to January 2004, Mr. Li worked at GE Healthcare
China as the head of risk and credit management. From July 2000
to July 2002, Mr Li was a management trainee of the Financial
Management Programme in General Electric.

Mr. Li graduated from Fudan University in Shanghai, PRC with a
Bachelor’s degree in finance in July 2000.

Mr. Geh George Shalchu (E& 7)), aged 63, has been served as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company since October
30, 2021. He is a member of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Geh served as a managing director at Lone Star Funds from
January 2019 to December 2020. From January 2016 to December
2018, Mr. Geh worked as a managing director at AlixPartners. Mr.
Geh was the co-founder of RichWise Capital Ltd. and he worked as
managing partner in RichWise Capital Ltd. from September 2008
to December 2015. From September 1998 to February 2005, Mr.
Geh worked in McKinsey & Consulting Company where his last
position was associate principal. Mr. Geh has also served as the chief
executive officer of China Institute in America since May 2023.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EERENEEERBE

Mr. Geh obtained his Bachelor’s degree of science in metals
engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in Shanghai, PRC
in July 1982, his Master of Science degree in metals science and
engineering from the Pennsylvania State University in United States
in August 1991, and his Master of Science degree in industrial
administration from Carnegie Mellon University in United States in May
1998.

Ms. Sha Sha (#'3%), aged 51, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in June 2023. Ms. Sha joined McKinsey in
1996 and held a broad range of senior positions in McKinsey until her
retirement in September 2022. During the 25 years with McKinsey,
she was the founding leader of McKinsey Analytics in Greater China
from 2014 to 2021, co-leader of McKinsey Digital Asia from 2017
to 2021 and she also served as the Council Member of McKinsey
Global Institute from 2019 to 2022. Through her work with McKinsey
Digital, she helped many leading companies accelerate their digital
transformation and innovation. As the first Chinese female senior
partner in McKinsey, Ms. Sha is deeply committed in driving the all-
in, diversity and inclusion at workspace. Ms. Sha holds a Bachelor of
Arts degree in International Economics from Peking University, and a
Master of Business Administration degree from Harvard University.

Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk (#{&18), aged 52, joined the Company in
November 2023. Mr. Hung has over 28 years of experience in the
investment banking industry. He was co-head of Investment Banking
and Capital Markets, Asia Pacific, and later served as vice chairman
at Credit Suisse until January 2023. During his 25 years tenure at
Credit Suisse, Mr. Hung has led various products and industry groups
as well as in senior management roles, based in Hong Kong and
Shanghai, providing strategic and financing solutions to corporates
and shareholders. Mr. Hung began his investment banking career at
BZW Asia Limited in 1995 and joined Credit Suisse First Boston in
1998.

Mr. Hung graduated from University of Oxford with a BA degree in
Mathematics.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management

Mr. Qin Xinghua (&%), aged 53, is an executive Director, chief
executive officer and president of our Company. Please see his
biography in the part headed “ — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Jin Yun (£E), aged 49, is an executive Director and chief
operating officer of our Company. Please see his biography in the part
headed “ — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Xu Hao (& &), aged 41, is our chief financial officer and joined
the Company since January 2024. Mr. Xu was appointed as the chief
financial officer of the Company with effect from January 8, 2024.
Mr. Xu has over 18 years of experience in the corporate finance field.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Xu worked at Shanghai Fosun High
Technology (Group) Co., Limited (E/8EE25 8 (EE)BRAR]) (an
affiliate of Fosun International Limited (18 £ BB A& R A &) (stock code:
00656.HK)) as the Chief Financial Officer of the Healthcare Consumer
Group. Prior to that, Mr. Xu started his career as a management
trainee of Unilever (China) in July 2005 and later served as financial
director, vice president, head of operations and other high-level
management positions in consumer and retail companies with leading
logistics and supply chain capabilities, such as Yihaodian, Columbia
Sportswear, and Hema. Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Fudan University in July 2005 and a master’s degree
in business administration from Shanghai Advanced Institute of
Finance (SAIF) of Shanghai Jiao Tong University in July 2014.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on July 31,
2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company operates a leading express freight network in China’s
less-than-truckload (“LTL”) market. Express freight network operators,
like us, are LTL service providers who have nationwide coverage,
and deliver timely and comprehensive freight transportation services.
The Company mainly provides transportation services, value-added
services and dispatch services to our freight partners, our direct
customers. The Company aims to provide the most efficient logistics
infrastructure for commerce in China.

The Company also operates full-truckload (“FTL”) business, which
handles the freight demand of shippers with an entire truck for direct
point-to-point service to fully utilize the backhaul capacity of self-
operated fleets deployed for one-way route, and the FTL business will
remain as a supplement of LTL business.

There were no other significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year ended December 31, 2023. Please
refer to note 1 to the financial statements in this report for details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the
Reporting Period by principal activities is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note
5 to the financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the Reporting Period, which
includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2023, and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group’s business, could be found
in the sections headed “Co-Chairmen’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” in this
annual report. The review and discussion form part of this Directors’
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out on pages 168 to 175 of this annual report. During the Reporting
Period, none of the Shareholders has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the Reporting Period.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 8 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements in this annual report.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

We may be involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of
business from time to time. For the Reporting Period, the Company
is in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 January 2024, the Group acquired 6.2% interest in Jurong
Dingchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.* (AR S &FEA R A7)
(the “Acquisition”) to fulfil its storage and transportation demands, at
the consideration of RMB3,840,000. Following the Acquisition, Jurong
Dingchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd. became an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The other contracting
party to the Acquisition is not a connected party of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Acquisition does
not constitute a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. And as all applicable percentage ratios calculated in
accordance with the Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition are less
than 5%, the Acquisition is not subject to reporting, announcement
and shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

On February 23, 2024, ANE Fast Logistics (Hong Kong) Limited
(“ANE Hong Kong”),
Company, and Ningbo Meishan Free Trade Port Zone Qinghong Equity
Investment Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership)* (2518 LR T
BERBURERESGETLEBREH) (‘Ningbo Qinghong”) entered
into a share transfer agreement (the “Share Transfer Agreement”),
pursuant to which ANE Hong Kong conditionally agreed to purchase,
and Ningbo Qinghong conditionally agreed to sell, its entire 2.7903%

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the

equity interest in Shanghai ANE, an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, at the consideration of RMB338.7 million.
The consideration will be financed by the Group’s internal resources.
Upon completion of such acquisition, Shanghai ANE will remain an
indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly
held as to 98.9540% by the Company and 1.0460% by Beijing
Anju Enterprise Management Centre (Limited Partnership)* (1t =%
BOEEEFRLNBRAE). The Share Transfer Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to, among other
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conditions, approval of the Shareholders by ordinary resolution at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be convened on
April 30, 2024. For further information relating to the Share Transfer
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated February 23, 2024
and the circular of the Company dated April 12, 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no important
events affecting the Company and its subsidiaries which occurred
after December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material incompliance with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to its business including environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment.

The Group has established detailed internal rules regarding
environmental protection, in particular, the discharge of air, water and
solid waste and noise control. During the Reporting Period, we did
not incur any additional costs specifically attributable to environmental
compliance.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance
for the Reporting Period will be disclosed in the Company’s
environmental, social and governance report contained in this annual
report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 29 to the financial statements in
this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company during the
Reporting Period is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity of the Group and note 31 to the financial statements in this
annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2023, the Company’s distributable reserves,
calculated in accordance with relevant rules and regulations,
amounted to nil.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the Reporting
Period. And there was no transaction in the Company’s securities,
or securities of its subsidiaries (in each case, in the nature of (1)
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights issued or
granted; (2) exercise of any conversion or subscription rights attached
to the aforesaid; or (3) redemption, purchase or cancellation of
redeemable securities) during the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.
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ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company was listed by way of an initial public offering on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange on November 11, 2021. 80,220,000
ordinary shares of the Company with a par value of US$0.00002 were
issued at HK$13.88 each. For details of the Listing, please refer to
the Prospectus and the announcement titled “Announcement of Final
Offer Price and Allotment Results” of the Company dated November
10, 2021. There has been no issue for cash of equity securities by the
Company from the Listing Date to the end of the Reporting Period.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS
Use of Net Proceeds from Global Offering

On November 11, 2021, upon the Company’s listing on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing”), the Company issued 80,220,000 ordinary
shares with a par value of US$0.00002 at HK$13.88 each, and raised
gross proceeds of approximately HK$1,113,454,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB916,606,000). The Company obtained
net proceeds of approximately HK$1,009.2 million (equivalent to
RMB830.8 million) (after deducting the underwriting commissions
and other estimated expenses in connection with the exercise of the
Global Offering). The net price to the Company (which was calculated
by dividing the net proceeds by the number of shares issued in
connection with the Global Offering after taking account of the
exercise of over-allotment option) was approximately HK$12.58 per
share.

The table below sets forth a detailed breakdown and description of
the use of net proceeds from the date of the Listing to December 31,
2023. The Company intends to use the net proceeds in the same
matter and proportion as set out in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

Report of Directors

EEEHE

RITRAEZ

NAFR2021FE11 A1 BEB BB B R
NHABE LT - RRABIAEFRK13.88B LT
80,220,000 R F AR M E0.00002 K LA & B
g - BEALTEE  B2MARFABRERER
2021611 10 A B A RKREEE R4
RAEIWRE - BEMHBERERKR - K
NAIRFETRAEFERRE -

FIeRBEFERRZ
ERBEREHRDTFRAR

2021 F11 118 - BB Em(TLEWm D
% AREAE13.88/881780,220,000
R G IREE0.00002EF T EBAR + WEEFB
FRIEMEEEAI,113,454,000/8 T (HERHAR
#916,606,0007T) - ANA A)E15491,009.28
EET(HHERARKE30.8EETT) MATHR
HFE (KNKeHMe RETE2IKEER
BREMGERY) - AABRFE (K5 &7
FRELRER  EiERERBMEHRETF
FERUEEIRBEEFENEBTROEE) L
AER12.588 T °

TR BE EMZHE2023F12A31H » &
NEFIEHRIBFREAEHMED KA - XAF]
RIRBHEHINNBRER KRS RAEHIE
Az | — &R FE1E & 08 A RTS8 F
B o

REMREBARARF o 2023 Fif 51




R

eport of Directors

EEEHRE

Use of Proceeds

i

(A)

(A)

(8)

(8)

52

BRERE

building, upgrading and potential acquisitions of months 5 to
10 key transit hubs in strategic locations to accommodate our
high-volume growth, improve our network structure and ensure
stability and long-term planning

EEMHERE  ARMEERESZ10ERLTERE NERKER
HEER CHERAMNRKEE IRRERBEAREAE

investment in our line-haul truck fleet to further improve our
operation efficiency

REZMNRGERER  WE-SRARMANEENE

() purchase approximately 2,000 to 3,000 modern and high-capacity
truck tractors and trailers, and to partner with major trucking
manufacturers to customise their models to fit our operational
needs

() BEH2,000230000ARIERENEIERAE  TRTENFT
BREEAE  HEREATELCES  DARANNEER X

(i) repay our borrowings for the purchase of trucks of our sorting
network

i) EEBESEBEFENER
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Amount

of net
Percentage proceeds Expected
of total net for the Amount Amount Amount timeframe
proceeds | relevant use of net of net not yet for utilizing
(in the same | (in the same proceeds proceeds utilized the
proportion | proportion utilized utilized as of the remaining
as stated as stated | during the as of date of unutilized

in the in the Reporting | December| December net

Use of Proceeds Prospectus) | Prospectus) Period 31, 2023 31, 2023 proceeds
(%) | (HK$ million) | (HKS million) | (HKS million)| (HKS million)
HHERE | AREBAE

BEAE | WmERE BRNG
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(C) investment in technology innovations 20.0 201.8 14.7 29.7 17241 24-36 months
from the Listing
(C) REBKE BLE
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() upgrade the technologies and automated facilties of our sorting 10.0 100.9 13 223 78.6
network
i) FRABBEOMBKTNEDRE
(@  Deploy Al-enabled autonomous decision-making systems in 2.0 20.2 13 20.2 -

our management of sorting network to reduce human error
and reliance on individual workers

(@) EHHBBANERTERAAIEXEDOAREZS A
DARERARHEE R TR

(b)  Sorting automation, with focuses on Al vision monitoring 8.0 80.7 - 2.1 78.6
systems, dynamic volume weighing devices, unmanned
forklift, 1oT devices and automated cross-belts tailored for
freight sorting, which enable us to further improve sorting
capacity and efficiency

) 72EBEYL EXFIANRBLEZG HREREER
E EANE 0TRBENAENAREIEHNHEHRN
5 BRAME—SUENRERANE

ZHMREEBRAT « 2023 53 53




Report of Directors

EEEHRE

Amount

of net
Percentage proceeds Expected
of total net for the Amount Amount Amount timeframe
proceeds | relevant use of net of net not yet for utilizing

(in the same | (in the same proceeds proceeds utilized the

proportion | proportion utilized utilized as of the remaining

as stated as stated | during the as of date of unutilized

in the in the Reporting | December| December net

Use of Proceeds Prospectus) | Prospectus) Period 31, 2023 31, 2023 proceeds
(%) | (HKS million) | (HKS million) | (HKS million)| (HKS million)
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(i) invest in intelligent transportation management systems and 10.0 100.9 1.7 7.4 93.5
autonomous driving technologies
i) REBRERERZRREDERKMN
(@) Intelligent transportation management to further optimize 8.0 80.7 1.7 74 73.3
our route planning and enhance our transportation efficiency
(@ BREGEE NE-SEIARRATRBERNE
Autonomous driving technologies to improve transportation 2.0 202 - - 202

=

safety and reduce transportation cost

b BBRREN AREEERERREEENA

(D) Working capital and other general corporate purposes 10.0 100.9 51.2 89.3 11.6 24-36 months

from the Listing
D) EEELRHEM-RAFAR B L8242 36(8A
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DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of the following 9 Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Yongjun

(Chairman, resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Qin Xinghua (Co-Chairman, chief executive officer)
Mr. Jin Yun

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weihao (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jian (resigned with effect from August 4, 2023)

Ms. Li Dan (resigned with effect from March 30, 2023)

Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)

Mr. Zhang Yinghao (appointed with effect from August 4, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Wilson Wei
Mr. Geh George Shalchu
Mr. Lam Man Kwong
(resigned with effect from November 20, 2023)
Ms. Sha Sha (appointed with effect from June 30, 2023)
Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk (appointed with effect from
November 20, 2023)

In accordance with Articles 16.2 and 16.19 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Chen Weihao, Mr. Li Wilson Wei, Mr. Zhang Yinghao,
Ms. Sha Sha and Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk will retire by rotation, and
being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as Directors at
the annual general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than under normal statutory
obligations.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the annual general meeting
are set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before
the annual general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

Mr. Jin Yun served as our chief growth officer from September 2022
to July 20283 and was appointed as our chief operating officer in
July 2023. Mr. Wei Bin has resigned as an non-executive director
of the OCI International Holdings Limited (RZBFRIERBIRE AR, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 329), with effect
from September 29, 2023. Mr. Geh George Shalchu has also served
as the chief executive officer of China Institute in America since May
2028. Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other changes to
the Directors’ and senior management’s information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company under which the initial term of their service
contracts shall be three years commencing from October 30, 2021
for Mr. Qin Xinghua and September 1, 2022 for Mr. Jin Yun until
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the service
contract or by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing. Pursuant to the service contracts
entered into with us, none of our executive Directors will receive any
remuneration as director’s fee.

Each of our non-executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company under which the initial term of their service
contract shall be three years commencing from October 30, 2021 for
Mr. Chen Weihao, March 31, 2023 for Mr. Wei Bin and August 4, 2023
for Mr. Zhang Yinghao until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the
other not less than one month’s prior notice in writing. Pursuant to the
service contracts entered into with us, the non-executive Directors will
receive no remuneration as director’s fee.
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Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company under which the initial term
of their appointment letters shall be three years commencing from
October 30, 2021 for Mr. Li Wilson Wei and Mr. Geh George Shalchu,
June 30, 2023 for Ms. Sha Sha and November 20, 2023 for Mr.
Hung Cheung Fuk until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the
other not less than one month’s prior notice in writing. Under these
appointment letters, each of our independent non-executive Directors
will receive an annual director’s fee of HK$500,000.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (excluding
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the Reporting Period.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management receive compensation in
the form of salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind, discretionary
bonuses, retirement scheme contributions and other share-based
compensation. The compensation of Directors and senior management
is determined based on each Director and senior management’s
responsibilities, qualification, position and seniority. Details of the
Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the financial
statements of this annual report.
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For the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid or payable by the
Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments for the Reporting Period.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or
are payable, for the Reporting Period, by our Group to or on behalf of
any of the Directors.

The remuneration (including salaries, allowances and benefits in kind,
share-based payment expenses and pension scheme contributions)
payable to the senior management of the Company by band during
the Reporting Period is shown in the following table:

Band of remuneration

RBERA > AEERBEATAEFHA AR
SEHEMA LN RENHFHERMARNEESK
AR B % E SRR K AE RBERE - RS
HIR - BEEENRXFAERELTAME -

BEXFIEEN  RREHMA - AREHRE
HMBEMRENESHIA  TEARTAES
B s B AR

RBEHA - BN TARE SR EIEE A B
(BREFE  RUREVEN - BOINHEXR
RAEF B BEWTERHAT

Number of individual(s)

HNEE ABHE
HK$6,000,001 to HK$9,000,000 6,000,001 7 7T £ 9,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$12,000,001 to HK$15,000,000 12,000,00178 7L % 15,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$15,000,001 to HK$18,000,000 15,000,001/ 7T % 18,000,000 7T 1

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees required to be disclosed under Appendix D2 of the
Listing Rules have been set out in notes 10 and 11 to the financial
statements in this report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in
a business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE
LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any disclosure obligations under Rules
138.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION ARRANGEMENTS

No non-competition agreements or arrangement has been provided by
the substantial shareholders as at December 31, 2023 or at any time
during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into
or in existence as at December 31, 2023 or at any time during the
Reporting Period.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not issued any convertible
bonds.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Equity Incentive Plans, 2022 Share Award Scheme
and 2023 Share Incentive Scheme, no equity-linked agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares, were entered into by the Company during
the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of 2023.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
the Reporting Period. As of December 31, 2023, as far as the
Company is aware, the Company and its subsidiaries were not
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material litigation
or claim of material importance was pending or threatened against or
by the Company.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan
or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the
Directors and senior management of the Company, or their respective
connected persons.
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EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS, 2022 SHARE
AWARD SCHEME AND 2023 SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME

Equity Incentive Plans

On May 29, 2015 and December 1, 2015, our Company adopted the
2015 equity incentive plan (the “2015 Equity Incentive Plan”) and
the 2016 equity incentive plan (the “2016 Equity Incentive Plan”),
respectively. The 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and 2016 Equity Incentive
Plan were further amended and approved on 30 January 2019 and
30 December 2020 in preparation of the Listing to diversify the forms
of awards to be granted under such plans. On February 7, 2021, our
Company further adopted the 2021 equity incentive plan (the “2021
Equity Incentive Plan” and together with the 2015 Equity Incentive
Plan and the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan, the “Equity Incentive
Plans”). The Equity Incentive Plans are funded by existing Shares
only. The terms of the Equity Incentive Plans are subject to provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the

principal terms of the Equity Incentive Plans.

Summary of Terms

1. Purposes of the Equity Incentive Plans
The purposes of the Equity Incentive Plans are to attract and
retain personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, provide

additional incentive to employees, Directors and consultants, and
promote the success of the Group’s business.
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Eligible Participants

Any employee of our Group of manager level or above, or any
senior management or officer as approved by the administrator
of the Equity Incentive Plans shall be eligible to participate in the
Equity Incentive Plans.

Grant of Awards

The Equity Incentive Plans provide for the grant of incentive share
options, non-statutory share option, restricted shares awards and
RSUs awards.

The Board or a committee of Directors or of other individuals duly
appointed by the Board or the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Committee” or “Administrator”) is authorised to
grant awards to the participants.

Exercise of Options and Exercise Period

Except as otherwise provided in the Equity Incentive Plans or in an
award agreement, an option may be exercised for all, or from time
to time any part, of the Shares for which it is then exercisable.

The Administrator shall determine the time or times at which an
option may be exercised by the grantee in whole or in part under
the Equity Incentive Plans.

Settlement of RSUs

RSUs that will be settled upon vesting, subject to the terms of the
applicable award agreement, either by delivery to the holder of
the number of Shares that equals the number of RSUs that then
become vested or by the payment to the holder of cash equal to
the then fair market value of that number of Shares.
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7.

Term

The Equity Incentive Plans shall automatically terminate on the
earlier of: (i) the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the
Equity Incentive Plans; or (ii) its suspension or termination by the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the 2015 Equity
Incentive Plan, the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan is approximately 1 years and 1 month, 1 years and
8 months, 6 years and 10 months, respectively.

Maximum Numbers of Shares subject to Equity Incentive Plans

The total number of Shares which may be issued or transferred
under the Equity Incentive Plans is 119,035,339 ordinary Shares,
comprising (i) 49,215,150 ordinary Shares under the 2015 Equity
Incentive Plan; (i) 15,700,915 ordinary Shares under the 2016
Equity Incentive Plan; and (iii) 54,119,274 ordinary Shares under
the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, representing approximately 4.23%,
1.35% and 4.65% of the total issued Shares of the Company as
at the date of this annual report, respectively.

Subject to the total number of Shares which may be issued or
transferred under the Equity Incentive Plans, the Equity Incentive
Plans contain no provisions on the maximum entitlement of each
participant.

Shares Available for Issue

There is no Share available for issue under the Equity Incentive
Plans as they are funded by existing Shares only. The number
of Shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards
granted under the Equity Incentive Plans during the year ended
December 31, 2023 divided by the weighted average number
of Shares in issue for the year ended December 31, 2023 is not
applicable since there is no Share available for issue under the
Equity Incentive Plans.
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Vesting

The awards granted to the participant under the Equity Incentive
Plans shall be vested over a three-year period, on the first,
second and third anniversary of the effective date of grant, unless
specified otherwise. The Committee at its sole discretion can set
additional vesting requirements which may include, but not limited
to, criteria based on the participant’s duration of employment,
the result of participant’s performance assessment or any other
criteria selected by the Committee. At any time after grant of an
award, the Committee may by its sole discretion and subject to
whatever terms and conditions it selects, accelerate the period
during which an award vests. The Committee shall determine
conditions or terms, if any, that must be satisfied before all or part
of a vested option may be exercised or a vested RSU may be
settled.

Exercise Price for Options and Purchase Price for Awards

The exercise price for options under the Equity Incentive Plans
shall be determined by the Administrator at the date when an
offer of the grant of option is made to a participant (the “Offer
Date”) in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
Offer Date, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; (iii) the nominal value of the Shares;
and (iv) HK$10. For the avoidance of doubt, the above-mentioned
criteria of the exercise price of an option will not apply to the
grant of an award in the form of a RSU under the Share Incentive
Plans, as the participants are not required to pay for Shares upon
vesting of an award of RSUs. Other than the payment in relation
to settlement of RSUs as mentioned in the paragraph headed
“5. Settlement of RSUs” above, there is no amount payable on
application or acceptance of the option or award and therefore
there is no period within which payments or calls must or may be
made or loans for such purposes must be repaid under the Equity
Incentive Plans.
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11. Amendment and Termination of the Equity Incentive Plans

The Board may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate
the Equity Incentive Plans and shall obtain shareholders’ approval
of any amendment or termination to the extent necessary and
desirable to comply with applicable laws. No amendment,
alteration, suspension or termination of the Equity Incentive Plans
will impair the rights of any participant, unless mutually agreed
otherwise between the participant and the Administrator, which
agreement must be in writing and signed by the participant and
the Company.

12. Administration of the Equity Incentive Plans

The Equity Incentive Plans shall be subject to the administration of
the Committee. Subject to any specific designation in the Equity
Incentive Plans, the Committee has the exclusive power, authority
and sole discretion, among others:

(i) to select the participants to whom awards may be granted
hereunder;

(i)  to determine the number of Shares to be covered by each
award granted hereunder;

(i)  to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with
the terms of the Equity Incentive Plans, of any award granted
hereunder. Such terms and conditions include, but are not
limited to, the exercise price, any adjustment to the exercise
price after the grant date, the time or times when awards
may be exercised (which may be based on performance
criteria), any vesting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture
restrictions, and any restriction or limitation regarding any
award or the Shares relating thereto, based in each case on
such factors as the Board or the Committee will determine;

(iv) to construe and interpret the terms of the Equity Incentive
Plans and Awards granted pursuant to the Equity Incentive
Plans;

(v) to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations
relating to the Equity Incentive Plans;

11.

12.
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(v to authorise any person to execute on behalf of the
Company any instrument required to effect the grant of an
award previously granted by the Board or the Committee;
(vii) to modify or amend each award, including adjustments to
the terms of awards granted under the Equity Incentive Plans
and to allow a participant to defer the receipt of the payment
of cash or delivery of Shares that otherwise would be due to
such participant under an award; and

(viii) to make all other determinations deemed necessary or
advisable for administering the Equity Incentive Plans.

Granting of Awards

The Committee may, from time to time, select for participants
those to whom an award shall be granted and shall determine the
nature and amount of each award, which shall not be inconsistent
with the requirements of the Equity Incentive Plans. Each award
shall be evidenced by an award agreement between our Company
and the participant. The award agreement shall include such
additional provisions as may be specified by the Committee.

RSUs granted under the Equity Incentive Plans

As at December 31, 2023, an aggregate of 110,606,203 RSUs
in respect of 110,606,203 Shares have been granted to 321
participants (including 2 Directors and 1 member of the senior
management of our Company) under the Equity Incentive Plans,
representing approximately 9.51% of the issued share capital of
our Company as at December 31, 2023. Based on the vesting
schedule of the awards, approximately 94,795,529 Shares
have been vested as of December 31, 2023, representing
approximately 8.15% of the issued share capital of our Company
as at December 31, 2023.
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Save as disclosed in this report, from the date of adoption of the
Equity Incentive Plans to December 31, 2023, no options or awards
have been granted to any Directors, senior management and other
employees of our Group or their affiliates or eligible persons pursuant
to the Equity Incentive Plans. 8,429,136 Shares, representing
approximately 0.73% of the issued share capital of our Company as
at December 31, 2023 have been reserved and are currently held by
the trustee for further grant or vesting of the awards under the Equity
Incentive Plans.

203,988 and 5,992 Shares are underlying all awards available for
grant under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan as of January 1, 2023 and
December 31, 2023, respectively; 0 and 5,991 Shares are underlying
all awards available for grant under the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan as
of January 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023, respectively; 7,558,694
and 8,417,153 Shares are underlying all awards available for grant
under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan as of January 1, 2023 and
December 31, 2023, respectively. As at December 31, 2023, there
is no service provider sublimit adopted under each of the Equity
Incentive Plans.

Details of the movement of the RSUs granted under the Equity
Incentive Plans during the Reporting Period are as follows:
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Notes:

M

There are no performance targets attached to the awards granted during
the Reporting Period.

The fair value of awards are calculated in accordance with the accounting
standard and policy adopted for preparing the Company’s financial
statements, namely the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The
fair values of the RSUs granted before the Listing are determined using
valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow method and
the equity allocation model. The fair values of the RSUs granted after
the Listing are computed based on the Company’s share price on the
grant date. For the description of the basis for fair value measurement
and information on whether and how the features of the awards (for
example, the expected dividends) are incorporated into the measurement
of fair value, please refer to note 3 and 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Mr. Wang resigned as an executive Director with effect from January 9,
2023.

67,222 vested RSUs were lapsed during the Reporting Period pursuant to
administration of the Committee under the Equity Incentive Plans.

During the Reporting Period, save for those set out in this table, there
were no grants of options or awards under the Equity Incentive Plans to (i)
the Directors, (i) five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period,
or (i) other grantees.
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2022 Share Award Scheme

The Shareholders approved to adopt the 2022 Share Award Scheme
on the Company’s annual general meeting held on June 8, 2022.
The Shareholders further approved to amend the 2022 Share Award
Scheme on the Company’s annual general meeting held on June 19,
2023. The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2022
Share Award Scheme. Please refer to the Company’s circular dated
May 29, 2023 for further details about the 2022 Share Award Scheme.
The grant of awards under the 2022 Share Award Scheme will be
RSUs comprising of existing Shares purchased or to be purchased by
the designated trustee of the Company on-market. There will be no
new Shares being issued to satisfy the grants under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme. The following is a summary of the principal terms of
the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

Summary of Terms
1. Purposes of the 2022 Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the 2022 Share Award Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant Awards to eligible participants, as incentives
and/or rewards for their contribution to the Group, to better
reward the personnel who have contributed to the success and
development of the Group, to incentivise them to remain with the
Group, to motivate them to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group and to attract skilled and experienced
personnel for the further development and expansion of the Group
by providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests
in the Company.

2. Eligible Participants
The Board may select any of directors, employees or proposed
employees, suppliers, customers, consultants, advisors, joint

venture and business or strategic alliance partners of the Group to
participate in the Share Award Scheme.
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3.

5.

Term

Subject to the terms of the 2022 Share Award Scheme and earlier
termination by the Board, the 2022 Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for the period commencing on the adoption
date and expiring on the fifth anniversary thereof.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the 2022 Share
Award Scheme is approximately 3 years and 1 month.

Shares Available for Issue

The grant of Awards under the 2022 Share Award Scheme will be
RSUs comprising of existing Shares purchased or to be purchased
by the designated trustee of the Company on-market. There will
be no new Shares being issued to satisfy the grants under the
2022 Share Award Scheme. The number of Shares that may be
issued in respect of options and awards granted under the 2022
Share Award Scheme during the year ended December 31, 2023
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the
year ended December 31, 2023 is not applicable since there is no
Share available for issue under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

Appointment of Trustee

The designated trustee shall not exercise the voting rights
attached to the Shares acquired by the trustee through on-market
purchases for the purpose of the 2022 Share Award Scheme
before such Shares are vested.

Grant of Awards

The Board is authorized to grant awards in the form of RSUs
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

There is no amount payable on application or acceptance of the
awards and the purchase price of the awards is nil, and therefore
(i) there is no period within which payments or calls must or may
be made or loans for such purposes must be repaid under the
2022 Share Award Scheme, and (i) basis of determining purchase
price of Shares awarded is not applicable.
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Vesting of RSUs

The Shares underlying an award shall vest on the date to be
determined by the Board and notified to the relevant grantee in the
notice of grant on which the Shares underlying such award shall
vest (the “Vesting Date”), provided that in the case of a RSU,
if the Vesting Date of the RSU falls within a period during which
the Company, the trustee or the relevant grantee is prohibited
from dealing in Shares by the Stock Exchange, the Listing Rules
or any applicable laws, rules or regulations, the RSU shall vest
on the first business day after the expiry of such period or such
later date as the Board notifies to the grantee. If vesting is subject
to the satisfaction of performance or other conditions and such
conditions are not satisfied in whole or in part, the award shall
lapse automatically in respect of such proportion of underlying
Shares as have not vested with effect from the date on which the
conditions are not satisfied.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for the 2022 Share Award
Scheme

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which awards may
be granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme shall not exceed
93,008,438 in the aggregate, representing approximately 8% of
the Shares in issue as at December 31, 2023, of which the total
number of Shares in respect of which awards may be granted to
service providers under the 2022 Share Award Scheme shall not
exceed 9,300,843, representing approximately 0.8% of the Shares
in issue as at the December 31, 2023.

As of January 1, 2023, 93,008,438 Shares are underlying all
awards available for grant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme,
of which 9,300,843 Shares are underlying all awards available for
grant to service providers under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

As of December 31, 2023, 78,377,938 Shares are underlying all
awards available for grant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme,
of which 9,300,843 Shares are underlying all awards available for
grant to service providers under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.
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9.

Grantee’s Maximum Holding

Unless otherwise approved by the Board and the Remuneration
Committee of the Board, the maximum number of Shares
transferred and to be transferred upon the vesting of the awards
granted to each participant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme
(including all vested, cancelled and outstanding awards) in any
12-month period shall not (when aggregated with any Shares
underlying the awards granted during such period under any other
share award schemes of the Company) exceed 1% of the Shares
in issue for the time being.

10. Alteration of the 2022 Share Award Scheme

11.

Any alterations to the terms and conditions of the 2022 Share
Award Scheme must be approved by Board and the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. Any change to the terms of awards
granted to a Participant must be approved by the Board, the
Remuneration Committee of the Board, the independent non-
executive Directors and/or the Shareholders (as the case may
be) if the initial grant of the Awards was approved by the Board,
the Remuneration Committee of the Board, the independent non-
executive Directors and/or the Shareholders (as the case may be).

Termination of the 2022 Share Award Scheme

The Company by resolution of the Board may at any time
terminate the 2022 Share Award Scheme and in such event, no
further awards may be offered or granted but in all other respects
the terms of the 2022 Share Award Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in respect of awards which are granted during
the Term and which remain unvested immediately prior to the
termination of the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

9.

10.

11.
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12. Administration of the 2022 Share Award Scheme

78

The 2022 Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board whose decision as to all matters
arising in relation to the 2022 Share Award Scheme or its
interpretation or effect shall (save as otherwise provided herein)
be final and binding on all parties. The Board shall have the right
to (i) interpret and construe the provisions of the 2022 Share
Award Scheme; (ii) determine the persons (if any) who shall
be offered awards under the 2022 Share Award Scheme; (iii)
determine the terms on which awards are granted; (iv) determine
the number of Shares underlying the awards; (v) make such
adjustments to the terms of the 2022 Share Award Scheme and
of Awards granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme as the
Board deems necessary and shall notify the relevant grantee(s)
of such adjustment(s) by written notice; and (vi) make such other
decisions or determination as it shall deem appropriate provided
that the same are not inconsistent with the provisions of the 2022
Share Award Scheme and the Listing Rules. The Board shall have
the power from time to time to make or vary regulations for the
administration and operation of the 2022 Share Award Scheme,
provided that the same are not inconsistent with the other
provisions of the 2022 Share Award Scheme. The Board shall also
have the power to delegate its powers to grant swards and to
determine the terms on which such swards are granted to any of
the Directors or any duly authorised committee of the Board from
time to time.
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13. Awards Granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme

As at December 31, 2023, an aggregate of 14,630,500
RSUs in respect of 14,630,500 Shares have been granted to
113 participants (including 2 Directors, 1 member of senior
management, 110 other employees and O service provider of our
Company) under the 2022 Share Award Scheme, representing
approximately 1.26% of the issued share capital of our Company
as at December 31, 2023. Based on the vesting schedule of the
awards, 14,630,500 Shares have been vested as of December
31, 2023, representing approximately 1.26% of the issued share
capital of our Company as at December 31, 2023.

Save as disclosed herein, from the date of adoption of the 2022
Share Award Scheme to December 31, 2023, no awards have
been granted to any Directors, senior management and other
employees of our Group or their affiliates or eligible persons
pursuant to the 2022 Share Award Scheme. There are no shares
(representing 0% of the issued share capital of our Company as
at December 31, 2023) have been reserved and are currently held
by the trustee for further grant or vesting of the awards under the
2022 Share Award Scheme.

93,008,438 and 78,377,938 Shares are underlying all awards
available for grant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme as of
January 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023, respectively, of which
9,300,848 and 9,300,843 Shares are underlying all awards
available for grant to service providers under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme as of January 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023,
respectively.

Details of the movement of the awards (being RSUs) granted
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme during the Reporting Period
are as follows:
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There are no performance targets attached to the awards granted during
the Reporting Period. The RSUs granted on June 30, 2023 were vested on
the same day.

The fair value of awards is calculated in accordance with the accounting
standard and policy adopted for preparing the Company’s financial
statements, namely the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The
fair values of the RSUs granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme are
computed based on the Company’s share price on the grant date. For
the description of the basis for fair value measurement and information on
whether and how the features of the awards (for example, the expected
dividends) are incorporated into the measurement of fair value, please refer
to note 3 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board passed the resolution to grant the RSUs in 2022 and such
RSUs were recognized as share-based payments of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2022. The granting of the RSUs was completed
in June 2023.

During the Reporting Period, save for those set out in this table, there
were no grants of awards under the 2022 Share Award Scheme to (i) the
Directors, (i) five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period, or (iii)
other.
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2023 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The 2023 Share Incentive Scheme is governed by, and its terms
are in accordance with, the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The Shareholders approved to adopt the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme on the Company’s annual general meeting held on June 19,
2023. On June 28, 2023, the Company obtained the listing approval
issued by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange for any
Shares which may be issued on exercise of the options and vesting
of the RSUs under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme. Please refer to
the Company’s circular dated May 29, 2023 for further details about
the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme. The following is a summary of the
principal terms of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme.

Summary of Terms
1. Purposes of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme

The purpose of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant Awards to eligible Participants, as incentives
and/or rewards for their contribution to the Group, to better
reward the personnel who have contributed to the success and
development of the Group, to incentivise them to remain with the
Group, to motivate them to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group and to attract skilled and experienced
personnel for the further development and expansion of the Group
by providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests
in the Company.

2. Eligible Participants
The Board may select any of Directors or employees of the

Company and its subsidiaries and freight partners and agents of
the Group to participate in the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme.
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Appointment of Trustee

The Company may establish a trust and appoint a trustee to
assist with the administration, exercise and vesting of awards
(either in the form of RSUs or options) granted under the 2023
Share Incentive Scheme. If a trustee is appointed, it is expected
that the terms of the trust deed will provide that the trustee shall
not exercise the voting rights attached to the Shares allotted and
issued to the trustee and/or acquired by the trustee through on-
market purchases for the purpose of the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme before such Shares are vested. No Director shall be
the trustee of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme or have a direct
or indirect interest in the trustee of the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme.

Grant of Awards

The Board is authorized to grant awards in the form of options
and/or RSUs under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme.

Vesting

The Shares underlying an award shall vest on the date to be
determined by the Board and notified to the relevant grantee in the
notice of grant on which the Shares underlying such award shall
vest (the “Vesting Date”), provided that in the case of a RSU,
if the Vesting Date of the RSU falls within a period during which
the Company, the trustee or the relevant grantee is prohibited
from dealing in Shares by the Stock Exchange, the Listing Rules
or any applicable laws, rules or regulations, the RSU shall vest
on the first business day after the expiry of such period or such
later date as the Board notifies to the grantee. If vesting is subject
to the satisfaction of performance or other conditions and such
conditions are not satisfied in whole or in part, the award shall
lapse automatically in respect of such proportion of underlying
Shares as have not vested with effect from the date on which the
conditions are not satisfied. Participants are not required to pay
for Shares upon vesting of an award of RSUs.
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Under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme, the Board may at its
absolute discretion specify the Vesting Date and any conditions
which must be satisfied before the award can be exercised in
the notice of grant whereby the award is offered. Save for the
circumstances prescribed below, the vesting period for the awards
under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme shall not be less than 12
months.

A shorter vesting period for the awards granted to the Company’s
employee participants under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme
may be granted at the discretion of the Board as deemed
appropriate in the following circumstances:

(@) grants that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons, which include
awards that should have been granted earlier if not for such
administrative or compliance reasons but had to wait for
subsequent batch. In such case, the vesting period may be
shorter to reflect the time from which the awards would have
been granted;

(b) grants with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule such as
where the award may vest evenly over a period of 12 months;
and

(c) grants with performance-based vesting conditions in lieu of
time-based vesting criteria.
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Performance Target

The vesting of awards shall be subject to the performance criteria
to be satisfied by the participant as determined by the Board or
the committee of the Board from time to time. The performance
criteria may comprise a mixture of attaining a satisfactory key
performance indicators components which may vary among the
participants. When assessing performance targets, the Board will
consider objective performance target indicators, which primarily
include the financial performance of the Group, i.e., the adjusted
net profit before tax of the Group and the revenue/operational
profit recorded by the Group with reference to its accounts. When
assessing whether the objective performance targets are satisfied,
the Board will primarily review the published audited financial
results of the Company. In addition, the Board will compare the
financial results with reference to the market capitalization of the
Company. The Board will also consider individual performance
based on the performance assessment conducted on an individual
basis. Human resources department will collate the reference
materials including but not limited to sales report, the Group’s
financial accounts and individual annual performance results and
prepare a recommended grantees list for the Board or committee
of the Board for their consideration and decision on the grant of
awards.

Exercise Price

The exercise price of an option shall be determined by the Board
at the date when an offer of the grant of an award is made to a
participant (the “Offer Date”) in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the Offer Date, which must be a business
day; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (i) the
nominal value of the Shares.

Other than the payment in relation to the exercise price of options
in the above paragraph, there is no amount payable on application
or acceptance of the awards (in the form of options or RSUs)
and purchase price of RSUs is nil, therefore (i) there is no period
within which payments or calls must or may be made or loans for
such purposes must be repaid under the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme, and (i) basis of determining purchase price of RSUs is
not applicable.
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Exercise of Options

An option will be deemed to be exercised when the Company
receives a written notice from the grantee accompanied by
payment for the full amount of the exercise price multiplied by
the number of Shares in respect of which the option is exercised,
save to the extent that other arrangements have been made for
payment of the exercise price which are satisfactory to the Board.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which Awards
may be granted under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme (the
“2023 Scheme Mandate Limit”), in aggregate shall not exceed
100,000,000 Shares (which include new Shares that may be
issued by the Company and the awards granted with existing
Shares of the Company), being approximately 8.60% of the
Shares in issue as at December 31, 2023, of which the total
number of Shares in respect of which awards may be granted
to service providers under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme
shall not exceed 9,300,844 Shares, being no more than 0.8%
of the Shares in issue as at December 31, 2023; provided that
the number of new Shares in respect of the awards that may be
granted under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme together with
any Shares underlying awards under any other award schemes
of the Company (excluding existing Shares purchased on-market)
shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at
December 31, 2023.

8.

9.
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100,000,000 Shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme during
the year ended December 31, 2023 divided by the weighted
average number of Shares of the relevant class in issue of
1,162,605,486 Shares for the year ended December 31, 2023 is
approximately 8.60%.

Under all incentive schemes of the Company (including the Equity
Incentive Plans, the 2022 Share Award Scheme and the 2023
Share Incentive Scheme), 14,060,000 Shares that may be issued
in respect of options and awards granted during the year ended
December 31, 2023 divided by the weighted average number of
Shares of the relevant class in issue of 1,162,605,486 Shares for
the year ended December 31, 2023 is approximately 1.21%.

As of the date of this report, 100,000,000 Shares are available
for issue under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme, representing
approximately 8.60% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this
report. There was no new Share that was issued in respect of the
options and awards granted during the Reporting Period.

As of June 23, 2023 (being the date of adoption of the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme) and December 31, 2023, 100,000,000 and
85,000,000 Shares are underlying all options and awards available
for grant under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme, respectively, of
which 9,300,844 and 9,300,844 Shares are underlying all options
and awards available for grant to service providers under the 2023
Share Incentive Scheme, respectively.
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10. Grantee’s Maximum Holding

Subject to the paragraph below, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued in respect of all awards granted to each
eligible participant (excluding any options and awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme)
in any period of 12 consecutive months up to and including the
date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

Where any further grant of awards to a participant would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued and/or transferred and to
be transferred upon the vesting or exercise of all awards granted
and to be granted to such person (excluding options and RSUs
lapsed in accordance with relevant scheme rules) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant (when
aggregated with any Shares underlying the awards granted
during such period pursuant to any other Share award schemes
of the Company) representing in aggregate over 1% of the
Shares in issue, such further grant must be separately approved
by Shareholders in general meeting with such participant and
his close associates (or his associates if the participant is a
connected person) abstaining from voting. The Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders. The circular must disclose the
identity of the participant, the number and terms of the awards
to be granted (and awards previously granted to such participant
in the 12-month period), the purpose of granting awards to the
participant and an explanation as to how the terms of the awards
serve such purpose. The number and terms of the awards to be
granted to such participant must be fixed before the Shareholders’
approval. In respect of any awards to be granted, the date of the
Board meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken
as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under the Rule 17.03E of the Listing Rules.
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Time of Exercise of Option And Duration of the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme

An option may be exercised at any time during the exercise
period in accordance with the terms of the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme, which commences on the vesting date and prior to the
expiry of 10 years from the date upon which the offer of the grant
of option is made. The exercise period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the Board, save that no
option may be exercised more than 10 years after the offer of the
grant of option is made.

Subject to the conditions and earlier termination by the Board
according to the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme, the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
commencing on June 23, 2023 (being the date of adoption of the
2023 Share Incentive Scheme) and expiring on the fifth anniversary
thereof (the “Term”), after which period no further awards shall be
offered or granted but the provisions of the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects.
Awards granted during the Term shall continue to be valid in
accordance with their terms of grant after the end of the Term.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately 4 years and 2 months.
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12. Clawback

In the event that (a) a grantee ceases to be a selected participant
by reason of (i) the termination of his/her employment or
contractual engagement with the Group for cause or without
notice, (ii) termination of his/her employment or contractual
engagement with the Group as a result of he/she having been
convicted of a criminal offence involving his/her integrity or
honesty, (iii) termination of his/her employment or contractual
engagement with the Group as a result of he/she having received
a regulatory or administrative penalty by a competent authority; or
(b) in the reasonable opinion of the Board, a grantee has engaged
in serious misconduct, the Board may make a determination at its
absolute discretion that, any awards issued but not yet exercised
or vested (as the case may be) shall immediately lapse.

13. Alteration of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme

Save as provided in this paragraph, the Board may alter any of
the terms of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme at any time, to the
extent that the altered terms of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme
shall still comply with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Any
alteration to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme which are of a material nature or any alterations to the
provisions relating to the matters set out in Rule 17.03 of the
Listing Rules to the advantage of participants and any change to
the authority of the Board or the administrator of the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme in relation to any alteration of the terms of the
20283 Share Incentive Scheme, in either case, must be approved
by Shareholders in general meeting. Any change to the terms of
Awards granted to a participant must be approved by the Board,
the Remuneration Committee of the Board, the independent non-
executive Directors and/or the Shareholders (as the case may
be) if the initial grant of the options or awards was approved
by the Board, the Remuneration Committee of the Board, the
independent non-executive Directors and/or the Shareholders (as
the case may be).

12.
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Refreshment of the 2023 Scheme Mandate Limit

The Company may seek the approval of its Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the 2023 Scheme Mandate Limit after 3 years
from the date of Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment
(or the adoption of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme), such
that the aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants after
listing made to be issued pursuant to the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme and other incentive schemes adopted by the Company
shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as of
the date of approval of the refreshed limit, and the circular to the
Shareholders will contain the number of awards that were already
granted under the existing 2023 Scheme Mandate Limit and the
reasons for the refreshment. Awards previously granted under
the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme or any other incentive scheme,
including awards outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in accordance
with the relevant incentive scheme, shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the limit to be refreshed.

In the event that the 2023 Scheme Mandate Limit is refreshed
within 3 years from the date of Shareholders’ approval for the
last refreshment (or the adoption of the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme), the Company may seek the approval of its Shareholders
in general meeting, provided that the controlling shareholders of
the Company and their associates (or if there is no controlling
shareholder, Director (excluding independent non-executive
Directors) and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates) must abstain from voting in favour of such
resolutions at the general meeting, and the Company must comply
with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.
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15. Termination of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting or the
Board may at any time terminate the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme and in such event, no further awards may be offered
or granted but in all other respects the terms of the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in respect
of awards which are granted during the Term and which remain
unvested or which have vested but not yet been exercised
immediately prior to the termination of the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme.

16. Administration of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme

The 2023 Share Incentive Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board whose decision as to all matters
arising in relation to the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme or its
interpretation or effect shall (save as otherwise provided herein) be
final and binding on all parties. The Board shall have the right to (i)
interpret and construe the provisions of the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme; (ii) determine the persons (if any) who shall be offered
awards under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme;
the terms on which awards are granted; (iv) determine the number
of Shares underlying the awards; (v) make such adjustments to
the terms of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme and of awards
granted under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme as the Board

(i) determine

deems necessary and shall notify the relevant grantee(s) of such
adjustment(s) by written notice; and (vi) make such other decisions
or determination as it shall deem appropriate provided that the
same are not inconsistent with the provisions of the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme and the Listing Rules. The Board shall have
the power from time to time to make or vary regulations for the
administration and operation of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme,
provided that the same are not inconsistent with the other
provisions of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme. The Board shall
also have the power to delegate its powers to grant swards and to
determine the terms on which such swards are granted to any of
the Directors or any duly authorised committee of the Board from
time to time.

15.
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Options and Awards Granted under the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme

As at December 31, 20283, an aggregate of 14,060,000 options
in respect of 14,060,000 Shares have been granted to 92
participants (being 92 employees of the Group, not including
Directors) under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme, representing
approximately 1.21% of the issued share capital of our Company
as at December 31, 2023. Based on the vesting schedule of the
options, no Share has been exercised as of December 31, 2023,
representing approximately 0% of the issued share capital of our
Company as at December 31, 2023.

Save as disclosed herein, from the date of adoption of the 2023
Share Incentive Scheme to December 31, 2023, no awards or
options have been granted to any Directors, senior management
and other employees of our Group or their affiliates or eligible
persons pursuant to the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme. O Share,
representing approximately 0% of the issued share capital of our
Company as at December 31, 2023 have been reserved and are
currently held by the trustee for further grant or vesting of the

awards under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme.

Details of the movement of the options granted under the 2023 Share

Incentive Scheme during the Reporting Period are as follows:

96
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The vesting of the grants is subject to the financial performance of the
Group and grantees’ individual performance. The Group has in place a
performance review mechanism for its employees to comprehensively
evaluate their performance and contribution to the Group. If the Group
fails to meet its financial performance targets or if the grantee fails to meet
certain level of performance target in the performance review conducted
individually on the grantee immediately prior to a vesting date as listed
above, the options corresponding to such vesting date shall be further
adjusted or lapsed by the Board.

The fair value of options is calculated in accordance with the accounting
standard and policy adopted for preparing the Company’s financial
statements, namely the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The
fair values of the options granted under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme
are computed based on the Company’s share price on the grant date. For
the description of the option pricing model and details of the significant
assumptions and inputs used in that pricing model such as the expected
volatility, expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate and how these
significant assumptions and inputs were determined, please refer to note 3
and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Subject to the vesting schedule set out in the table, the exercise period of
the options shall be ten (10) years from the date of grant.

During the Reporting Period, there were no grants of options or awards
under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme to (i) any Directors, chief
executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company or their respective
associates; (ii) any participant with options and awards in excess of the
1% individual limit; (i) any related entity participant or service provider
with options and awards granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1%
of the relevant class of Shares in issue and, in each case, which are
funded by new Shares. And save for those set out in this table, during
the Reporting Period, there were no grants of options or awards under
the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme to other employee participants, related
entity participants or service providers.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

2023, the
interests or short positions of Directors and chief executives of the

As far as the Company is aware, as at December 31,

Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required to be registered in the register that the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, are as follows:

Interests in the Shares of the Company

Report of Directors

EEEWE

K5
H
&

el

i
L
i)

mnt“clﬂﬂ
>S4
ﬁﬁ"&%ﬂh
Tk ¢ ok
S
mEE
Bl >
XA S5 0
I 72
|

BARRIFTA 0 R2023%F12A318 » AR 7
BEENZETRAERARNR LKEBE LS
(EEREBHRIEGHIEXVE) HRG - B
IR R ERZEPHRBRIEEF RS BKRIIZEXV
45%7&8“* JAENE AR B B 22 P A R 2 ok
#E (BEBEESRABEKRINASE B IGCHE
“‘f’m?ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ%’éﬁn& B IR EBES K
HE &P 3526 E BB LN AR A& LM
WERSRE  HIRBEETRRE T AN R
NRAIRBRFrEESSOR BT

RARQ AR WERS

Number of |  Approximate
Name of underlying | percentage of
Directors and shares shareholding
chief executive Nature of interest interested interest
EERESTH EERERN PR AEAE
ABHE EEtE HERGEA HEDEY
Mr. Wang® Executive Director Interest in controlled corporations 125,619,983 (L) 10.81%
(resigned on January
9, 2023)
Tr4ke HITE S (R2023%F TELE RS
1 A9 A tBEHT)
Beneficial interest 1,200,000 (L) 0.10%
BEnEn
Mr. Qin® Executive Director, Interest in controlled corporations 89,575,356 (L) 7.70%
chief executive
officer
REEHED WITER BRITE XEEEER
Beneficial interest 4,200,000 (L) 0.36%
Bai
Mr. Jin Yun® Executive Director Beneficial interest 2,498,775 (L) 0.21%
SELAEG HITES BEamEn
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Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant Shares involved divided
by the total number of Shares in issue of the Company as at December
31, 2023, namely 1,162,605,486 Shares. The letter “L” denotes the
person’s long position in the Shares.

As at December 31, 2023, () CDF ANE Limited (“CDF ANE”) beneficially
held 32,213,523 Shares, (ii) Max Choice Ventures Limited (“Max Choice”)
beneficially held 76,466,665 Shares, and (ii) Double Brighten Creation
Limited (“Double Brighten”) beneficially held 16,939,795 Shares.

Max Choice is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CDF ANE, which is held
by CDF ANE LLP as to approximately 47.1%, CDF Elixir L.P. as to
approximately 42.50% and CDH ANE LLP as to approximately 10.40%.
The limited partnership interests in CDH ANE LLP and CDF Elixir L.P. are
held by Shanghai Anyun Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
(EBZIEREERTE(BRE%)). The majority limited partnership
interests in Shanghai Anyun are in turn held by Ningbo Meishan Bonded
Area Haoyuan Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (25
BILRB AR BTRERESREE (BERE))whose general partner is
Shanghai Yuanyue Commercial Consulting Co., Ltd., a company controlled
by Mr. Wang.

Double Brighten Creation Limited is an investment vehicle which holds the
Shares on trust settled by Mr. Wang.

As such, Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in the shares held by CDF

ANE, Max Choice and Double Brighten pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

As at December 31, 2023, Mr. Wang was interested in the total number of
1,200,000 Shares underlying the Awards granted to him under the Equity
Incentive Plans.
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(3) Mr. Qin is deemed to be interested in the total number of Shares held by
each of Great Vision L.P. and Giant Topway Holding Limited. Great Vision
is owned as to 99.00% by ANE-XH Holding Limited as a general partner
and 1.00% by ANE-SCS Holding Limited as a limited partner, respectively.
Giant Topway Holdings Limited is an investment vehicle which hold the
Shares on trust settled by Mr. Qin. As at December 31, 2023, Great Vision
L.P. and Giant Topway Holdings Limited beneficially held 54,119,274 and
35,456,082 Shares, respectively.

As at December 31, 2023, Mr. Qin was interested in the total number of
1,200,000 Shares underlying the Awards granted to him under the Equity
Incentive Plans and total number of 3,000,000 Shares underlying the

Awards granted to him under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

(4) As at December 31, 2023, Mr. Jin was interested in the total number of
998,775 Shares underlying the Awards granted to him under the Equity
Incentive Plans and total number of 1,500,000 Shares underlying the
Awards granted to him under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as at
December 31, 2023, none of our Directors or chief executives has any
interest and/or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or our associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required to be registered in the register to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors or chief executives of the Company are aware,
as at December 31, 2023, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company) had interests and/
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of substantial shareholders

FTERRHSE

Centurium Capital Partners 2018, L.P.?@

ERME

corporations

Centurium Capital Partners 2018, L.P.@ Sy EE S

Nature of interest

Interest in controlled

FTERRRAD TR KA
RO BERR AR

BEEIARRFRRITBAEA » R2023F
12A318 ' L TAT (BEEHARAHZEEITR
ABBRIN) MR SABERG P B REBES
R EAE B SEXVERSF 2 k35 B IE X BME AR
RNARER R RAE - RIREESRPE K
B 3365 E AT LN AR R ATTE B
MR RKE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of
underlying shares
interest"
R B4R
HAEDEO

24.60%

interested
EEREZN
HERGOEE

285,989,754 (L)

Notes:

(1) Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant Shares involved divided
by the total number of Shares in issue of the Company as at December
31, 2023, namely 1,162,605,486 Shares. The letter “L” denotes the
person’s long position in the Shares.
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(2) As at December 31, 2023, Topaz Gem Investment Holdings Limited
(“Topaz”) and Advance Step Holdings Limited (“Advance Step”)
beneficially held 185,954,093 and 100,035,661 Shares, respectively.
Topaz is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Advance Step, which in turn is
wholly owned by Centurium Capital Partners 2018, L.P. (“Centurium”).
Hence, Centurium is deemed to be interested in the total number of
Shares held by each of Topaz and Advance Step.

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware, as at
December 31, 2023, no person owns interests and short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares which were required to be notified
to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PURCHASE OF
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of the Directors or any of their spouse or children under the age of
18 had any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.
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KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including customers,
suppliers, employees and other business associates are key to the
Group’s success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationships
with them.

Our direct customers are primarily our freight partners, who, along
with our freight agents, own and operate pickup and dispatch
outlets. We provide our freight partners with access to our line-haul
transportation and sorting network, which form the infrastructure
of our LTL services to shippers. In addition, to a minor extent, we
directly serve some enterprise customers who have high and frequent
freight transportation demand. We are highly committed to fostering a
customer-centric culture. We provide service training and guidance to
our freight partners and agents and collaborate with them to ensure
high-quality customer services to our shippers. In order to deliver high
quality services, we provide centralised customer services to shippers
in addition to services by outlets. For shippers of our guaranteed-
safety product and other key customers, we have a dedicated
customer service line in place to better serve them and address their
needs. We directly provide customer services to shippers primarily
through call centres, online customer service and online Al-based
customer service. We provide regular trainings to our customer service
personnel and periodically review callers’ level of satisfaction with
the service they received from us. We provide real-time customer
assistance seven days a week. Our Al-enabled system allows us to
provide real-time customer assistance 24 hours a day and seven days
a week.

We primarily procure supplies, such as labour outsourcing, fuel, line-
haul trucks, line-haul transportation services provided by third-party
fleets, software development and premise leasing, through centralised
procurement. We endeavour to obtain the best available pricing by
periodically reviewing and strengthening our internal procurement
policy and processes.
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We believe that it is vital to attract, recruit and retain quality
employees. To maintain the quality, knowledge and skill levels of the
Group’s workforce and to remain competitive in the labor market,
we strive to provide employees with welfare benefits and a broad
range of career development opportunities. We have established
a sound talent cultivation mechanism and created an online-offline
combined training platform. We have also organised and carried out
vocational skills competitions and other activities for employees to
improve professional skills. We are also committed to complying with
applicable employment laws and regulations and have established
various policies on recruitment, talent development, promotion,
performance, compensation and benefits. For example, we have set
up a management trainee programme which aims to cultivate future
leaders of the company through a three-year training plan. We also
strive to help our employees balance their work and life. We have
organised various recreational and sports activities to enrich the
cultural life of employees. We have established a safety production
committee in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
have established various policies on operation and workplace safety,
and a series of emergency plans in response to different types
of incidents. We have also purchased relevant insurance for our
employees to cover occupational accidents.

The details of an account of the Company’s key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Company will be set out in the Company’s
environmental, social and governance report contained in this annual
report.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

We mainly provide transportation services, value-added services and
dispatch services to our freight partners, our direct customers. We,
together with our freight partners and agents, served approximately
5.5 million shippers, our end-customers, across China. In the
Reporting Period, we did not have any substantial reliance on any
single customer. During the Reporting Period, we did not have any
substantial reliance on any single customer, and the Group’s five
largest customers accounted under 30% of the Group'’s total revenue.
Our results of operations and financial conditions may be adversely
affected by the recoverability of our trade receivables. To manage risk
arising from trade receivables, we have policies in place requiring that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and our exposure to bad debts is not significant.

We primarily procure supplies, such as labour outsourcing, fuel,
line-haul trucks, line-haul transportation services provided by third-
party fleets, software development and premise leasing, through
centralised procurement. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted under 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or the Group's five largest suppliers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

As at the date of this annual report, the Company is not aware of any
tax relief or exemption available to the Shareholders of the Company
by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

The Group had 3,142 employees as at December 31, 2023,
representing a reduction of 19.3% compared to 3,894 employees as
at December 31, 2022. The Group enters into employment contracts
with its employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits, and
grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes salary, bonus and
allowance elements. The compensation programs are designed to
remunerate the employees based on their performance, measured
against specified objective criteria. We also provide our employees
with welfare benefits in accordance with applicable regulations and
our internal policies. We provide periodic training to our employees
in order to improve their quality, skills and knowledge, including
introductory training for new employees, technical training, professional
and management training and health and safety training, as well as
extensive training to our sales and marketing team. The Group also
has in place incentive schemes for its employees, the details of which
are set out in the section headed “Equity Incentive Plans, 2022 Share
Award Scheme and 2023 Share Incentive Scheme” of this report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

In accordance with the laws and regulations of the PRC, the
employees of the Group based in China participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes organised by the relevant
local governments. Under such retirement benefit schemes the
Group and its employees based in China are required to make
monthly contributions to these schemes, which are calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to a certain ceiling. The
assets of these plans are held separately from those of the Group in
independent funds managed by the PRC government. The Group has
no other obligations for the payment of retirement and other post -
retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than the defined
contribution payments as disclosed above.

During the Reporting Period, there were no contributions forfeited
by the Group on behalf of its employees who leave the plan prior to
vesting fully in such contribution, nor had there been any utilization of
such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. No forfeited
contributions were available for utilization by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed below in the section headed “Connected and
Continuing Connected Transactions”, during the year ended December
31, 2023, the related party transactions disclosed in note 37 (a)
to (c) to the financial statements were not regarded as connected
transactions or were exempt from reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company entered into an agreement with Mr. Zhu on August
31, 2022 pursuant to which the Company shall engage Mr. Zhu and
Mr. Zhu shall provide consultation services to the Company from
September 10, 2022 to September 1, 2024 (the “Consultancy
Arrangement”), in order to benefit the Group from the continuing
advice provided by Mr. Zhu with his significant amount of knowledge,
experience, connections and goodwill within the logistics industry.

Mr. Zhu was an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Company who resigned from all positions of the Group with
effect from September 1, 2022, and was therefore a connected
person of the Company as at the date of entering the Consultancy
Arrangement. Accordingly, the Consultancy Arrangement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
and the Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the highest annual cap
amount under the Consultancy Arrangement are more than 0.1% but
less than 5%, the Consultancy Arrangement (including the annual
caps) and the transactions contemplated thereunder will be subject
to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Further details of the Consultancy Arrangement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated September 1, 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2022 after the Consultancy
Agreement was entered into, the quarterly fee is fixed as US$250,000
as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated September 1,
2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the amount of service fees
charged under the Consultancy Arrangement was US$1,000,000.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions outlined above,
and confirmed that such continuing connected transactions had
been entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (jii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Auditor has performed the relevant procedures regarding the
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The Auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in the paragraph above in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Auditor’'s letter has been
submitted to the Board.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended December 31, 2023,
none of the related party transactions as disclosed in note 37 (a) to
(c) to the financial statements constitute any non-exempt connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

We have followed the pricing policies and guidelines provided by
Guidance Letter HKEX-GL73-14 in respect of the above continuing
connected transactions during the year.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

As at December 31, 2023, the Company had no controlling
shareholder. During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries,
and there is no contract of significance in relation to provision of
services by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, since the Listing Date to the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the public
float as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s liability
insurance is currently in force and was in force during the Reporting
Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG
Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed below,
during the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions in the CG Code.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Wang resigned as the chairman
of the Board and the executive Director, with effect from January
9, 2023. Following Mr. Wang’s resignation, Mr.
and Mr.

Company, have been appointed as the co-chairmen of the Board with

Qin, an executive
Director, Chen Weihao, a non-executive Director of the
effect from January 9, 2023. Accordingly, Mr. Qin has been both the
co-chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer since January
9, 2023. However, the Board believes that vesting the roles of both
co-chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Qin has the benefit of
ensuring consistent and continuous planning and execution of the
Company’s strategies. The Board considers that the balance of power
and authority, accountability and independent decision-making under
the present arrangement will not be impaired in light of the diverse
background and experience of the Board, with not less than one third
of them being independent non-executive directors. The Board will
continue to review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company at a time when it
is appropriate by taking into account the circumstances of the Group
as a whole.

In order to maintain high standards of corporate governance, the
Board will continuously review and monitor its corporate governance
practices.
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Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not make any
donations.

AUDITOR

The Shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange on November 11,
2021, and there has been no change in auditor since the Listing Date.
The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period have
been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, who
are proposed for reappointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Chen Weihao and Mr. Qin Xinghua
Co-Chairmen

Hong Kong, March 26, 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of the Company is pleased to present this corporate
governance report in this annual report (the “Corporate Governance
Report”) for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE
AND STRATEGY

Corporate Strategy, Business Model and Culture

The Company operates a leading express freight network in China’s
LTL market and mainly provides transportation services, value-added
services and dispatch services to our freight partners. The Company
insists on a brand strategy taking quality and profitability as the core,
and strives to ensure that a sound and complaint corporate culture
is built and followed. The Company always adheres to an operating
concept focusing on law-abiding, integrity and quality service, while
taking multiple measures to enhance corporate culture recognition
and manage and control operational risks to create desirable returns
for shareholders and long-term value for employees, partners, the
community and other stakeholders.
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The Company has formulated an appropriate policy which requires
the Board, the senior management and all employees to maintain
a lawabiding, honest and self-restraint work style, and handle any
violations and report independently and impartially. The Board has
established the following mission, vision, values and entrepreneurship
to clearly express the corporate culture to all members of the
Company, provide operating guidance for the management team and
ensure high degree of consistency and convergence of corporate
culture and our operating strategy:

(@) Mission: Create infinite possibilities with logistics services

(b) Vision: Provide the most efficient logistics infrastructure for
commerce in China

(c) Core values: Trust, Collaborative entrepreneurship, Perseverance,
create sustainable profit with franchise partners, return
contributors with attractive rewards, create returns for
shareholders and provide better quality and services

(d) Entrepreneurship: Execute on Request, Exert Excellence in

Execution, and Achieve Extraordinary Result

In future, the Board will keep focusing on the operating environment
and market demands and make prompt adjustment to business
strategies when necessary and achieve sustainable development with
efficient internal collaboration and scientific governance structure.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving good corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that throughout the Reporting Period, save
as disclosed in the section headed “Chairman/Co-Chairmen and Chief
Executive Officer” in this report, the Company has complied with all
the code provisions as set out in the CG Code in force during the
year.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has devised its own code of conduct for the trading
of securities by its Directors and members of senior management
of the Group (who are likely to possess inside information about the
securities of the Company due to their offices or employments in the
Company or its subsidiaries) on terms that no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors and
members of senior management of the Group have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct of the Company throughout the
Reporting Period. The Company continues and will continue to ensure
the compliance with the corresponding provisions set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

The Company has mechanisms in place to ensure that independent
views and input are available to the Board and the Board conducts
annual review of such mechanisms. Such mechanisms include
appointing sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors,
reviewing their time contribution and assessing their performance
annually. Upon a reasonable request of any Director, the Board should
resolve to provide separate independent professional advice to the
Director(s) to assist such Director(s) or the Board in performing duties
to the Company at the Company’s expense.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised nine Directors,
consisting of two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors
and four independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yongjun

(Chairman, resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Qin Xinghua (Co-Chairman, chief executive officer)
Mr. Jin Yun

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weihao (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jian (resigned with effect from August 4, 2023)

Ms. Li Dan (resigned with effect from March 30, 2023)

Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)

Mr. Zhang Yinghao (appointed with effect from August 4, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Wilson Wei
Mr. Geh George Shalchu
Mr. Lam Man Kwong
(resigned with effect from November 20, 2023)
Ms. Sha Sha (appointed with effect from June 30, 2023)
Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk
(appointed with effect from November 20, 2023)

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the members
of the Board has financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with one another.

TEERRE

EETAK

RARESEY  EXShOBREFMEN - 8152
FZHITES  SHRIIFNITEZT RABFIIFANTT
BF ABWT

HiTEE
THELAE (F/FE  R20234F1H9HEFHT)

RREEE (BELE  BENTE)
SEsE

FENTTEE

MRIES L (BEEE)

F RIS (202348 H4 HEFHE)
L+ (R2023F3.H30 A& 1F)
BB A (R202343 31 HEZ(F)
SRR (R2023F8 4 HHEEF)

BUIHPTEF
BEEE
MR % A& (R20234F 11 20 AF#F)

WL+ (R20234F6 30 HEZ ()
MR LA (R2023F11 520 HEZE(F)

BEENEREEHERNAFRIEZRERE
BERE] -

¥ RESHMEKX HEBEBRE -

REMREBARARF o 2023 Fif 117




Corporate Governance Report
CEERRE

Chairman/Co-Chairmen and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Wang resigned as the chairman
of the Board and the executive Director,
9, 2023. Following Mr.
and Mr.
Company, have been appointed as the co-chairmen of the Board with

with effect from January
Wang’s resignation, Mr. Qin, an executive
Director, Chen Weihao, a non-executive Director of the
effect from January 9, 2023. Accordingly, Mr. Qin has been both the
co-chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer since January
9, 2023. However, the Board believes that vesting the roles of both
co-chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Qin has the benefit of
ensuring consistent and continuous planning and execution of the
Company’s strategies. The Board considers that the balance of power
and authority, accountability and independent decision-making under
the present arrangement will not be impaired in light of the diverse
background and experience of the Board, with not less than one third
of them being independent non-executive directors. The Board will
continue to review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company at a time when it
is appropriate by taking into account the circumstances of the Group
as a whole.

In order to maintain high standards of corporate governance, the
Board will continuously review and monitor its corporate governance
practices.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Board at all times fulfilled the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors representing one-third
of the board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Each of Mr. Wei Bin, Ms. Sha Sha, Mr. Zhang Yinghao and Mr. Hung
Cheung Fuk has confirmed that she/he (i) has obtained the legal
advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on March
30, 2023, June 28, 2023, August 2, 2023 and November 17, 2023,
respectively, and (ii) understands her/his obligations as a director of a
listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, all Directors has
completed the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire
individually and supplemented by individual interviews. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report was presented to the Board and the
evaluation results were satisfactory.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years and are eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term of office
in accordance with the Articles of Association.

According to the Articles of Association, Directors are required to
retire from office by rotation once every three years and are subject
to re-election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting. Without
violating the relevant laws, regulations and regulatory rules of the
locality where the Company’s shares are listed, a person newly
appointed as director by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting after their appointment, and shall be subject to re-
election at that meeting.
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Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company'’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses, for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities
relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are

delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

The management of our Company is responsible for daily
management, administration and operation of the Group. It oversees
the operation and management of our Company, organizing and
implementing the resolutions of the Board and other duties specified in
the Articles of Association. The Board shall discuss the authorization
function and duty periodically. Management shall obtain approval from
the Board before any significant transaction is entered into.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The management has provided sufficient explanation and information
to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the financial information and position of the
Company in order to put forward such information to the Board for
approval.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 159 to 167.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’'s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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During the Reporting Period, all Directors attended training sessions
on the respective obligations of the Directors and senior management.
In addition, relevant reading materials including legal and regulatory
update have been provided to the Directors for their reference and
studying.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that
have been received by the Directors during the Reporting Period is
summarized as follows:

Directors

B

Executive Directors #iTEZE
Mr. Qin Xinghua Z= S5 5 4
Mr. Jin Yun £ E4&4

Non-executive Directors ##TEE

Mr. Chen Weihao BR1EZ L4

Mr. Zhang Yinghao (appointed with effect from August 4, 2023)
R L (R2023F8 54 HEZ(TE)

Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)
B S (R2023F3 31 HEZ(E)

Independent Non-executive Directors B FEH1TEE

Mr. Li Wilson Wei Z=# 5t 4

Mr. Geh George Shalchu B8B#1E 4

Ms. Sha Sha (appointed with effect from June 30, 2023)

W3B 2+ (R2023F6 H30 HEZ(E)

Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk (appointed with effect from November 20, 2023)
HRBEE (R2023F 11 520 HEZ(F)
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Type of

Training"°t
e kbl

A/B

A/B

A/B

A/B

A/B

A/B

A/B

A/B

A/B
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Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,

seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to
maintain high standard of corporate governance. The Board Diversity
Policy sets out the criteria in selecting candidates to the Company’s
Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
knowledge and experience in the areas of finance, banking,
information technology and investment. They obtained degrees
awarded by education institutions from the PRC, Hong Kong, the
United States, the United Kingdom across various disciplines including
business administration, economics, finance, engineering, accounting
and mathematics. The Board Diversity Policy is well implemented
as evidenced by the fact that there are one female and eight male
Directors with experience from different industries and sectors. The
Directors are of the view that our Board satisfied the Board Diversity
Policy as of the date of this report. We will implement policies to
ensure gender diversity when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline of
female management and potential successors to the Board. We will
strive to enhance our female representation and achieve appropriate
balance of gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’
expectation and international and local recommended best practices.
Furthermore, we will implement comprehensive programs aimed at
identifying and training our female staff who display leadership and
potential, with the goal of promoting them to the senior management
or the Board.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the diversity of
the Board. Since the listing of the Shares, the Nomination Committee
has been monitoring and evaluating the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

Nomination Policy

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board of Directors on matters
relating to the appointment of Directors.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for Directors which
sets out the objectives, selection criteria and nomination procedures
for identifying and recommending candidates for appointment or
reappointment of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Wang resigned as an executive
Director with effect from January 9, 2023, Ms. Li Dan resigned as a
non-executive Director with effect from March 30, 2023, Mr. Wei Bin
was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from March 31,
2023, Ms. Sha Sha was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from June 30, 2023, Mr. Wang Jian resigned as
a non-executive Director with effect from August 4, 2023, Mr. Zhang
Yinghao was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from
August 4, 2023, Mr. Lam Man Kwong resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from November 20, 2023, and Mr.
Hung Cheung Fuk was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from November 20, 2023. Other than these, there
was no change in the composition of the Board.
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Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets
out the selection criteria and nomination process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level.

The nomination process set out in the Director Nomination Policy is as
follows.

Appointment of New Director

() The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(iliy If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iv) The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.
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(v) For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election as
a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

()  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring Director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed
reelection of Director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as Director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws
and regulations.
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The Director Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

e Integrity and reputation;

e Educational background, professional qualifications and work
experience (including part-time jobs);

e Whether or not they have the necessary skills and experience;

e Whether or not they are able to spend sufficient time and energy
to handle the Company’s affairs;

e Whether or not they will promote the diversity of the Board in all
aspects,
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and

knowledge and term of office;
e Whether or not the candidates for independent directors meet
the requirements for independence under Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules; and

e Any other relevant factors as determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time.

2023,
Committee recommended to the Board the appointments of two new

During the year ended December 31, the Nomination
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wei Bin and Mr. Zhang Yinghao,
and two new independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Sha
Sha and Mr.
to a stringent nomination process in accordance with the Director

Hung Cheung Fuk. The appointments were subject

Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, to ensure the
Board possesses the necessary skills, experience and knowledge in
alignment with the Company’s strategy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely, the Audit

Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination

Committee, the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
and the Strategy Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the

Company’s affairs.

Other than the Strategy Committee, all Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. Other than the
Strategy Committee, the terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to the Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Li Wilson Wei, Mr. Geh George Shalchu, Ms.
Sha Sha and Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk. Mr. Li Wilson Wei is the chairman
of the Audit Committee and holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:
e supervising and evaluating the work of external auditors;
e guiding the internal audit work;

e reviewing and issuing opinions on the financial reports of the
Company;

e evaluating the effectiveness of internal control;
e facilitating communications between the management, the internal
audit department and relevant departments of the Company and

external auditors; and

e other matters authorized by the Board of Directors and other
matters prescribed in relevant laws and regulations.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to review the interim and annual financial results and reports
and significant issues on the financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, re-appointment of
external auditor and engagement of non-audit services and relevant
scope of works.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor twice without the
presence of the executive Directors during the Reporting Period.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under
the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee
Members” in this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Qin, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Li Wilson Wei and Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk. Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include but are not
limited to:

e making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and Senior Management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

e reviewing and approving management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s goals and objectives;
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being responsible for either:
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management; or (ii) making recommendations

(i) determining with delegated

to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or

appointment;

making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors;

considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

reviewing and approving the compensation payable to executive
Directors and Senior Management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment in order to ensure that such compensation
is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct in order to ensure
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

reviewing the Group’s policy on expense reimbursements for the
Directors and Senior Management;

supervising the implementation of the Company’s remuneration
and evaluation system;

reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes

under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, including any grants of

share options or awards to Directors or Senior Management; and

other matters as authorized by the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings to review and make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management, the adoption of
the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme and other related matters.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07A of the Listing Rules, the material matters
relating to the Equity Incentive Plans, 2022 Share Award Scheme
and 2023 Share Incentive Scheme that were reviewed and approved
by the Remuneration Committee during the Reporting Period are
summarized below:

e the adoption of the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme;

e the amendments to the 2022 Share Award Scheme;

e the grant of 14,630,500 RSUs in respect of 14,630,500 existing
Shares to 113 participants (including 2 Directors, 1 member of
senior management and 110 employees) under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme;

e the grant of options involving 15,000,000 Shares to 100
employees under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme; and

e the grant of 457,314 RSUs to then employees and 700,000
RSUs to a then member of senior management under the Equity
Incentive Plans.
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In relation to the above grant of RSUs to 2 Directors and 1 member of
senior management during the Reporting Period under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme (details are set out in the table in the section headed
“2022 Share Award Scheme” of this annual report), there were no
performance targets or clawback mechanism attached to the relevant
RSUs and the relevant RSUs were vested on the date of grant. In
relation to the grant of RSUs to one participant (who was a member
of senior management at that time) during the Reporting Period under
the 2021 Equity Incentive Plans (details are set out in the table in the
section headed “Equity Incentive Plans” of this annual report), there
were no performance targets or clawback mechanism attached to the
relevant RSUs. The Remuneration Committee is of the view that such
grants of RSUs to relevant Directors and senior management are to (i)
recognize and reward the grantees for their contributions to the Group;
(i) encourage, motivate and retain the grantees, whose contributions
are beneficial to the continual operation, development and long-
term growth of the Group; and (iiij provide additional incentive for
the grantees to achieve performance goals, with a view to achieve
the objectives of increasing the value of the Group and aligning the
interests of the grantees to the Shareholders through ownership
of Shares. Vesting on the date of grant recognizes their past
contributions to the Group’s business performance and aim to secure
their long-term support and commitment to the Group which are
vital to the future development of the Group. The Company believes
that the grants serve as an important incentive to motivate them to
bring a higher return to the Company. In addition, the Remuneration
Committee is of the view that the grants are in line with the Company’s
remuneration policy, which includes basic salary, performance-based
bonus and long-term incentives. The grants align the interests of
the grantees directly with the interests of the Shareholders through
ownership of the Shares and help to further encourage them to devote
their efforts to the Group’s development. Accordingly, taking into
account (i) the importance of the participants to the Group’s business
on long term and short term basis, respectively; (i) the time expected
for the participants to achieve the relevant performance targets; (iii) the
nature and expected length of employment or business relationships
of the participants with the Group taking into account past experience
and prevailing market conditions; and (iv) the prevailing market practice
within the peer companies in the same industry, the Remuneration
Committee is of the view that (i) a specified performance target or
clawback mechanism is not necessary for such grants because the
performance of the grantees have been considered as a whole with
their contribution to the Group when the awards are being granted, (ii)
it is appropriate to approve such matter, and (iii) such grants align with
the purpose of the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan the 2022 Share Award
Scheme.
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The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee are set out
under the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” in this report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out in note 10 to the financial statements
in this annual report. Details of the remuneration of the senior
management of the Company by band during the Reporting Period are
set out in the Report of Directors on page 58 of this annual report.

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration
offered to employees, including Directors and senior management,
is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the
Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages of executive Directors
are also determined with reference to the Company’s performance
and profitability, the prevailing market conditions and the performance
or contribution of each executive Director. The remuneration for the
executive Directors comprises basic salary, pensions and performance
discretionary bonus. Executive Directors shall receive restricted shares
units or other share options in accordance with the terms of the
equity incentive plans, which may from time to time be granted as the
Board may determine in light of the Company’s business performance
and the Director’s individual performance after confirmation with the
Remuneration Committee. The remuneration policy for non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is to ensure that
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the
Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board committees.
The remuneration for the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors mainly comprises Director’'s fee which is
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the
Board. Non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors may receive restricted shares units or other share options in
accordance with the terms of the equity incentive plans, which may
from time to time be granted as the Board may determine in light of
the Company’s business performance and the Director’s individual
performance after confirmation with the Remuneration Committee.
Individual Directors and senior management have not been involved in
deciding their own remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

The
Mr.

Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, namely
Qin, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li

Wilson Wei and Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk. Mr. Qin is the chairman of the

Nomination Committee.

The

terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less

exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The

main duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not

limited to:

136

reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) required of the Board annually and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

making recommendations to the board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive;

identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors
and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship;

assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors on an annual basis upon receipt and review of a written
confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors
in respect of his or her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules;

reporting to the Company as to whether the INED Confirmations
have been received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and their view in that regard;

overseeing research and development activities of Directors and

the respective fee payments made by the Company to such
Directors;
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reviewing any payments to be made under agreements with any
independent non-executive Directors and the terms and conditions
and any payment to be made under any further agreements
between the Company and the independent non-executive
Directors in relation to any new research and development
projects, to assess the terms and conditions and the rate for
similar transactions in the market to ensure the reasonableness
and fairness of the underlying transactions;

before appointments are made by the Board, evaluating the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board,
and, in the light of this evaluation preparing a description of the
role and capabilities required for a particular appointment. In
identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall
(where applicable and appropriate): (i) use open advertising or the
services of external advisers to facilitate the search; (i) consider
candidates from a wide range of backgrounds; and (iii) consider
candidates on merit and against objective criteria, taking care that
appointees have enough time available to devote to the position;

keeping under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the
marketplace;

keeping up to date and fully informed about strategic issues and
commercial changes affecting the Company and the market in
which it operates;

reviewing annually the time required from non-executive Directors.
Performance evaluations should be used to assess whether the
non-executive directors are spending enough time in fulfilling their
duties;

ensuring that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors receive a formal letter of appointment setting out clearly
what is expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside board meetings;

formulating, or assisting the Board to formulate, a board diversity
policy for the Company; and

other matters as authorized by the Board.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, including
but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where

necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence, time commitment and other
relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
and to review and make recommendation to the Board on re-election
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives
of the Board is maintained and has not set any measurable objective
implementing the Board diversity policy.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee are set out
under the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” in this report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Committee

The ESG Committee consists of one executive Director, namely Mr.
Qin, one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Chen Weihao, and one
independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk.
Mr. Chen Weihao is the chairman of the ESG Committee.

The main duties of the ESG Committee include but are not limited to:

e reviewing, formulating and approving the Group’s vision, goals,
strategies and management policies regarding environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) issues, and making
recommendations to the Board on the relevant ESG work;

e reviewing and reporting to the Board on major international trends
in corporate ESG, identifying and assessing the ESG related risks
and opportunities that have a significant impact on the Group’s
operation;

e supervising, assessing, reviewing and reporting to the Board on:

° actions taken by the Group to accomplish the vision and
strategies on ESG, and the progress made against ESG goals;

° the Group’s performance against the appropriate international
or national standard (if applicable) on ESG;
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monitoring internal work in relation to ESG, and making work
improvement suggestions;

identifying, assessing and managing material ESG related issues,
and updating the assessment results to the Board on a regular
basis;

reviewing annual ESG reports and making suggestions to the
Board for approval, and proposing specific actions or decisions for
the Board’s consideration to maintain the integrity of ESG reports;
and

reviewing the supervision and participation process of the Board of
the Group on ESG issues, and providing improvement suggestions
to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the ESG Committee held two meetings

to review annual ESG report and make suggestions to the Board for

approval.

The

attendance records of the ESG Committee are set out under the

section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee

Members” in this report.
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Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee consists of one executive Director, namely
Mr. Qin, three non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Weihao, Mr.
Zhang Yinghao and Mr. Wei Bin. Mr. Chen Weihao is the chairman of
the Strategy Committee.

The main functions of the Strategy Committee are to, without
limitation, review, formulate and approve the Group’s vision, goals,
strategies and management policies, to identify, assess and manage
material operational and industry risks, and update the assessment
results to the Board on a regular basis, to advise the Board on material
organization changes of the Group, and to monitor management

performance and make management improvement suggestions.

During the Reporting Period, the Strategy Committee held 12 meetings
to review the Group’s strategies and management policies, update the
assessment results to the Board and advise to the Board.

The attendance records of the Strategy Committee are set out under
the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee
Members” in this report.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the Directors and employees, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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TEERRE

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS EENZESREHFELH
AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

According to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, board meetings BEMCEEATIEXECSAKHT 52
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly €ZEGFEVEMAMNK  KNEEEBH—
intervals with active participation, either in person or through electronic X * AZ B EEZR BN BAET FBAHE
means of communication, of the majority of the Directors. The IHZMH - KREENFREEHMAHENRENAE
attendance record of each Director during their tenure of office at the FHMARAEEZE - BEEELECSH MR
Board and Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of A& EEIM T RATR ¢

the Company held during the Reporting Period is set out in the table

below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings
HE/ ERRH

Annual Other

Remuneration | Nomination ESG Strategy General General

Name of Director Board | Committee Committee | Committee | Committee | Committee Meeting | Meetings"
RS HE B3R Hith

ESpg FMZES | REZE. |RERZEE | B BEARE [ RRAgO
Mr. Wang Yongjun® N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
ITHRELLER TER i i NEA TER i TERA N
Mr. Qin Xinghua® 4/4 N/A 2/2 11 2/2 12/12 11 N/A
REELEO 4/4 TER 2/2 1 2/2 12/12 17 TER
Mr. Jin Yun 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 11 N/A
TERE 4/4 TER ik TEA il ik 111 ik
Mr. Chen Weihao 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 2/2 12/12 11 N/A
REZLE 4/4 TEm TEm TEm 2/2 12/12 11 TEm
Mr. Wang Jian® 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A /7 11 N/A
FalgsEe 11 TER NER TEA A 77 171 TER
Ms. Li Dan® 0/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A 3/3 N/A N/A
EN S 0/1 Nk NEMA i il 3/3 TEA NEMA
Mr. Wei Bin® 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A 9/9 11 N/A
BRLHEO 3/3 TEm TER TEH TEH 9/9 11 TER
Mr. Zhang Yinghao? 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A 5/5 N/A N/A
RUOZFAED 3/3 TER NER TEA A 5/5 TEA NER
Mr. Li Wilson Wei 4/4 2/2 2/2 11 N/A N/A 11 N/A
ThEE 4/4 2/2 2/2 11 TEm TER 11 TNEF
Mr. Geh George Shalchu 4/4 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1 N/A
BByt 4/4 2/2 TEA TER TEH TER 11 TEH
Mr. Lam Man Kwong® 3/3 2/2 2/2 1/1 11 N/A 1/1 N/A
PRI S 4 ® 3/3 2/2 2/2 11 11 TER 1/1 TEm
Ms. Sha Sha® 3/3 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
b el 3/3 1/1 N ek i NEA el NEmA
Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk® 1/1 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 N/A N/A N/A
HRBLENO 1/1 NEmA NEfA A 1/1 NEA A NEfA
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Notes:

M

Save for the annual general meeting of the Company held on June 19,
2023, no general meeting of the Company was held during the Reporting
Period.

Mr. Wang Yongjun resigned as an executive Director with effect from
January 9, 2023.

Mr. Qin Xinghua was appointed as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the ESG Committee with effect from January
9, 2028.

Mr. Wang Jian resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Strategy Committee, with effect from August 4, 2023.

Ms. Li Dan resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Strategy Committee with effect from March 30, 2023.

Mr. Wei Bin was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of
the Strategy Committee with effect from March 31, 2028.

Mr. Zhang Yinghao was appointed as a non-executive Director and a
member of the Strategy Committee with effect from August 4, 2023.

Mr. Lam Man Kwong resigned as (i) an independent non-executive

Director, (i) a member of the Audit Committee, (ii) a member of the
Nomination Committee, (iv) a member of the ESG Committee, and (v) the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, with effect from November 20,

2023.

Ms. Sha Sha was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from June 30, 2023.

(10) Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk was appointed as (i) an independent non-executive

Director, (i) a member of the Audit Committee, (iij a member of the
Nomination Committee, (iv) a member of the ESG Committee, and (v) the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, with effect from November 20,

2023.

Apart from regular Board meetings, during the Reporting Period, Mr.

Qin, being one of the co-chairmen of the Board since January 9,

2023, held one meeting with the independent non-executive Director

without the presence of other Directors in accordance with code
provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The
Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Company is devoted to establishing and maintaining
risk management and internal control systems including policies
and procedures that it considers to be appropriate for its business
operations, and it is dedicated to continuously improving these
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management,
reviewing the practices of management with respect to the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. This review formally takes place at each Audit
Committee meeting, one of which includes an annual review on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.
Heads of departments manage risks through identification, evaluation
and mitigation of risk identified.

Risk Management

We are exposed to various risks during our operations. Principal risks
and uncertainties we face are relating to: (i) we utilise freight partners
and agents to conduct certain aspects of our business, and face
risks associated with these relationships, their employees and other
personnel; (i) we operate in a competitive industry, and if we fail to
compete effectively, our business and prospect could be negatively
affected; and (i) our business and growth are affected by various
macroeconomic and other factors in China, including the continued
growth of demand for nationwide LTL services.
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Our risk management mainly includes the following four areas:

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)

In conducting risk assessments,

risk identification: each business and functional department and its
subsidiaries conducts, once in a year, an identification of potential
internal and external risks in its respective operation processes.
During risks identification, references are mainly made to the
impact the risks have on the Company’s objectives, and major
problems or risk incidents in the business activities for the past

year.

risk assessment: according to the risks assessment standards,
each business and functional department and its subsidiaries
reviews the risks identified, and assesses the possibilities of
occurrence and the extents of impacts in order to screen out the
significant risks. The Group adopts a combination of bottom-
up and top-down risk assessment procedures to fully identify all
of the Group’s significant risks, which are then given rankings.
Significant risks are then reported to the appropriate management
level, Audit Committee and the Board. A final list of significant

risks is confirmed after thorough communication and discussion.

risks response: the responsible department of the identified risks
formulates a risk response plan by properly applying methods
such as risk avoidance, risk reduction, risk sharing and risk
acceptance, with consideration of the Group’s level of risk
tolerance. This allows the Group to properly allocate resources for
risk mitigation or improvements on risk response measures, with
an aim to reduce the overall risk of the Group to an acceptable

level.
risk monitoring and reporting: risk monitoring and reporting are
carried out by integrating the use of risk warning indicators,

internal auditing and periodic summarized risk reports.

the Company comprehensively

utilized a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods to

analyse the possibility of risk occurrence and the impact on the

achievement of objectives, and finally prioritized the risks according to

their significance.
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With regard to daily operations, each business group and functional
department of the Company identify, assess and respond to the risk
issues in their operations. The internal control department reports
significant risks at the Company level through collecting, consolidating
and analysing such risk issues, and ensures that appropriate response
strategies and control measures have been taken, which are reviewed
by the management teams. The internal control department reviews
and evaluates the actions made in response to the significant risks
from time to time.

Establishment of the Internal Control System

The Board has established the internal control system, and monitored
and reviewed on an annual basis in compliance with code provision
D.2 of the CG Code. Such system is designed to manage rather to
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Audit Committee is delegated to monitor the
implementation of the risk management policies across the Company
on an ongoing basis in order to ensure that the internal control system
is effective in identifying, managing and mitigating risks in its business
operations.

The Company also maintains an internal audit department which
is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of internal control
and reporting any issues identified by the department to the Audit
Committee. Members of the internal audit department hold regular
meetings with the management to discuss about internal control
issues it faces and the corresponding measures to resolve them. The
internal audit department reports to the Audit Committee to ensure
that any material issue identified is delivered to the committee in a
timely manner. The Audit Committee then discusses the reported
issues and reports to the Board when necessary.
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Main Features of the Internal Control System and
Process Used to Review the Effectiveness of the

Internal Control System and Rectify Defects F

TEERRE

NBEHRGEHNEIERHERARES
NHBEHRGEERERAM ERENRE

Below is a summary of the internal control policies, measures and LA~ AR BB iEHY A 201 HI B 157 K2 72
procedures our Company has implemented: FHZ :

e The Board has delegated the Audit Committee chaired by Mr. Li e

Wilson Wei, with the responsibility to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the
Company on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness
of the systems annually in compliance with code provision D.2 of
the CG Code. The review covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. The duties of the
Audit Committee shall include: (i) to supervise and evaluate the
work of external auditors; (ii) to guide the internal audit work; (iii) to
review and issue opinions on the financial reports of the Company;
(iv) to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control; (v) to facilitate
communications between the management, the internal audit
department and relevant departments of the Company and
external auditors; and (vi) other matters authorized by the Board
and other matters prescribed in relevant laws and regulations.

e The Company has adopted various policies to ensure compliance e

with the Listing Rules, including but not limited to aspects related
to risk management, connected transactions and information
disclosure.
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The Company has adopted various measures regarding conflict
of interests in our operations, which enable us to identify, monitor
and review transactions with potential conflict of interests, and to
take corresponding actions.

The Company has provided and will continue to provide anti-
corruption and anti-bribery compliance training periodically to our
senior management and employees to enhance their knowledge
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and include
relevant policies against non-compliance in employee handbooks.

The Company has engaged Somerley Capital Limited as its
compliance adviser to provide advice to its Directors and
management team until the end of the first fiscal year after
the Listing regarding matters relating to the Listing Rules. The
Company’s compliance adviser is expected to ensure the use of
funding complies with the disclosure in the Prospectus, as well as
to provide support and advice regarding requirements of relevant
regulatory authorities in a timely fashion.

The Company will also consult its PRC Legal Advisor on a
regular basis for advice on relevant PRC laws and regulations to
increase compliance awareness and to keep it abreast of relevant
regulatory developments.
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Under the Company’s risk management and internal control
structure, the management is responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of risk management and internal
control systems to ensure, amongst others, (i) appropriate policies
and control procedures have been designed and established
to safeguard the Company’s assets against improper use or
disposal; (i) relevant laws, rules and regulations are adhered to
and complied with; and (i) that reliable financial and accounting
records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements. During the
Reporting Period, major works performed by the management
in relation to risk management and internal control included the
following:

0 each major operation unit or department was responsible
for daily risk management activities, including identifying
major risks that may impact on the Company’s performance;
assessing and evaluating the identified risks according to their
likely impacts and the likelihood of occurrence; formulating
and implementing measures, controls and response plans to
manage and mitigate such risks;

o the management, together with the controller’'s department,
monitored and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis and reported to the
Audit Committee regarding the status of the systems;

o the management periodically followed up and reviewed the
implementation of the measures, controls and response plans
to major risks identified in order to make sure that sufficient
attention, monitor and responses were paid to all major risks
identified;
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o the management reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems periodically to identify process and control
deficiencies, and designed and implemented corrective
actions to address such deficiencies; and

o the management ensured appropriate procedures and
measures such as safeguarding assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, controlling capital expenditure, maintaining
proper accounting records and ensuring the reliability of
financial information used for business and publications, etc.
were in place.

Procedures and Internal Controls for Processing
and Releasing Inside Information

With approval from the Board and pursuant to the requirements of
domestic and foreign laws and regulations, Listing Rules and Articles
of Association as well as the practical conditions of our Company,
our Company has formulated a policy on information disclosure
management to determine the division of duties and responsibilities on
information disclosure, the procedures for processing and releasing
inside information and other information required to be disclosed.
Pursuant to this system, our Company must, as soon as any inside
information comes to its knowledge or a false market may be
established, disclose the information to the public to the reasonable
and practicable extent.

During the Reporting Period, our Company has truthfully, accurately,
legally and timely disclosed information in strict compliance with
the requirements of domestic and foreign laws and regulations, the
Listing Rules, the Articles of Association and the policy on information
disclosure management of our Company without any false statements,
misleading statements or material omissions, to ensure investors
will be able to receive the disclosed information fairly, timely and
effectively.
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Anti-corruption and Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies
to facilitate employees and other stakeholders to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters. The Audit Committee of the Company shall
review such policies regularly and ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters and
for appropriate follow-up action.

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Board and the management of our Company are jointly
responsible for the establishment, the effective implementation
and improvement of a sound risk management and internal control
system. The objectives of risk management and internal control of our
Company are: guaranteeing the legality of operations of our Company
and the execution of internal regulatory system, protecting against
operational risk and moral risk, securing the safety and completeness
of the assets of the clients and our Company, ensuring the reliability,
completeness and timeliness of the business records, financial
information and other information of our Company and improving the
operational efficiency and effectiveness of our Company.

As internal control has inherent restrictions, we can only reasonably
guarantee that the above objectives may be achieved. Furthermore,
the effectiveness of internal control may also change according to
our Company’s internal and external environment and operating
conditions. Our Company has set up an inspection and supervision
mechanism through which our Company can take measures to rectify
deficiencies in the internal control once identified.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
defect in internal control of the Group. The Board is of the view that
during the Reporting Period, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are effective and adequate and the Group
has established an effective risk management and internal control
system, which achieves our objectives of risk management and
internal control and is free of material defect and significant defect.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditors of the
Group in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended December 31, 2023 amounted to RMB5.08 million and nil
respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. PUN Ka Ying (“Ms. Pun”), a senior manager of Corporate Services
of Tricor Services Limited (a company secretarial service provider), as
the company secretary of the Company, is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that Board
policy and procedures, and applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. Ms. Pun’s primary contact person of the Company is Mr.
SUN Xin, the General Secretary of the Company.

Ms. Pun has confirmed that she received no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended December 31,
2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of any one or more members holding together, as at the date of
deposit of the requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth
of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the Company
which carry the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
The written requisition shall be deposited at the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office of the Company,
specifying the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be added
to the meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionist(s). If the Board
does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21
days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association or the
Cayman Companies Act regarding procedures for Shareholders to
put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of a
person for election as a Director.

Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene
an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.
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For the proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant to
Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association, no person shall, unless
recommended by the Board, be eligible for election to the office
of Director at any general meeting unless during the period, which
shall be at least seven days, commencing no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of
such meeting, there has been given to the company secretary notice
in writing by a member of the Company (not being the person to be
proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given, of his intention to propose such person for election
and also notice in writing signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: 8th Floor, Block B, E Linke World North District, 999
Huaxu Road, Xujing Town, Qingpu District, Shanghai,
PRC (For the attention of the Company Secretary)
Email: ir@aneb6.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies. For this purpose, the
Company has set up a website (www.ane56.com), where relevant latest
information, the up-to-date state of the Company’s business operation
and development, the Company’s financial information and corporate
governance practices and other data are available to the public.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

The Company’s management regularly reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of these Shareholder communication channels, and
after review of the Shareholders’ communication policy which sets out
the various communication channels available to the Shareholders to
communicate their views on the matters affecting the Company and
direct their views to the Company, and the corporate communication
made available by the Company to the Shareholders by different
means, the Company considers the Shareholders’ communication
policy was effectively implemented during the Reporting Period.

Changes in Constitutional Documents

During the Reporting Period, no changes were made to the
Memorandum and Articles of Association. The latest version of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The

Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy

to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately

addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness

and

@)

the results were satisfactory.

Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Rules Governing
the Listing of securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) refers to
any document issued or to be issued by the Company for the
information or action of holders of any of its securities, including
but not limited to the following documents of the Company: (a)
the directors’ report, annual accounts together with a copy of
the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its summary financial
report; (b) the interim report and, where applicable, its summary
interim report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document;
(e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form. Corporate communication
of the Company will be published on the Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkexnews.hk) in a timely manner as required by
the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be provided to
the Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s
securities in both English and Chinese versions or where
permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as required by
the Listing Rules.

(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the Listing

)

156

Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside information,
corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other documents
(e.g., Memorandum and Articles of Association) on the Stock
Exchange’s website in a timely manner in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

Corporate Website
Any information or documents of the Company posted on

the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.ane56.com).
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(d) Shareholders’ Meetings

()

Note:

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
the Shareholders with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable the Shareholders to make an
informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). The Shareholders
are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf
if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where appropriate or
required, the Chairperson of the Board and other Board members,
the chairpersons of board committees or their delegates, and the
external auditors should attend general meetings of the Company
to answer the Shareholders’ questions (if any).

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings

The Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, by sending an email to is-enquiries@hk.
tricorglobal.com or call its hotline at +852 2980 1333, or go in
person to its public counter at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be put
to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. The shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of the Board of Directors by mail to
8th Floor, Block B, E Linke World North District, 999 Huaxu Road,
Xujing Town, Qingpu District, Shanghai, PRC.

The Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors, among others, financial results,
cash flow situation, business conditions and strategies and future
operations and earnings, as set out in the dividend policy, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial
year and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval.

DIVERSITY

The Company is committed to promote diversity in our Company to
the extent practicable by taking into consideration a number of factors
in respect of our corporate governance structure. The Company
seeks to achieve board diversity and workforce diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience.

We have adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the
objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of our
Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board. The Board
Diversity Policy is well implemented as evidenced by the fact that
there are one female and eight male Directors with experience from
different industries and sectors. For more details, please refer to the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report — Board of Directors
— Board Diversity Policy” in this annual report. In 2023, we hired 578
full-time employees, of which 353 were male and 225 were female.
As at December 31, 2023, there were 3,142 salaried employees of
the Group, of which 2,039 were male and 1,103 were female, and
the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management) was
approximately 1.85 males to 1 female. The Company will continue to
monitor and evaluate the diversity policy from time to time to ensure
its continued effectiveness.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY:

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of ANE (Cayman) Inc.

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LK SR ES AT
Kigth—FE 27 18

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ANE
(Cayman) Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 168 to 308 which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BETHRE

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter
HAREISRE
RIERIAE B

Deferred tax assets }

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had deferred
tax assets amounting to RMB135,980,000, including
RMB100,635,000 recognised for unused tax losses. The
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits would be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses
can be utilised. The process of estimating the amount and
timing of future taxable profits is complex and involves
estimates and judgements that would be affected by future
operations, tax regulations, market or economic conditions.

M2023F12A31H  ESBENELEHBEBEEAAR
#135,980,0007 ' BRADAFEESEERHARE
100,635,0007T ° R IE & 2 o) B R LA B AR T ADE AT A
AR E R =B R IBE B AR o e R RERTF
HOEBENRMABRERERN  PRESIIRRELES
BOERR ~ 55 A B AR T 22 B R0 (b 5T A0 H T -

Information about the deferred tax assets and the
unrecognised tax losses is disclosed in note 2.3, note 3 and
note 23 to the financial statements.

FEEFTEEEMS AEROHREEENE R RIS HRE AN
2.3~ MEES MBI FE23 R IR EE ©

Independent Auditor’s Report
B A B R S

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREFSPTEYRAREASENG X

Our procedures related to deferred tax assets included

the following:

A

EERBAEERBEORFEEOT

Discussing with management on the process and
internal controls of recognition of deferred tax
assets;

BT [ 5 7 AR

mR

BT TRE ERR 7 A A BBE S

Evaluating and testing management’s assumptions
used in estimating available future taxable profits
by comparing them to the Group’s business plans
approved by those charged with governance, future
profit forecasts, the associated growth rates and
historical financial and tax information; and

BELATERMABIESN BREXRMHE -

*Xﬂﬁﬁﬂ‘ﬁ%%%$%&£i%%ﬂmﬁéﬂ
ETHE - FHEFRR T ERE RN A AR KE

AR AR RER

Checking the adequacy of the relevant disclosures
of deferred tax assets in the financial statements.

BEMBHRPECHBEERBREORDIE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BETHRE

Key audit matter

BRETEE
Impairment of goodwill FERE

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill
was RMB131,527,000, which was material to the
consolidated financial statements.

R2023F12A31H ' HEMBEBEEAARKE131,527,000
T HGREUKHRRMEBERK -

Management assessed there were impairment indicators
during the year and the above non-current non-financial
assets were tested for impairment. Management also
performed goodwill impairment test on an annual basis.
The impairment test was complex and highly judgemental
due to the significant estimation required by management
in determining the recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units (CGUs), which are the higher of the fair value less
costs of disposal and the value in use. The estimation was
sensitive to significant assumptions such as the discount
rate, revenue growth rate and operating margin, which could
be affected by expectations of future market and economic
conditions.

FA BEEBTLFERENR Y ELAFRSDIFSRE
EETREANR ERENSFETHBERENA - BARE
BEERETRSELEMMAIKESE (AAREERDEK
AEFEREEMETOHRSE) RFEEELEAM - #ORE
AAEEEREEESEHEE - ZMEFTHFRE - WAL
REMEXFBEEEABRRE /AR > MREFRJAELR
ARMSMEBERARNBHOZE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREFSPELRAREASENG X

Our audit procedures related to the impairment of
goodwill, among others, included the following:

BAEmBRERRNEEFERET (AF8%E) ¢

e Obtaining an understanding of management’s
process of reviewing and evaluating the impairment
assessment of goodwill;

o THREEEFENEBBTREMENRE

e Reviewing management’s identification of the CGUs
and the judgement regarding the allocation of
goodwill;

. FEEEEURSELECNMIARUEES R
E

e Obtaining the profit forecast of the CGUs and
assessed the reasonableness of key parameters or
assumptions applied upon it, by comparing them to
historical results, business plan, and economic and
industry forecast;

s ERARSEABUMMNBEERR  WEEKEEFELE
A EBRTEIARBEMITEIRR - WA EMER
MER2BRBRNEEE



Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BEN RS

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HREETER BREFSPTEYRAREASENG X

Information about goodwill is disclosed in note 17 to the Involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
financial statements. in evaluating the associated growth rates and the
discount rates applied; and
EEEEBNERNI SRR OM T 17 PHE -
e HEHRFMWAMBEZERNHE T - FHEHEREREN
AR E &

e Performing sensitivity analyses of the significant
assumptions to evaluate the change in the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs that would result
from changes in the assumptions.

o HBABRETHERBEIMN  UFHRKRELAIES
BReELBM KRB SENHRL -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BETHRE

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
If, based

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

164

ANE (Cayman) Inc. « ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FHRPIESNHEMLESR

ERRESAHAEMENER - HBLEHNEBR
FHRAMER - BETBREEE P BRER LM
B BRAMZBEN RS

BMAHSEEMBERERNBERL NREEME
£ BTSSR BERE AT AN RESR

PR A M mRNES - RANEE
(4] o2 ﬁﬁﬁﬂ WH L ERFTEEBEMER
B BHRRIBMERTBRETHAT
%Rﬁ&ikﬁﬁﬁ HEHEMTEFEE
R R o IRARBEIRPIFT A TAE - HAAIRR
C BEMERFEEARE RMERESZSE
o FULTTE - BIVEBEMHRS

o)
i el

\
/I
‘\:k\\

S e

m}mf%ﬁﬁmmmm

ESHGRSMBRRNER

ERAREFAERETESFAMASRMD
(BRMBREELD) MEECR TR WK E
EXRUBEMAFHEAPBERER - XRE
EEZRRUENARES - AERENGS Y
BHAR T FEARARGF R ME M EKE
4 o

ERBSEAMBHRERE X EARESFARRN
i BERERFEQLREN  YHEERB /RTTBZ

E'Eﬁﬁi?i?%“*“ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ$lﬁ c BRI BERAEE
BEH BEEBERFLEE  SHEEM
BER AT TE’J#J#/ii BARERFAZEE G E
% o

ERZBEEmEY BAREFETHEE &

SEMBHRERFNAE -



Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

&

We

M A% BUET R

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that

We

we identify during our audit.

also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and

to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

166

ANE (Cayman) Inc. « ANNUAL REPORT 2023

s HEERARKBELLETERMNISEIEIE
g - REBEMEDRNERE  EER

BFEEERXBREBMNERTEE
- emAERY BEEENFERLE
RNELEBEBARRE NMREFA/GFEE
RTHEEM - AL EERZBEEMBE T
f*ﬁ%%&E”A%Wﬁ%$Wﬁ@ﬁ

- BREABNRESRE  AEFEEH
i@t?ﬂﬂ% BHER - ﬁiﬂ’]%aﬁ %B’\V%(
AR & B IEFTEIS R ESHERE - A K
%%Eﬁ%%ﬂ%%ﬁ BERETREFE

e

o FESAMBHREROEEIFRER  FiF
MRS BERE  ARGEETHHRRE
LR BERMZSFERE -

D

e 3 EEERNERAEHIDNYHEN
ERGES  EENENRRE  UWHERAE
Wﬁ%%%% BXR8 BEEEE
MR - BEEMEIT - BEER/TFAERA

%735 DBE\TE ©

o

BREMERS  BEFRESLZBQEB TR
METHE - BRZH  BAENERS &
EESEFTHER A BEH N ERERR
B o

BEEREAEZZEQRER  SREFEN
EEMBYEMAEREREEENR  WEB
BBAT AR KRAREREETS BN
FEBERMEMER - UREFERANBIT -
AHERELE M EREA 1T RSB R eV S48 7 -



Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Shun Lung Wai.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
meBEER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #2023 12 531 H1FF/E

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T AREFT
(RESEIET))
(&E51)
Revenue $tA 5 9,916,899 9,334,931
Cost of revenue & % & (8,648,896)  (8,604,569)
Gross profit EF) 1,268,003 730,362
Other income and gains/(losses), net /A KWz (EIE)  /F58 6 125,294 (8,584)
General and administrative expenses — & K& /T H R & (773,789) (892,779)
Operating profit/(loss) &4/ (E18) 619,508 (171,001)
Finance costs B1#A Z% 7 (78,902) (120,199)
Fair value changes of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
NRAEEFEAEEZEFAEHESNEREENAABEEZD 8 11,249 10,081
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRI HIE /(K1) 9 551,855 (281,119)
Income tax expense FT5%i 5 12 (144,610) (119,336)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FRAIE / (&#) 407,245 (400,455)
Attributable to: A & B & :
Owners of the parent & A RIH#EH A 392,379 (399,952)
Non-controlling interests FE1Z A i 25 14,866 (503)
407,245 (400,455)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

BAREBRERSE ARGEREF,(EE) 14
Basic (RMB) A& (AR T) 0.34 (0.34)
Diluted (RMB) #5% (AR L) 0.34 (0.34)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SeEEHEWER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &2 20234 12 431 H 1 F/Z

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR R FE /(E8)

2023
20234
RMB’000

ARBTFR

407,245

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARETTT
(RESEIE))
(#&=7)

(400,455)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME H it 2 H i 2%
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
AR ERBREN S RERG  AMth 2 EEIS
Exchange differences on translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries
BREN AR BEHRE BN EHE

(55,649)

(352,757)

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods:
RERBAEETIEEFT S REEE 2 At 2 E K ¢
Exchange differences on translation of the financial statements of the Company

BEARRBMBHRRELER

68,295

415,738

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX
FREMPE RS - HRHIE

12,646

62,981

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
FREERE (BR) 88

419,891

(337,474)

Attributable to: AT & IEMREAG :
Owners of the parent A FIHEA A
Non-controlling interests JF#Z i A %5

405,025
14,866

(336,971)
(503)

419,891

(337,474)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRIR R

31 DECEMBER 2023 R2023% 12531 H

31 December | 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022

2023 F 20224 20224
12A31H 12 A31H 1818

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT ARBTT
(Restated) (Restated)

(mE75) (&g=51)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREEE

Property, plant and equipment %1% - B E &R 15 1,351,531 1,734,558 1,857,344
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment

Y% - BERREBMNEE 2,552 5,957 25,312
Right-of-use assets {f fl & & 16 947,169 982,511 1,225,534
Goodwill 72 17 131,527 131,527 146,253
Other intangible assets Hth & E 18 4,999 13,822 31,707
Deferred tax assets JEIEFIBEE 23 135,980 283,360 401,362
Restricted cash SR #|3 & 25 889 9,726 11,329
Other non-current assets EA3ER BN E E 22 86,092 76,934 88,558
Total non-current assets JER )& EAE 2,660,739 3,238,395 3,787,399
CURRENT ASSETS #EBI&E

Inventories 7 & 19 7,691 9,061 11,529
Trade receivables & 5 fEW A 20 91,060 23,464 39,799
Prepayments T {4578 21 59,622 90,272 133,985
Other receivables and other assets H i & Wi kI8 Kk K & & 22 732,676 602,489 866,064
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

NARBEFEEEENTAENERNEHEE 24 808,038 841,673 546,737
Restricted cash R #|HR & 25 4,237 313 727
Cash and cash equivalents J & MR & EEY) 25 1,407,856 1,039,345 954,318
Assets classified as held for sale 7B A EHERNEE 5,135 = =
Total current assets R EEAE 3,116,315 2,606,617 2,553,159
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR R

31 DECEMBER 2023 R20234F 12531 H

31 December | 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022

2023 F 20224 20224
12A31H 12 H31H 1810

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT ARBTT
(Restated) (Restated)

(E=75) (&g551)

CURRENT LIABILITIES RE& &

Trade and bills payables & 5 & 208 I B =& 26 314,607 306,018 450,804
Other payables and accruals Efth &+ 708 I JE 5+ B 27 1,009,191 949,122 968,992
Interest-bearing borrowings &+ B & 28 463,726 789,056 705,713
Tax payable [EfS#{18 514 5,698 5,264
Lease liabilites HE & & 16 368,424 522,058 520,886
Total current liabilities i 2 & E42%8 2,156,462 2,571,952 2,651,659
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RB/EE /(&1&) B 959,853 34,665 (98,500)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES A& ERABEE 3,620,592 3,273,060 3,688,899
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥RB& &
Interest-bearing borrowings &+ Bf& 28 105,021 248,245 302,390
Lease liabilities FAE& & 16 541,352 510,359 713,229
Total non-current liabilities 3£/ &) & E42 %8 646,373 758,604 1,015,619
Net assets EEEHE 2,974,219 2,514,456 2,673,280
EQUITY #3%
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 7]# 45 A {5z
Share capital Iz 29 149 149 149
Treasury shares E1FR(D 30 - (11,983) =
Reserves f# 31 2,475,553 2,040,171 2,185,798
2,475,702 2,028,337 2,185,947
Non-controlling interests FE{Z A% i %% 498,517 486,119 487,333
Total equity ##x 2,974,219 2,514,456 2,673,280
Mr. Qin Xinghua Mr. Jin Yun
EEESRE SELEE
Director Director
o o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERRBHR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #2023 12 531 H1FF/E

Attributable to owners of the parent

Exchange | Statutory Non-

Share | Treasury Capital Share | fluctuation surplus | Accumulated controling

*

reserve reserve’ losses® interests

EX

Ra | BREERG | E5GE | ROEE | RB&E | B ZiER it | ERER
RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000
ARBTT | ARETT | ARETT | ARETT | ARETR | ARETR | ARETT | ARETT | ARETT | ARETR

capital shares reserve” | premium

At 31 December 2021 72021 £12 3317 149 - 9631955  9165% 161,763 923 (8538532 2,181,166 487,142 2,668,308
Effect of adoption of amendments to HKAS

12 (note 2.2(c))

RRERSHENE 125 (B4 HEe

(3k2.2(0)) - - - - - - 4,781 4781 191 4972
At 1 January 2022 (restated)

R2020% 1718 (8E5) 149 - 96319% 916506 161,763 9285  (8533751) 2185947 487333 2673280
Loss for the year (restated) A (££7]) - - - - - - (399,952)  (399,952) (503)  (400.455)
Qther comprehensive income for the year:

EREMRENE :

Exchange differences related to foreign

operations

BNEBRENE L Z8 - - - - 608 - - 62981 - 62981
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

(restated)

Fn2EYE /(iR 88 (885 - - - - 62981 - (399,952 (336,971) (503)  (337,474)
Share-based payments 73 ff - - 191,344 = - = - 191,344 - 191,344
Shares repurchased for a share award scheme

Elue R e O] - (11,989) - - - - - (11,989) - (11983)
Deregistration of subsidiaries 32K B/ - - - - - = = = (1) (711)

At 31 December 2022 (restated)
1202241231 A (£ E5]) 149 (11,983) 9823299 91659 224,744 9235  (8933703) 2028337 486,119 2514456
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREBHR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &2 20234 12 431 H 1 F/Z

Attributable to owners of the parent
BAREE AR

Exchange | Statutory Non-

Share | Treasury Capital Share | fluctuation surplus |Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares | reserve* | premium* | reserve* | reserve* losses* Total | interests equity
EX R

k& | ErRS | E2GE | ROEE* | RBRE | 2REE* | RSEE act | FERER g
RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000
ARETR | ARETR | AR%BTR | ARETR | ARSTR | ARBTR | ARMTR | ARBTH | ARETR | AR%TR
(note 29) | (note 30) | (note 31) | (note31) | (note 31) | (note 31)

(Wit29) | (Rzso) | (M&Est1) | (W&S1) | (M&s1) | (Mi&s1)

At 31 December 2022 7202212 4318 149 (11,983 9,823,209 916,596 224,744 9235 (8,946,958 2,015,082 485590 2,500,672
Effect of adoption of amendments to HKAS

12 (note 2.2(c))
ROBRETENE 1% (BTR) Y8

(sk2.2(0)) - - - - - - 13,285 13,25 59 13,784
At 1 January 2023 (restated)
202351 A18 (8Z3]) 149 (11,983 9,823,209 916,596 224,744 9235 (8,933,703 2,028,337 486,119 2,514,456
Profit for the year &R - - - - - - 302,379 392,379 14,866 407,245
Qther comprehensive income for the year:
EREMRENG
Exchange differences on translation of foreign

operations
BNRHRENEL 28 - - - - 12646 - - 12,646 - 12646
Total comprehensive income for the year
EmcENREE - - - - 12,646 - 392,379 405,025 14,866 419,891
Acquisition of a subsicliary W —FHEB LA - - - - - - - - 1,676 1,676
Acquisition of non-controlling interests
e e - - (2,385) - - - - (2,385 (4144  (6,529)
Share-based payments (3 3 fi - - 102,560 - - - - 102,560 - 102,560
Shares repurchased for a share award scheme
v iRE bl - (5183 - - - - - (518%) - (57,83
Transfer of treasury shares of a share award

scheme
ERROARRHANERRR - 69818 (69,819) - - - - - - -
Transfer from retained profits EREFEEA - - - - - 3,313 (3,313) - - -
At 31 December 2023 1202312 3318 149 - 9853656 916,506 237,390 12,548 (8,544,637) 2475702 498517 2,974,219

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * RZEZEHEEEOREAHMBRIAXTHGEEH
RMB2,475,553,000 (2022: RMB2,040,171,000) in the consolidated BAR®2,475,553,0007C (20224F : AR
statement of financial position. 2,040,171,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHERER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #2023 12 531 H1FF/E

2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARBTT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & ZEIfEHERE

Profit/(loss) before tax B ATAIE /(&1#E) 551,855 (281,119)
Adjustments for: FLLA NS B EHFE
Finance costs B %A A 7 78,902 120,199

Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

HEURAAEBEFEEEEH T AZHERNESREENKE 6 (12,137) (6,771)
Fair value changes of financial products & Bl E @RI A LB EE S 8 (11,249) (10,081)
Share-based payment expenses %19 3z - 5 sz 102,560 191,344
Gain/(loss) on disposal of long-term assets
HERPEEN K /(BE) 9 (31,945) 13,985
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets H & H b £ 2 & E 1) E5 18 - 1,579
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - B= LR EITE 15 436,530 437,755
Depreciation of right-of-use assets L ENTE 16 570,825 621,075
Amortisation of other intangible assets £ ftl £ 72 & = # £ 18 8,823 22,301
Impairment losses on trade receivables and other receivables
B 5 FENCGRIE [ B At R MR R (B S 1R 9 19,604 18,166
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ¥12% - BiE M & RE 9 11,182 8,896
Impairment of assets classified as held for sale 718 & EH &£ EERE 9 13,463 =
Impairment of goodwill 72 E 17 - 14,726
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B A R AUk 33 - (7,371)
Deregistration of a subsidiary ¥ — KB A 7 = (711)
1,738,413 1,143,973
Decrease in inventories 17 &5 4 1,370 2,468
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables & 5 FEU F18 (#40) 7 4 (73,787) 16,323
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
FATFRIE - H b fEUCGRIE R H fh & EE (32 n), R A (127,056) 312,574
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash R HZE & (3&h0),w (1,797) 208
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables
B RNFRERENZEENCRL) 19,947 (132,042)
Increase in other payables and accruals Hfth f& 1~ FIE K fE 5+ € F 18 71 151,506 102,174
Cash generated from operations 4 & FT15IR & 1,708,596 1,445,678
Income tax paid 2T ATEH (2,414) (900)
Net cash flows from operating activities & & E BTSN &R EFH 1,706,182 1,444,778

174 ANE (Cayman) Inc. « ANNUAL REPORT 2023




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nv_\éiﬁﬁ)‘ﬁéﬁ

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &2 20234 12 431 H 1 F/Z

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFZEFIBRERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment

2023
20234

RMB’000
ARBT R

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBT T

BEYX  BMELEREEE (324,572) (579,341)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment

HEWH - BERREEB 2 AEHKIEA 58,211 2,786
Purchase of items of right-of-use assets & E{# A& EE B (30,526) =
Purchases of items of other intangible assets i& B H{th # 2 & Z 18 B - (5,995)
Purchases of items of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

BEUARABEAERAZHFI AEHERNERMEERR (1,422,037) (1,355,892)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
HENRABEFEEEZHFAERERN SR EENASHIE 1,491,716 1,132,607
Disposal of subsidiaries &/ B A A 33 - 30,859
Advances of loans to a related party [f#5t5 F8 1~ E - (500)
Repayment of loans from third parties EiE % =H & (32,530) =
Advances of loans to third parties [[158 = 5B E R 3,987 (12,215)
Net cash flows used in investing activities I & E BT AR &R = /F 58 (255,751) (787,691)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES @& ;ZB iSRS RE

Principal portion of lease payments fA & Z A4 25 (627,312) (631,619)
Interest portion of lease payments 2 & 1 7 Fl| & &85 (41,281) (58,379)
Interest paid B 155 & (36,098) (60,806)
New interest-bearing borrowings ¥7i&&t 8 &5 351,256 933,450
Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings €&zt B & &% (670,819) (752,714)
Increase in restricted cash B #Z8 & &0 (16) (2,364)
Decrease in restricted cash =R 38 4 5 4> 6,726 4,173
Repurchase of shares & EIf% {5 (57,835) (11,983)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Y& 3F3% A% HE 25 (6,529) =
Net cash flows used in financing activities B & EEFT AR &R E/F5 (1,081,908) (580,242)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Re RReEBYMZEIMNFE 368,523 76,845
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year #1318 & MR & EY 1,039,345 954,318
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes & &R & &) )5/ & (12) 8,182
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

FRRE MRS EEY 25 1,407,856 1,039,345
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Notes to Financial Statements

B RS ERAR B AL

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AR REEEHR
INFORMATION
ANE (Cayman) Inc. (“the Company”) is an exempted company ZEEYVREBBERAR ([XAT]) A
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered address of the RASHEAMR I ZERE AR - K
Company is Sertus Chambers, P.O. Box 2547, Cassia Court Bay, N Al Z st A Sertus Chambers,
Grand Cayman. P.O. Box 2547, Cassia Court Bay,

Grand Cayman °

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, KRR EREERAR - REAN - ADQ A
the Company’s subsidiaries were mainly involved in the less-than- MBAREZHEFREARILME (ATH
truckload services (‘LTL Services”) in the People’s Republic of [ REZTERS ([ZERE]) -

China (hereafter, the “PRC”).

Information about subsidiaries MEARER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARARMEZEMBRRFBIEHINAT -

Place and date

of incorporation/ Issued ordinary | Percentage of equity

registration and shares/registered attributable to
place of operations share capital the Company Principal activities
R Ak BREER/

RRENREX LY kA | 2AREGRERAL | FEEREE
Direct | Indirect
EE 3
ANE Fast (Cayman) Inc. Cayman Islands US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
11 February 2015 50,000%7 RERR
REHE
201552118
ANE Fast Holding Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 = 100%  Investment holding
10 November 2014 50,000£ T REZR
ABARRES
20141174108
ANE Fast Logistics (Hong Kong) Limited (‘ANE Hong Kong') Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
25 Noverber 2014 10000787 RARR
&%
2014%11A25A
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2EIREEER (EF)
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARER (&)

Place and date

of incorporation/ Issued ordinary | Percentage of equity

registration and shares/registered attributable to

place of operations share capital the Company Principal activities
HMAY /By BREER/

RRSNRER LY A | ARREEREAAL | FEXBED

Direct | Indirect
E& 5

Shanghai Anneng Juchuang Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.* (@  PRC/Mainland China RMB3,669,914,940 100%  Express freight
(‘Shanghai ANE’) 1 June 2015 AR3,669,014,9407C servioes
HEZHRAREEERARAA ([ LERERA]) hE /hEn RERHK

201556718

Anneng Juchuang Supply Chain Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* ()  PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Express freight

TR RBREEEE () BRAR 10 July 2015 AEE150,000,0007 services
hE /ER RiERT
2015%7A108

Changshan Giant Truck Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd." ()  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 - 100%  Ling-haul
BURSENREEERERAT 25 September 2015 ARE1,500,000,0007 fransportation

hE /e BRES
2015F9A25A
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Notes to Financial Statements

B RS ERAR B AL

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Changshan Zhongchuang Transportation Co., Ltd.*
BUREIERERAR

Changshan Zhongyu Transportation Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.*
RUREENHEEEEERAT

Changshan Zhongying Transportation Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.*
FURRENERERERAR

Changshan Zhongrun Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.
BURBRERERERAT

Changshan Zhongka Logistics Industrial Park Investment Co., Ltd.*
BURFIREXEREARAR

Jurong Dingchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.*
DEREREERAA

(a)

(a)

Place and date

of incorporation/
registration and
place of operations

Y/ B
SEEDYE LSS

PRC/Mainland China

13 September 2016

hE /hERH
2016F9A13A
PRC/Mainland China
18 February 2020
hE /hER
2020%2 A 18A
PRC/Mainland China
23 October 2020
hE /ER
20206107 23R
PRC/Mainland China
23 June 2021
hE /hERH
2021%6A23A
PRC/Mainland China
8 December 2017
hE /hER
2017%12A8R
PRC/Mainland China
3 May 2017
hE /ER
2017%5H38

B RER (F)

Issued ordinary | Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company

shares/registered
share capital

BRTEER/

s

RVBS,000,000
ARH5,000,0007

RMB1,100,000,000

AK#1,100,000,0007C

RMB5,000,000
AE$5,0000007C

RVBS,000,000
ARH5,000,0007

RMB50,000,000
AEH50,000,0007

RMB100,000,000
A&%100,000,0007

L1

Direct

BR

REEH
Indirect
3
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

93.8%

1. 2R REEER (#)

Principal activities

TERHED

Line-haul
transportation

Line-haul
transportation

Ling-haul
transportation

Line-haul
transportation

Investment holding

REEK

Express freight
services

RERH
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Notes to Financial Statements

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Note:
(@) Registered as limited liability enterprises under PRC law.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired
certain assets through the acquisition of Jurong Dingchu Storage
and Transportation Co., Ltd. from independent third parties. Upon
completion of the acquisition, the acquired company became a
subsidiary of the Group.

The English names of these companies represent the best effort made
by the management of the Company to directly translate the Chinese
names as they have not registered any official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“‘HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

2.1

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

AAREEER (&)

B RER (F)
GEE
@ BEPEEEEMRAERELLE -

(b) #HZE2023F12A31HILFE @ AEBBEB
MBYE=FNEaORSEFEGRAR
KETETEE -2 WESHEZTKE  #
KRB ALEERKTEAR -

O HRZEFEATNLEEMEMNE T EXE
MW ERXERIIRARREEERENE
EPXEEMmE o

ERBRINEERRBAFEXEEXNTE
TEIBRARBEEFEIERLONA
NEIMBAR c EFERA - RUEEMKE
RAMFBEREEHERBRITE -

. BETBUER

MBRRDBREBEGHMAG ([EEAE
FHEAE]) RGN EEMBEREER (&
BUMBREEN ] (BREMAETEVHR
HEA - FEEER ([HFBEFHER )
K2R AR EE R BB H 4% B8 4R E T A
8 o

MBERERDIBRBELKALREE - AR
ERI c ZFHBHREAARE (AR

w125 BRRBIEBI - MEBEHDH

BE BT -
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Notes to Financial Statements

B

5 ¥ R Y &

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

2.
2.1

180

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated

from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

2. BT BE (&)
1R REE ()

mEEE (#)

WaEEkEtEEREE B TIEB
RAKESGRAEHAARIFEFER - B
BRI BFEFRERARER B
BMAEEKEARERFGELZEBANR
REAZHMBEERAE %% KA
X EBReREORGAKRE N EIE -

=B RIERAFER LI =BE S #EITESD
M—HXZBREMEE  AEEGEMNT
HEEEERHREKRES - —ZHMBARZ
BAERSEEEE (WORRKIESHE) -
AR X 55 °

i AN SR B 55 25 3 — SR Y B 8 ) 2 ¥ Wl 4
AIER IEREHEE (BERBE) 8
& B HIER RELRBFEE - R

RIIRBEAREZ AN BENEREK
PR AL E L Z BFREE - TR E
i 2 T e st R FERR 2 AN 5k B R 1A BB 0 12 1R
RAKBECERLENREEXABHRA
MAREESH DB ABmSREFNE (10
)
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Notes to Financial Statements

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide
non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy information in note 2
to the financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group’s financial statements.
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Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

2. BT BE (&)

LB BERRIESE (F)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between (b) BB e £ L8 (BA)BEBES

changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy
align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

(c) Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments, the Group
applied the initial recognition exception and did not recognise
a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences for transactions related to leases. The Group has
applied the amendments on temporary differences related to
leases as at 1 January 2022. Upon initial application of these
amendments, the Group recognised (i) a deferred tax asset
for all deductible temporary differences associated with lease
liabilities (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available),
and (i) a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences associated with right-of-use assets at 1 January
2022, with cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment
to the balances of retained profits and non-controlling
interests at that date. The quantitative impact on the financial
statements is summarised below.

AT 2RSS RRES 2 HO T
Al BT RERRMBBERTE
EAETHENEESHE - ZETA
MEBERERFERTD R ABE
UEtE et st ma R - BRAKHE
MDA RBREZFET AN -] &
FEIAHYRNEEOPHRRL EF
BB

Z= o
=

(c) BB G ERIFE125% (BRI A) BHE—

RBGELREER R (18895 Z
FHENT B GRERIE 1255
ROSMEREE - FEAFBEAR
EXRSEARMAENERZRN
X5 PINMEERREEE - Bt -
ERBRZERHGELENER ZHERE
RELRAEEE (EATFH BHERH
) ARERIAEE -

REREAZEEITARZH - N&EE
EERYIBRERMINMER - WEME
ERBRSNY N EEERELERE
EEREERIEEE AEBEER
202241 A1 B ERAEMEEMEBENE R
ZEMNZEFEIR  RERAERZE
BT AR - AEBER2022F1 A1H
HR()EBEEAERENA ENYE
RrEFENREERIEEE (HAFRMN
FERBLGEA) - K (i) B A E RS
W BEERGEREZENELEHRES
& MAFZEABRAREZARE
FIB RIS AR - HA
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Br R s R Mt et
31 DECEMBER 2023 2023412431 A
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

Impact on the consolidated statements of financial position:

2. BT BE (&)
L2 BRRINESE (F)

(c) (#&)

HEAMBARNKNTE

Increase/(decrease)
®mCad)

As at

1 January

2022

A 20235 R20224 R20224
128318 12 31 H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT ARBTT

Assets EE

Deferred tax assets (Note) HEEFEIBE E (M5E) (693) 13,784 4,972
Total non-current assets 3E7 )& EAE (693) 13,784 4,972
Total assets BEHEE (693) 13,784 4,972
Net assets & E )FE (693) 13,784 4,972
Equity

Retained profits (included in other reserves)

REFE (G AEAMRERE) (666) 13,255 4,781
Equity attributable to owners of the parent

BRARHE AEGER (666) 13,255 4,781
Non-controlling interests FE# fE#E 25 (27) 529 191
Total equity #8#E2S (693) 13,784 4,972

Note:  The deferred tax asset and the deferred tax liability arising
from lease contracts of the same subsidiary have been
offset in the statement of financial position for presentation
purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

Impact on the consolidated statements of profit or loss:

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

2. BT BE (&)
LB BERRIESE (F)

(c) (#&)

Increase/(decrease)
#h )
For the year ended 31

December
BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T | ARBTT

Income tax credit FT{5FiiK % 14,477 =
Income tax expense P8 F 2 - (8,812)
Profit for the year R FE (14,477) 8,812
Attributable to: LA S IEE(S -
Owners of the parent &F A @A A (13,922) 8,474
Non-controlling interests FE#ZE A% #E 25 (555) 338
(14,477) 8,812
Total comprehensive income for the year £ N2 E U5 4258 (14,477) 8,812
Attributable to: LA~ & IBE(S -
Owners of the parent & A FIHEA A (13,922) 8,474
Non-controlling interests FEZ % 25 (555) 338
(14,477) 8,812

The adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 did not have any
material impact on the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, other
comprehensive income and the consolidated statements of
cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

RME BT EAE 125 (BT A) 8
HZE2023F 2022412 A31 B ILE
ENEARERARE=IFTEAERGSE
BEARARBERRN - Htb2EKE R
SEReRERTETMERTE -
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

186

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately, which have been
reflected in the reconciliation disclosed in note 23 to the
financial statements. However, they did not have any material
impact on the overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the related
deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting under HKAS 12.

(d) Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two

Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from
the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for
the affected entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two
income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in
periods in which the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has not yet applied the
temporary exception during the current year because the entities
comprising the Group are operating in jurisdictions in which the
Pillar Two tax law has not yet been enacted or substantively
enacted. The Group will disclose known or reasonably estimable
information related to its exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in
the consolidated financial statements by the time when the Pillar
Two tax law has been enacted or substantively enacted and will
disclose separately the current tax expense or income related to
Pillar Two income taxes when it is in effect.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. FETEER (&)
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EMEERERNEARAMY

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in the financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS Sale or Contribution of Assets
28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)' 4
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)' 4

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements’
HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

S No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

& As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

TR &2 Al
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2. St EER (&)
23 EMEERERNEEM

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
23ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

188

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
23ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with early application permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier
application of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual reporting
period and interim disclosures. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements
to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,

31 December.

allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the

Goodwill

relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial liabilities at fair value at the
end of the reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. TR (&)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 B KRETBUR (88)
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued) NABEE (&)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in AREFRMERBATRIBEREEE D

the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to BRI EAABEZGEEN  UES

measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable FRAETERG ABELREERIER

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. T A] Ry A BUE o

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or FiAARBERAMEREASSHIFEY

disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair BEREBENERAY AABESSEER

value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level TBEACEELREABEIRILTAR

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: BEELSE:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

B - ENORAEARERNEIRTSRE (REHR)

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

FR - ERYOREEEMEBEAZIER (ERIER) WRERNBARE L BEKN

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

FR - ERUOAREMEMSBEAZAARENSERREANE BERE

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial i@ E M EERRG B RERI I EENE
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether (ERE  AEEBBRESREHRIHIGHHD
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by # (HERE AL EBESSEENM=BEEANS
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is (K@ R A S80S ) B FE 2 A XA TRIZHER o
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

each reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than deferred
tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

196

(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
19% - 32%
19% - 32%
19% - 32%
19% - 32%
Over the shorter of lease terms

Motor vehicles

Office equipment

Electronic equipment

Operating equipment

Leasehold improvements
and estimated useful lives

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through
a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this
to be the case, the asset must be available for immediate sale
in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such assets and its sale must be highly
probable.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis over the
following useful economic lives:

Software 5 years
Franchise 5 years
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right
to use the underlying assets. At inception or on reassessment
of a contract that contains a lease component and non-lease
component(s), the Group adopts the practical expedient to
separate non-lease component(s) and to account for the lease
component and the associated non-lease component(s) (e.g.,
property management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:.

Buildings
Land use rights

1 to 10 years
50 years
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2. TR (88)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

AEEERABA (B)

(b) Lease liabilities

(b) HEARE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

204

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made.
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future

In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is

lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of machinery and equipment that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

2. BT BE (&)
24 EREFTHER (8)

TREERE (&)
BEx

AT EEEAREKRD IAKED AT
HAREARERDFENATRE AN
HEHRUFBEREHNEEMS @ AEEK
AELEAAERREERK - REBE
* o ARBEYEERERRBRNEL R
MREHEANRBERAFENRRAEE
BAERBERE ASECDREBEESL
FEERKKR  BUBGREE  WHRER
AR ERTEEREZRQERIBIELRE -

TRAE

TREBERNTEIAF OB R/BBIRDEIN
RERAFEEzEREE  ERRER -
ENSRIBRIABRE R T AEER/E T
AEM{TET R (RERAME) -

EERBENSRATEERER - M
BEREEFAREMNKIE - BINRER
JRIER ZRA »

AEEZERABEBERERES MEMEMNR
TALA Rt BARTT R LM AE K -

ZEMREEBRAT o 2023 F1R 211




Notes to Financial Statements

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

2.
2.4

212

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables,
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company and the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis and net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

e when the deferred tax assets relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group
will be entitled in exchange for transferring the services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

The Group is mainly involved in the business of providing LTL
Services to its customers and normally charges fees for (a)
transportation and dispatch services, including sorting and line-
haul transportation services and dispatch and arrangement for
dispatch services, and (b) value-added services. Revenue from
contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or
services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Transportation and dispatch services

The Group provides sorting and line-haul transportation
services between its sorting centres and then dispatch the
goods for its customers. The Group recognises revenue from
transportation services and dispatch services over time as
customers receive the benefit of the services as the goods
are transported from one location to another. As such,
revenue from transportation services and dispatch services
is recognised proportionally as goods are transported from
one location to another and the related costs are recognised
as incurred. The Group uses an output method of progress
based on time-in-transit as it best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer. The Group also provides arrangement
for dispatch services from which the revenue is recognised at
the point in time upon completion of the services.

Value-added services

The Group also provides value-added services to customers,
such as sales of freight related consumables, insurance and
operation management and logistics technology services.
Revenues are recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods is transferred to the customer or recognised over
time or at a point in time upon completion of the services.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related services to the
customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note
32 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards,
but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are
reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions
attached to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where
an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final
dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
different from the Company’s functional currency, the United
States dollar (“US$”). As the major revenues and assets of the
Group are derived from operations in Chinese Mainland, RMB
is chosen as the presentation currency to present the financial
statements. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of
the reporting period, for entities whose functional currencies
are different from the Group’s presentation currency, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of these entities which arise throughout the
year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
logistics industry, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note
20 to the financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB131,527,000 (2022: RMB131,527,000). Further details are
included in note 17 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December
2023 was RMB100,635,000 (2022: RMB283,318,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2023 was
RMB400,414,000 (2022: RMB1,847,174,000). Further details are
included in note 23 to the financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates
(such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of the reporting period. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

Fair value measurement of share-based payments

The Group has set up the 2015 equity incentive plan (the “2015
Plan”), the 2016 equity incentive plan (the “2016 Plan”) in 2015,
the 2021 equity incentive plan (the “2021 Plan”), and 2023 share
incentive scheme (the “2023 Scheme”), and granted options
and restricted share units (‘RSUs”) to the Company’s directors,
the Group’s employees and consultants. The fair values of the
options are determined using the binomial option-pricing model at
the grant dates. Significant estimates on assumptions, including
the underlying equity value, discount rate, expected volatility,
and dividend vyield, are made by the board of directors of the
Company. The fair values of the RSUs are determined using
valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow method
and the equity allocation model. Further details are included in
note 32 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4

No operating segment information is presented as the Group’s
revenue and reported results during the reporting period, and
the Group’s total assets as at the end of the reporting period
were derived from one single operating segment, i.e., provision of
transportation and related services.

Geographical information

As the Group generates all of its revenues and all the non-current
assets are allocated in the PRC during the reporting period, no
geographical segments are presented.

Information about major customers

The Group has a large number of customers and no revenue from

a single customer is accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s
total revenue for the reporting period.
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5. REVENUE 5. It A

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADITIT

2023 2022
20234 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT

Revenue from contracts with customers: ZF &AW A -
Less-than-truckload Z#&

Transportation & &j 5,461,469 5,339,150
Dispatch JK#k 2,590,061 2,282,851
Value-added services #E1E R 1,796,889 1,670,350
Subtotal /Nt 9,848,419 9,292,351
Full-truckload &

Transportation & # 68,480 42 580
Total #5t 9,916,899 9,334,931
() Disaggregated revenue information (i) ZHFWAER

2023 2022
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT

Timing of revenue recognition &2 UK A Y85 R
Over time: 7 —EREFRT

Transportation & &i 5,529,949 5,381,730
Dispatch services k& IR 75 2,590,061 2,282,851
Value-added services B iR 98,278 104,974
Subtotal /N5t 8,218,288 7,769,555
At a point in time: R —RRE2E

Value-added services 18R 7% 1,698,611 1,565,376
Total revenue from contracts with customers & F & #4805 A 9,916,899 9,334,931
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Transportation and dispatch services

The Group provides sorting and line-haul transportation
services between its sorting centres and then dispatches
the goods for its customers. The performance obligations for
transportation and dispatch services are satisfied over time
when the goods are transported from one location to another.
Performance obligations are generally short-term in nature
with transit days being less than a week for each shipment.

Payment in advance is normally required.
Value-added services

The performance obligations for value-added services are
satisfied upon delivery of the related consumables or upon
completion of the services. Payment in advance is normally
required.

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
during the reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the respective periods:
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5. A (88)
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2023
20234

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBTIT

RMB’000
ARBT T

Transportation and dispatch services & ) 2 )k i iR 7 106,038 81,349
Value-added services 3 1{& R7% 13,772 11,861
Total #5t 119,810 93,210
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/ 6. Hit AR Wz (8
(LOSSES), NET B) FE
An analysis of other income and gains/(losses), net is as follows: Hiw ARz (&BE)  FEITW
T

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT

Provision for impairment of J{({& 7% &
— Trade receivables and other receivables

— B 5 RBUGRIE K H fh fE I kIR (19,604) (18,166)
— Property, plant and equipment — #1% - = N &1 (11,182) (8,896)
— Assets classified as held for sale — DA ELENEE (13,463) =
~ Goodwill — P& 17 - (14,726)
Government grants* EX AT 8 B 20,170 21,078
Foreign exchange differences, net SNEZ=%58 - F58 2,440 (2,173)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
HEURAABEFEAAZEH A AEHEENEREEN RS 12,137 6,771
Gain/(loss) on disposal of long-term assets
BEERPEENKE (HE) 31,945 (13,985)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &k B A Bl UES 33 - 7,371
Gains on weighted deduction of value-added tax**
RED NGO Yas 135,914 57,446
Interest income F 2 UL A 19,140 15,120
Others EAth (52,203) (58,424)
Total #5t 125,294 (8,584)
*  Government grants mainly represent various supports awarded by the BN EBREMABNAIBASEEE
local governments to support the Group’s operation. EmMRTHSELSE -
**  Weighted deduction of value-added tax (“VAT”) mainly represents = SEERE ([EER]) MR EZ2HER AR
the utilised weighted deduction of VAT during the current reporting 2 HARS 5 A E R A NS FORREE -
period.
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/
(LOSSES), NET (Continued)

Under the Announcement on Deepening the Reforms of Value-
added Tax Policy issued by the MOF, the STA and the GACC on
20 March 2019, taxpayers in the productive service industries
were allowed to deduct the VAT payable by 10% of the deductible
input tax from 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2022.

Under the Announcement on Clarifying the Value-added Tax
Reduction and Exemption Policy for Small-scale VAT Taxpayers
and Other Policies issued by the MOF and the STA on 9 January
2023, taxpayers in the productive service industries were allowed
to deduct the VAT payable by 5% of the deductible input tax from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023.

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

Hg A\ R Wz~ (85
8]) - FHE(E)

RIBRMEGES - BEBRREHREEN2019
FIA208 BHHICERRLILETRESR
BRI ALY B2019F4 A1 HE2022
F12A318 » AFEEMERBEMT AR
REH A HETBHREMET10% - HRE
IILETEE -

R B AR R AR T 48 HR 2023 F1 HO A %
o9 P BRI (B B/ N AR AR A AR 2 38
BEHRERRHLNE)  B2023F1HA1HE
F2023F 128318 AL EMREE
T AIRBRE P HE BB BB A ET 5% 1K
BE A IG AT EE o

7. MR A

BABERADATANT

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

RMB’'000
ARBTT

RMB’000
ARBT T

Interest on bank loans and other loans 8175 7 % B ith & %Al & 37,621 61,820
Interest on lease liabilities FAE & &F| & 41,281 58,379
Total #5t 78,902 120,199

8. FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF FINANCIAL 8. UAAEBETEBEESE

ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Fair value changes of financial products 4 &l 2 & ) A Jo (8 {8 & &)

AEHEENEMEEND
REEZH

2023 2022
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT

11,249 10,081
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9.

234

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 9.

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

BAIADE,(BE)

AEBOBAFE (BE) 2% (G
A) TFIEIE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Cost of revenue* & SR A 7,430,277 7,331,152
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3 W& LR EITE 15 436,530 437,755
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ EEEITE 16 570,825 621,075
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hfih 2 & &= # 44 18 8,823 22,301
Fair value changes of financial products & B2 @8I A 7 B E & E) 8 (11,249) (10,081)
Government grants B B 6 (20,170) (21,078)
Auditors’ remuneration # £t &l Bl & 5,080 5,000
Employee benefit expenses
(including directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration):
BIRNASZ (BEESERESHE) -
Wages, salaries and allowances T& - # & K28, 595,527 610,185
Pension scheme contributions and other welfare
RIS EIHR R EMRR 40,345 57,585
Share-based payment expenses %15 3z - 5 sz 102,560 191,344
Total 45t 738,432 859,114
Impairment losses on trade receivables and other receivables
B 5 FE WK IE I HAh e W IE R B & 1B 19,604 18,166
Impairment of property, plant and equipment #12 = KRR E 11,182 8,896
Impairment of assets classified as held for sale 73 A EL & 2 EERIE 13,463 =
Impairment of goodwill 725 - 14,726
Lease expenses*™ & ™ 16 64,165 93,621
Utility fee 2FASEEERA 41,764 44,073
Interest income & B UL A 6 (19,140) (15,120)
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets & H b # & EH Eia - 1,579
Gain/(loss) on disposal of long-term assets &R EER W (E1E) 6 (31,945) 13,985
Gains on weighted deduction of value-added tax & 1B ANtk Uk 28 (135,914) (57,446)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & ki&E A R U - (7,371)

The amount of cost of revenue excludes those included in the
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-
of-use assets, employee benefit expenses, lease expenses and utility
fee.

**  The Group applies the available practical expedients of HKFRS 16
wherein it applies the short-term lease exemption to leases with a
lease term that ends within 12 months from the lease commencement
date.
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION

Mr. Wang Yongjun was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 31 July 2014 and resigned on 9 January 2023.

Ms. Sha Sha was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 30 June 2023.

Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 20 November 2023.

Mr. Zhang Yinghao was appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company on 4 August 2023.

Mr. Wei Bin was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 31 March 2028.

Ms. Li Dan was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 22 March 2021 and resigned on 30 March 2023.

Mr. Lam Man Kwong was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 October 2021 and
resigned on 20 November 2023.

Mr. Wang Jian was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 11 February 2021 and resigned on 4 August 2023.

Br RS SRR MY EE
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WESERESTRAEME

THERLER2014F7A31BEZE AR
NRIMITESE © WR2023F1 FOHBT -

DB+ 2023F6 A0 B ELZ T AKRR
R IENITES -

HEBIEER2023F11 H20BEZEA
NATVEYIEHITES -

RMEHAN2023F8 H4BEZ T ARA
AISEMITESE ©

RS AN 2023F3 A31 HEZ T AKRRD
AISEMITEE °

R HR2021 FE3 22 B EZ T AARR
RIJEHITESE - W N 2023FE3 A30H &
F o

M H R ER2021F10 A 0B EREA
ARRVEIIERNITES » WH2023F 11 A
20 HEE -

TG ER2021F2 411 BEZEAAR
AIIEMITES - WHN2023F8 A4 BEHT -
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10.

236

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

WESKESTRAEMNS

(%)

BIEEMRE - HERQ RGP FE383(1)
(@ (b) * (C)RMIEARAT (HEEEF
=ER) RAFE2HEENEERTRRITH
ABFEANEEIAT

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Fees #& 1,588 1,326
Other emoluments: E i :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 28 R EWiEF 4,065 8,826

Share-based payment expenses A% {7 sz {5 B sk 15,883 7,425

Pension scheme contributions &K% 51215 111 165

Termination benefits & i & 7 - 12,700

Subtotal /Nt 20,059 29,116

Total 485t 21,647 30,442

During the year, certain directors were granted restricted share
units, in respect of their services to the Group, under the equity
incentive scheme of the Company, further details of which are
set out in note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value of
restricted share units, which has been recognised in the statement
of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 0.EENESTHRAEMS

REMUNERATION (Continued) (&)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BUFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FAZMNFEIERTESTHHRES N
the year were as follows: T
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Mr. Geh George Shalchu BB 4 453 442
Mr. Lam Man Kwong #R3C I 5 4 403 442
Mr. Li Wilson Wei 2= #E %t & 453 442
Ms. Sha sha %2+ 227 -
Mr. Hung Cheung Fuk 4@ 54 52 =
Total 45t 1,588 1,326
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FAWEENBILIERITESHEAD
non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil). B4 (20224 : Z) o
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 10.EERESTHAEME

REMUNERATION (Continued) (&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors b)BITEE - FHTEERES
and the chief executive ITBAE

Salaries, Share-based Pension
allowances and payment scheme

benefits in kind expenses contributions Total

Fe RER

e B0EA BixMEx | BARTEHR fast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTR AR®TR AR®T R AR®T R ARETT

2023 20235
Executive directors: #{7€% :
Mr. Wang Yongjun TEE %4 - - - - -
Mr. Jin Yun %4 - 1,499 4,189 43 5,731
Non-executive directors: FEHI{TES :
Mr. Chen Weihao &% 54 - - - - -
Mr. Wang Jian Z&I%4£ - - - - -
Ms. Li Dan 2%+ - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Yinghao R0 Z %4 - - - - -
Mr. Wei Bin 38185 4 - - - - -
Subtotal /\st - - - - -
Executive director and Chief executive:

HTESRBRITRAR
Mr. Qin Xinghua R EZ %4 - 2,566 11,604 68 14,328
Total 4t - 4,065 15,883 11 20,059
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 10.EEERESTHAEME

REMUNERATION (Continued) (&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors b) HITEE - FHTESERES
and the chief executive (Continued) THAER (&)
Salaries, Share-based Pension
allowances and payment scheme Termination
Fees | benefits in kind expenses contributions benefits Total
=
e REWEHN | BOXNFEX | RikS:2IHK BB &5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETT
2022 2022
Executive directors; H{TE% :
Mr. Wang Yongjun TEE L4 - 3,106 2,575 63 - 5,744
Mr. Zhu Jianhui SIS A4 - 2,248 2,146 25 12,700 17,119
Mr. Jin Yun %4 - 369 129 14 - 512
Subtotal /\5t - 5,723 4,850 102 12,700 23,375

Non-executive directors: 3F/TES :
Mr. Chen Weihao BB &% 4 - = - - - _
Mr. Wang Jian TRI%4 = = - - - _
Ms. Li Dan Zf 2+ - = = - - _
Subtotal /)it = = - - _ _
Chief executive:

PTESRFRTYASR :
Mr. Qin Xinghua ZEE % 4+ - 3,103 2,575 63 = 5,741
Total £zt - 8,826 7,425 165 12,700 29,116
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

240

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid or
receivable in respect of that person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertakings.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.

No emolument was paid or payable by the Group to directors or
past directors as an inducement to join or compensation for loss
of office during the year.

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
their controlled bodies corporate and connected entities
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

No consideration provided to or receivable by third parties for
making available directors’ services subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

NEBRRESHHMET

The five highest paid employees during the year included a RAFE AT MNEIRE—RE
director and the chief executive (2022: two directors and the chief ERERSITHRAE (2022F : MBEESZER
executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 10. &ETHAR) - HEFMFBESMRHEE10 -
Details of the remaining three (2022: two) highest paid employees RBEHRE - BT =% (2022F : ME) &
during the reporting period are as follows: SEFME THFBLOT ¢
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
N o AREEFIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind # % - 285 R EY1EF 5,525 3,577
Share-based payment expenses A% 17 sz -5 52 11,023 8,966
Pension scheme contributions R k& 5T 2% 204 84
Total 45t 16,752 12,627

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

FHNTFUTSHENIEEERSFME T
RABOT ¢

2023 2022

20234 2022 £

HK$2,500,000 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,000 7T & 3,000,000 7T 1 =
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 77T %= 4,500,000 7T, - 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 JT & 5,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 i 7T % 10,000,000 7T - 1
HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000 12,000,001 7 7t & 12,500,000 7T 1 =
Total #5t 3 2

No amount was paid during the year or payable by the Group to
any one of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or compensation for loss of office during the year.

FA-AEEMERAIERESHFMALH
B A ] — iz 32 A 3 FE (S E (T SRIRVE AR DA
SkBERLAHIE -
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VA
12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. BB
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman lIslands, the BERASHESNHRARAL  NEEEA
Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands. ERSHEHMEMMAEE -
No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as there was no HRRREHETENEERIEREE &
assessable profit earned in or derived from Hong Kong during the B ERTAE - BB E AN ST
reporting period. TRREE -
All of the Group’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC, except for AEBRFEAMOABERBE LR (B=
certain subsidiaries which enjoy a tax rate of 2.5% or 5%, are H2.5%5% 5 KK E TH B AR B
subject to PRC enterprise income tax (‘EIT”) at a rate of 25%. 25% M RGN B2 TSR ([ AT
BsHl) -
2023 2022
20234 20224
2]Y[=X0]0]0] RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
(Restated)
($&=%)
Current income tax BNHAFT1S 7 2,873 757
Adjustments in respect of prior years @ FE FHE (5,643) 577
Deferred income tax (note 23) IEIEFT1SHL (FI7E23) 147,380 118,002
Tax charge for the year £ AT 1B H 144,610 119,336
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12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12. R8BI X (&R)

A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to profit/(loss) before ERREFEANEREERETER
tax at the statutory rate applicable in Chinese Mainland to the tax AIFE(BER) HHES HERERHE
expense at the effective tax rates is as follows: FFEMRIERTOBENT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBT T
(Restated)
(E75)
Profit/(loss) before tax B ATHIE /(EE) 551,855 (281,119)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% % E B R 25% 5+ & 1 Fi 18 137,964 (70,280)
Lower tax rates enacted by local authorities & i 55 #5488 i & F &K F7 & 33,971 29,786
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods
3B T BAR A B ER RS TE A R (5,643) 577
Adjustments in respect of deferred tax of previous periods
PR 8 1 HA ] 0 R ST A TR G B (20,897) 89,675
Expenses not deductible for tax A #0155 % 130 530
Tax losses utilised from previous periods &%+ 2/ 2 &) A 7 18 &5 18 (4,668) (41,276)

Tax losses not recognised/(recognition of tax
losses not recognised in prior years), net

AERBEER (BREFFERERANTEER) - 58 3,753 110,324

Tax charge for the year at the Group’s effective rate

AEBREBRBERFTENFARIBS 144,610 119,336
13. DIVIDEND 13. R &

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of AR EETEZRAFEREERRE ©

any dividend in respect of the year.
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14.

244

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE HWELAREEREREEAE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEREF (EE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts BRELAERN (BE)EBDHIBRESA
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary AEERERFTEAEBGEERNBE (&
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of B)RFABBEITE AR METHE
ordinary shares of 1,156,499,102 (2022: 1,162,605,486) in issue 1,156,499,102 % (20224 : 1,162,605,486
during the year. BR)EE -

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue HE20283F N2022F 12 A1 HILFE -
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. REBWEREFTETE ST @R o

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are BREARBERF (BE) HER T
based on: BIEFTHE ¢

2023
20235
RMB’000

AR®TR

Earnings/(loss) &%/ (&1#8)
Earnings/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
BAREBRERSEARGRTN /(BE) 392,379

2022
20224
RMB’000
AREF T
(RENEET))
(& E7)

(399,952)

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation

ARG EERERBFNENE BT AR METFHE 1,156,499,102  1,162,605,486
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) & &F| /(&) (AR T) 0.34 (0.34)
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.¥% - BER®E

Electronic Motor Office | Operating Leasehold |Construction

Buildings | equipment vehicles | equipment | equipment | improvements | in progress Total

g7 | E1kHk RE | WAERE | RER% | RENRRE | HRIR ait

RMB'000 |  RMB'000 | RMB'000 [  RMB'000 |  RMB'000 RMB'000 |  RMB'000 | RMB'000
ARRTR | AR®TR | ARMTR | ARWTR | ARMTR | ARMTR [ ARMTR [ ARMTR

31 December 2023 2023%12 5318
At 1 January 2023: W2023E1A1R

Cost J(A& 182,988 48,165 2,185,087 32,594 31,230 295,906 7,761 2,789,731

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

TR (7,213) (42,308) (714,403) (15,248) (13,670) (262,331) - (1,055,173)
Net carrying amount S F(E 175,775 5,857 1,470,684 17,346 23,560 33,575 7,161 1,734,558

At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

20231 A1 IR EsrERRE 175,775 5857 1,470,684 17,346 23,560 33,575 7761 1,734,558
Addtions FE 115,537 43 7,851 813 3,617 79 13,002 141,952
Disposals {f & - (324) (73,254) (211) (3,478) - - (11,26)
Depreciation provided during the year FMzF 27 & (12,508) (5903 (384,076) (1,484) (6,232) (25,337) - (436,530)
Impairment provided during the year £ M:HEiRE - - (11,182) - - - - (11,18
Tranfers &2 5,802 - - - - 12,559 (18,361) -

At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

R2023%F12A31 R - MBR:HTERGE 284,516 43 1,009,123 16,464 17,467 21,516 2,402 1,351,531
At 31 December 2023: 52023512 A318 :

Cost f & 304,327 308M 2,024,021 30,612 28,889 281,475 2402 2,711,767

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

ZTERAE (19,811) (39,798)  (1,015,097) (14,148) (11,429) (259,959) - (1,360,235)
Net carrying amount S F(E 284,516 43 1,009,123 16,464 17,467 21,516 2,402 1,351,531
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.¥% BERZE (&)
(Continued)

Electronic Motor Office Operating Leasehold | Construction

Buildings equipment vehicles equipment equipment | improvements | in progress
g7 STk E | BAZERE meRE | REnxEe kEIR

RMB'OOO |  RMB'0O0 |  RMB'OO0 |  RMB'O0O |  RMB'00O |  RMB'00O [  RMB'00O [  RMB'000
ARRTT | ARRTR | ARBTRL | ARMTR | ARETR [ ARBTR | ARMTRL | ARETR

31 December 2022 202212 5318
At 1 January 2022: 120221 1R :

Cost B 111,944 49,576 2,029,238 32,964 34121 274,578 3,437 2,535,858

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

ZiERAE (1,379) (39,936) (385,635) (12,658 (8,995) (229,911) = (678,514)
Net carrying amount S F(E 110,565 9,640 1,643,603 20,306 25,126 44,667 3,437 1,857,344

At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

R2020F1A18 - IR EREE 110,565 9640 1,643,603 20,306 25,126 44,667 3437 1,857,344
Addtions & 110,200 1259 234,675 722 7310 - 27,589 381,815
Disposals (H& - (733) (14,816) (556) (3,229) - - (19,334)
Disposals of subsidiaries i EHBEA A (38,616) - - - - - = (38,616)
Depreciation provided during the year R RHTE (8,311) (4,309) (383,882) (3,126) (5,707) (32,420) - (437,755)
Impairment provided during the year £R3tHRE - - (8,896) - - - = (8,896)
Transfers €32 1937 - - - - 21,38 (23,266) -

At 31 December 2022, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

R2022%F12A31 B - MBE:HITERAE 175,775 5857 1470684 17,346 23,560 33,575 7761 1734558
At 31 December 2022: #2022 128318 :

Cost 7 182,988 48,165 2,185,087 32,504 37,230 295,906 7761 2,789,731

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

ZIHEREE (7.213) (42,308) (714,403) (15,248) (136700  (262,331) - (1,085,179)
Net carrying amount B ET;#(E 175,775 5857 1,470,684 17,346 23,560 33,575 7761 1,734558
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

In accordance with HKFRS 5, assets held for sale with a carrying
amount of RMB43,635,000 were written down to their fair value of
RMB30,172,000, resulting in a loss of RMB13,463,000, which was
included in profit or loss for the year (2022: Nil). Assets classified
as held for sale with a net book value of RMB25,037,000 were
disposed of by the Group during the reporting period.

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s motor vehicles
with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB140,508,000
(2022: RMB657,236,000) were pledged to secure bank and other
borrowings (note 28).

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s buildings with a
net carrying amount of approximately RMB70,775,000 (2022:
RMB107,147,000) were pledged to secure bank and other
borrowings (note 28).

Certain items of the property, plant and equipment were no
longer in use by the Group, which indicated there was potential
impairment. Management provided impairment for the items
when their carrying amounts exceed their net realisable values.
The net realisable values are determined by the Group with
reference to the prevailing market conditions and existing prices,
less applicable disposal cost at the end of the reporting period.
As at 31 December 2023, the impairment of property, plant and
equipment was RMB18,602,000 (2022: RMB12,674,000).

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 A

15. 9135 - BB KRR (&)

BIBEEAMBRELERFEST - FIEFEE
EMRmEARK 43,635,000 CE HRE
HERAREEARKES30,172,0007T © EEG
AREEE=EEEARK13,463,0007T
(20226 : &) - REERBFEHALET
REFEE A AR 25,037,000 T K E

M2023F12 A31H  AEEEREFED
B AR140,508,0007T (20224F : AR
#657,236,0007T) KA T REEEMIER
RIT R E M S RA LR (FizE28) -

202312 A31H » AEBEREFEL
BARET70,775,0007T (2022F : AR
107,147,0007T) & THEFEERERR
TREMMBEROER (H15E28) o

REETHERAYE  BEREKENET
BHE  ExAFLELTHE EHEEEE
BRAEAERFER  EREEBEYUZERE
BRtiEmEEE - JERFEDBAE
E2EZRTMARRBERETE  WHAR
FHERMBREANEEZEXA - R2023
F12A318 % BEERXERER
AR #18,602,0007T (20224 : AR
12,674,0007T) °
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16.

248

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases certain buildings for its offices and sorting hubs.
The movements in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities during
the reporting period are as follows:

(a) Right-of-use assets:

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

16. HE
AEBEREAEA
AEEHEETEFERIETRS BT
Do MG EARLERAEARE
HESHMT
(@) (EAEERE :

AREBEAEEENERERFRE
EERMT

Land use
Buildings rights Total
BF | LhEmAE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTIT | ARBTI| AR¥TRT

As at 1 January 2022 7202241818 1,214,229 11,305 1,225,534
Additions RE 489,958 - 489,958
Disposal of subsidiaries H & B A Al - (5,856) (5,856)
Depreciation charge #T& & F (620,854) (221) (621,075)
Termination #%1F (106,050) - (106,050)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

72022412 31 H K%2023%F1A1H 977,283 5,228 982,511
Additions R E 707,213 30,526 737,739
Depreciation charge #7% & (569,658) (1,167) (570,825)
Termination #% 1+ (202,256) - (202,256)
As at 31 December 2023 722023412 A31H 912,582 34,587 947,169
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16. #HE& (&)
AEBEREEA (H)

16. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities: b) HEEE :

FAHEABNREERZEST RN

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

T

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETTT

Carrying amount at 1 January 71 81 B EREE 1,032,417 1,234,115

New leases #FHA] 707,213 489,958
Accretion of interest recognised during the year

FAERON SR 41,281 58,379

Payments {3k (630,414) (641,422)

Termination #% 1+ (240,721) (108,613)

Carrying amount at 31 December 712 A31 H R BRI (B 909,776 1,032,417

Analysed into: fEIR T~ 4T :
Current portion i EIEED 368,424 522,058
Non-current portion JEREN =5 541,352 510,359

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 40 & & EH F B S TR B &R F M 40 F #
to the financial statements. 2 o
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) EEEEREEA (&)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (c) Bz ER T EH 2 884
are as follows: K

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Interest on lease liabilities FHE & &EF & 41,281 58,379
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets f# B EENITE E A 570,825 621,075
Expense relating to short term leases
B HIE OB 64,165 93,621
Disposal gains on termination of right-of-use assets
RIMERAREENRERS (32,403) (2,563)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss
RIS HERNESHE 643,868 770,512
(d) The total cash outflow for leases and the future cash outflows (0) HE®RER ML S & E R RFIB D
relating to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed HEBBAMNARKREREED IR
in notes 34(c) and 36(b), respectively, to the financial T RER M 5E34(c) K2 36(b) R I B °
statements.
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. #HE (&)
The Group as a lessor AEBEREHBEAA
The Group leases its motor vehicles and buildings under operating AEERBEECEEHERHEHEER RS
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require REF HEKRR —MEKEBAZMN
the lessees to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised RES AKEFHNERNESKAR
by the Group during the year was RMB17,290,000 (2022: AR®17,290,0007T (20224 : AR
RMB15,039,000). 15,039,0007T) °
31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable R2023F 12 A31 8 © KEE R F B H &
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating BAZTH A BEEEEHER RS H
leases with its lessees are as follows: ERHRTBEENTAT -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Within one year 1 & 5,722 18,845
After one year but within two years 1F#&{EE2F R 1,550 6,536
After two years but within three years 2 &8 34 X 836 1,826
After three years but within four years 35 1BE45F R 691 941
After four years but within five years 4 {BE5F R 96 753
After five years 541& 639 801
Total 485t 9,534 29,702
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17. GOODWILL 17. 52

RMB’000
ARETT

At 1 January 2022: 722022F1 H18 :
Cost A7 146,253
Accumulated impairment ZzHEE -

Net carrying amount BREFE 146,253
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated impairment
202291 A1 HEIAA - FIBR REHRE 146,253
Impairment during the year % AR & (14,726)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2022
2022412 A31 B A R AR FE 131,527
At 31 December 2022: 742022412 H31H :
Cost A 146,253
Accumulated impairment Z51HEE (14,726)
Net carrying amount BREFE 131,527

Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated impairment
7202341 A1 BRUBA © kR 25HRE 131,527
Impairment during the year % AJE{E -

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2023

R2023412 A 31 B A & BRERE 131,527
At 31 December 2023: 742023F12 A31H :
Cost XK 146,253
Accumulated impairment Z5TRE{E (14,726)
Net carrying amount BRI F{E 131,527
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of Changshan Giant Truck
Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. on 30 September 2018
and the acquisition of Changshan Zhongka Logistics Industrial
Park Investment Co., Ltd. on 3 August 2021. Goodwill acquired
through business combinations is allocated to the following cash-
generating units for impairment testing:

e LTL Services cash-generating unit; and
e | ogistic industrial park services cash-generating unit.
LTL Services cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the LTL Services cash-generating
unit was determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections was 13% (2022: 13%) and
the cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated
using a growth rate of 2.2% (2022: 2.3%), which was the same as
the long-term average growth rate of the LTL Services industry.

Logistic industrial park services cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the logistic industrial park services
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 12%
(2022: 12%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.2% (2022: 2.3%), which
was the same as the long-term average growth rate of the logistic
industrial park services industry.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 A

17. 5928 (8)

R (E R

BERE2018F9 A0 KEFE LR REN
HEEERAR AR RN2021F8 A3HIK
BELREYREEREEBR AR ME
o BBEBEHESHNEESBEZE T
HeEEEMIERBR

s TERBHESELEN: N
s YVREXERBRESELEN -
FEREHE T EL ET

TERBRSELABVNITKRESERIR
BafEEENEN A FHMBEERN
RenedilstEnERAEEEE - &
ARBRESREBANITREE13% (2022
F:13%) AFHEMNRESREHA
22%HIER K (20224 : 2.3%) (T
B EHETERBITEAORAFEEERE
MR o

Y ERERIE R 2 EEE

MREXBERGESELSE THAIKES
HEBRERREEENEANAFHIK
BEMNBRSREBAFTENEREEE
E o BARREREEMNNITEEAE12%
(20224 : 12%) * AFHEMNRERER
F12.2% (20224 : 2.3%) g R RETTIHE
B aRYREXBRREENRE TS
REHRR -
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17.

254

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Logistic industrial park services cash-generating unit (Continued)

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
units (“CGUSs”) are as follows:

LTL Services

SRR

2023
20235
RMB’000
AR®T R

113,910

2022
20224
RMB'000
ARETTL

Carrying amounts of goodwill FE R AE{E 113,910

17. 528 (&)
R AR ()
Y EREE wEL BT (&)

SRERSEEEN (REBELER]) M
HEEESBENT :

Logistic industrial park
services

REXERE

2023
2023%
RMB’000
ARET T

17,617

2022
20224
RMB'000
ARETTL

17,617

2023
PUPRES
RMB’000
ARETT

131,527

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARETTL

131,527

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
CGUs. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate is
based on senior management’s expectations and does not exceed
the long-term average growth rate for the industry relevant to the
cash-generating unit.

The values assigned to the key assumption are consistent with
external information sources.
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31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1. EMELEE

Software Franchise Total

Lo BErEg et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTI| ARBTT| ARBTT

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated amortisation

R2023F1 A1 BRIKA - HBR RETEEH 10,190 3,632 13,822
Amortisation provided during the year A T2 & 54 (5,503) (3,320) (8,823)
At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H 4,687 312 4,999
At 31 December 2023: 72023412 A31H
Cost A 73,970 46,521 120,491
Accumulated amortisation 2 &5t & (69,283) (46,209) (115,492)
Net carrying amount BREFE 4,687 312 4,999

31 December 2022 2022F128531H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated amortisation

202241 A1 BRIBCA - Mk 25+ 18,381 13,326 31,707
Additions AR E 1,885 4,110 5,995
Disposals Hi& (1,579) - (1,579)
Amortisation provided during the year A &THe & 4 (8,497) (13,804) (22,301)
At 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H 10,190 3,632 13,822
At 31 December 2022: 2022412 A31H

Cost XA 73,970 46,521 120,491
Accumulated amortisation 2 511 4 (63,780) (42,889) (106,669)
Net carrying amount BRE FE 10,190 3,632 13,822

i

19. INVENTORIES 19. &

2023 2022
2023 F 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AREFIT
Consumables SE# & 7,691 9,061

REMREEERAT « 2023 5% 255




Notes to Financial Statements

B RS ERAR B AL

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12431 H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

20. B 5 FEWRRIR

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFTT

Trade receivables & 5 fEU A 144,375 72,298
Impairment J{{&E (53,315) (48,834)
Net carrying amount BREFE 91,060 23,464

The Group generally requires payment in advance from its
customers and seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. The
credit terms granted by the Group are generally within 45-90
days. An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based
on the transaction date and net of loss allowance, as at the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

AEBBEEREFPRANMNR  ShHHE
RENBUHRIBERFEEES - RaRE
BEETHEEaREHS - BHEBHET
PR AREERTHEARBENR4ISEN
B - RIEX S BHARMNKREBERESR  ©
HREHER - AEBEE 5 RUFKIER KRR
DT -

2023
20234

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBT T

RMB’000
ARET T

Within 1 year 15 A 90,276 23,464
1to 2 years 1E24 784 =
Total 425t 91,060 23,464

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B S RKFIBREBERENZ BRI
T

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F T AREFIT

At beginning of year F ] 48,834 62,963
Impairment losses J{E 518 6,191 12
Amount written off as uncollectible #fl £ £ % U [ 49 & 58 (1,710) (14,141)
At end of year K 53,315 48,834
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The increase (2022: decrease) in the loss allowance was due to
the following significant changes in the gross carrying amount:

(@) Increase in the loss allowance of RMB4,481,000 (2022:
RMB14,129,000) as a result of a net increase (2022:
decrease) in the gross carrying amount after the settlement of
trade receivables and origination of new trade receivables;

(b) Increase in the loss allowance of RMB6,191,000 as a result of
an increase in trade receivables which were past due for over
3 months (2022: increase in the loss allowance of RMB12,000
as a result of an increase in trade receivables which were past
due for less than 3 months); and

(c) Decrease in the loss allowance of RMB1,710,000 (2022:
RMB14,141,000) as a result of the write-off of certain trade

receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written
off if past due for more than two years and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 A

20. 5 FEWRRIR ()

IR EIE I (20224 - JFA) THARRAT
HREENEAEB IR

@ HREEZBIRUFERELEHNE
55 I WS 3R T 16 48 BR T B 3R 8 N VF 58
(20224 : @A) BEEEEMNA
R#4,481,0007C (20224 : AR¥
14,129,0007T)

(o) B EERFRASE A BB 5 MW RIEIL
N BEEEENARRG,191,0007T
(20224 : HRBHALNIBEARE S
FEUGRIBIE IN - B EBEIL AR
12,0007T) + &

(c) MRMEETESEWRTE @ BB
R ARBEA1,710,0007T (20224
AE#14,141,0007T) °

RERE B RGRBBBREETREIN -
N ERBAEEEKX - BEXDERREAR
PEERN (AREFRALFRNEESRE)
MAREFE DA NBNEBGEE - 5t E
BRRBRTHEMELER  BEHRREEEN
L& AREREEFMH - BRI ARRE
EIRATRANAE R EER - —RMF -
B 5 RGN A BB E - BT AN
BTERNEFIAITENE
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

Current

RE

Expected credit loss rate (%) TEHI = B 18 2K R (%) 5.6%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000)

BEEE(ARETT) 93,816
Expected credit losses (RMB’000)

BHEERX (ARBTT) 3,540

20. & 5 USRI (88)

TXEINARBEESLEAEBEESE
WERIER (5 R E R R O B #

2023512 H31H

Past due

B

Above 3
years
3FEME

80.5% 100.0% 100.0% 36.9%

4,025 309 46,225 144,375

3,241 309 46,225 53,315

As at 31 December 2022

Expected credit loss rate (%) EHA{E B 18K R (%) 8.5%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000)
HEEE(ARETT) 25,656
Expected credit losses (RMB’000)
BHEEBRX(ARKTT) 2,192

7H2022912 A31H

Past due
81 Hf

Above 3
WEES

3FLAE

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 67.5%

354 8,006 38,283 72,298

354 8,005 38,283 48,834
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21. PREPAYMENTS

Prepayments T815 7018

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

21. A FKIE

2023
20234

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBTIT

90,272

RMB’000
ARMET T

59,622

Prepayments represent advances to suppliers for the purchase of
goods or services.

22. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

BN RIEE AR E &R RE N TE
(3K -

2 Hib EWRERHMEE

2023
2023 F

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBTIT

RMB’000
ARBT R

Deposits and other receivables ¥z K H b fE W B (a) 224,810 257,867
Loans to third parties [A15 =1 B (b) 20,696 24,683
Deductible value-added tax £ INIEER 590,755 404,507
Loans to a related party — non-trade Bl T &5k — 3FE 5 500 500
Impairment allowance Ji{ {B & & (17,993) (8,134)
Less: Other non-current assets J& @ Efth3ERENEE (86,092) (76,934)
Total current portion it E)EB 5 B 5+ 732,676 602,489

(@) Deposits and other receivables mainly represent deposits to suppliers,
and were non-interest-bearing and trade in nature. The general
expected timing of settlement for deposits and other receivables
ranges from 1 year to 3 years.

T

Loans to third parties included in other receivables and other assets
were non-trade in nature, interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

Ze hEMEWHIAET BEBHERRE
T BRESLEZUHLG - R RHME
WREN — R EE R R R FE3F -

BEERMEKRAREMEERN RS
SHERBREESUE  HARARS
SRIEE -
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22,

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has applied the general approach prescribed by
HKFRS 9, by measuring the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs for deposits and other receivables, loan to
third parties and loans to a related party- non-trade in stage 1
and lifetime ECLs in stage 2 and stage 3. To measure the ECLs,
deposits and other receivables, loan to third parties and loans to
a related party- non-trade have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, ECLs are estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and general economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s other receivables and other assets, using a provision
matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

2 HtuEWFEREMEE

(%)

AEECRABRBUBEREERFORAR]
R —RIE  ERIRBIREENZER
Hi W IR ME=FTERXRLREKTE
K- FEBEZN1I2EARAEERRNEHE
URHEF2RFIRBRIZEREFENEY
EERANERMITEFERE - RFTER
HEEREX REREMEKIIR  AF
=HERKBEBAOER - FESERER
RERERFEETIAE  FHEEERX
REELEEBRAERETMES  LRE
EHANTERRR —REBERETH
o

ATRARANEEEMEKRAREME
ENERRRMONER - EHEEGERR

e

7A2023F12H31H

Expected credit Gross carrying

amount Impairment
ARREE HE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T

loss rate

BMEERAER

Deposits and other receivables, loan to third parties and
loans to a related party- non-trade

BeREMERTE REZHFERREBFER - FES 7.31% 246,006 17,993

As at 31 December 2022 R2022F12 A31 H

Expected credit Gross carrying
loss rate

B RALE

amount Impairment
BREE RE
RMB’000
ARBTT

RMB'000
ARBTT

Deposits and other receivables, loan to third parties and
loans to a related party- non-trade

BERAMERTE RE=HERRBEBTER - HES 3.15% 257,867 8,134
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22. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

2 HtmEWHREREMEE

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has
been recognised for financial assets included in other receivables

and other assets.

(%)

TRIRE AT AR BRI R E M E
ENCHEERANEHANEERLE
) o

12 months
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B & A
FERLX | REFENEHNEERL
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—EER E_PEER E=[EER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR | AR TR | AR TR | AR%ET T
As at 1 January 2023 F2202341 A1 H - - 8,134 8,134
Impairment losses JR{E &5 18 - - 13,413 13,413
Amount written off as uncollectible i #4 £ % Us 8] #9458 - - (3,554) (3,554)
As at 31 December 2023 722023F12 31 H - - 17,993 17,993

12 months
ECLs
12 1E A 78 &

(ELREES

Stage 1
E—MER
RMB’000

ARBTT

Lifetime ECLs

EEFEMEHEERR

Stage 2
E R
RMB’000
ARBTTT

Stage 3
F=[ER
RMB’000

ARBT T

Total

@zt
RMB’000
ARETFTT

As at 1 January 2022 72202241 A1 H - - 49,225 49,225
Impairment losses J{&EE18 = = 18,154 18,154
Amount written off as uncollectible #5457 Uk [ #) 4 58 - = (59,245) (59,245)
As at 31 December 2022 7202212 A31 H - - 8,134 8,134

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no 12-month
that have been recognised for financial assets included in
receivables and other assets.

ECLs
other

MN2023FE12A318 » AEBWED HE
AEMERFBEREMEEN S RS ER
RE12{E ATEHEEEL -
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23. DEFERRED TAX 23, IR LR 1B
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the RmEHRANECHRBEEERBEEHN
reporting period are as follows: T
Deferred tax assets EEHIBEEE

2023
20235

Losses
Accounting | available for
depreciation offsetting

in excess against Asset

Provision of tax future related

Lease and | depreciation taxable | government

liabilities accruals allowance profits grants
BmHE e
BER WERE | ARERK | REEAR
HEEE EER | WEHAE | FENEE | WHERD @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR | ARBTR | ARBTR | ARMTR | ARETR | AR%TR

As at 31 December 2022 12022412 A31H - 18,030 720 283,318 2,267 304,335
Effect of adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(c))

RMERLERE 125 (BiTA) M5 2 (fi2.2() 258,104 - - - - 258,104
At 1 January 2023 (restated) 7202341 A18 (L E3]) 258,104 18,030 720 283,318 2,267 562,439

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the statement of
profit or loss during the year
ERME /GIA) BERMETHE (22,660) 36,145 5,250 (182,683) (49) (163,997)

Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023
1202312 A31 ARELHIBEEERE 235,444 54,175 5,970 100,635 2,218 398,442
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

3EERH ()
IESERIE B

2023
20235

Depreciation Fair value
allowance in adjustments
excess of arising from
related acquisition of Right-of-use
depreciation a subsidiary assets Total
BREH | KE-FHEAR
REODRESE | FRAARERR RAREE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
At 31 December 2022 7202212 4318 34,355 404 - 34,759
Effect of adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(c))
RmEREHERIE125 (BT R) MF 2 (Wik2.2(0) - - 244,320 244,320
At 1 January 2023 (restated) 12023%1 A 18 (£ E51) 34,355 404 244,320 279,079
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or loss during the year
ERFABRRMELTHE (8,417) (17) (8,183) (16,617)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2023
2023512 A31 BB R A BRR 25,938 387 236,137 262,462
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23 IEERIIE (48)
Deferred tax assets FIERIBEEE

2022
20204

Losses
Accounting | available for
depreciation offsetting
in excess against Asset
of tax future related
Lease Provision | depreciation taxable | government

liabilities | and accruals allowance profits grants

BHHE A fERH
BiEk TERE | RRERK | RAERE
R HENBE | HBRRH fat
RMB'000 |  RMB'000 [  RMB'OOO |  RMB'000 |  RMB'000 |  RMB'000
ARBTT | ARBTR | ARBTR | ARBTR | ARETR | ARETR

As at 31 December 2021 1:2021E12 4318 - 17,657 860 372,993 5,301 396,811
Effect of adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(c))
RMEBETERE 125 (BiT4) M5 2 (Fi2.2() 308,529 - - - - 308,529
At 1 January 2022 (restated) #2022 1 A1 H (FE7) 308,529 17,657 860 372,993 5,301 705,340
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the statement of

profit or loss during the year
ERME /(GEA) BaRhEEHE (50,425) 373 (140) (89,675) (3,034) (142,901)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2022
R2022F12 31 AMERTHBEERE 258,104 18,030 720 283,318 2,267 562,439
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 28 IEFERIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities EEBHEAE
2022
20226
Fair value
Depreciation adjustments
allowance in arising from
excess of related acquisition of Right-of-use
depreciation a subsidiary assets Total
BBAEH | KE-FWEAR
RENRERE | ABEALEERE fEREEE @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AEETT ARETT ARETTT
At 31 December 2021 2021412 431H - 421 - 421
Effect of adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(c))
REB G ERE125 (BFT4) M52 (Fti2.2(c) - - 303,557 303,557
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 20221 A1 A (L&) = 421 308,557 308,978
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or loss during the year
EREABRRNELTE 34,355 (17) (59,237) (24,899)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2022
2022512 A3 AMELHRRELE 34,355 404 244,320 279,079
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and BEMNER  ETELHBEEEREBED
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. RGN R EIRGE - U TN AKREER
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the ERRIB A SME R ER AT

Group for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
RERRBRARERNEEHEEERE 135,980 283,360
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23 IR EBLIE (47)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

EEHEEE (&)

RARH T 510 B ERETEHRAEE

2023 2022
2023 2022

RMB’000
ARETIT

RMB’000
ARBTR

Tax losses HiIEE 15 400,414 1,847,174
Deductible temporary differences 7] +0 & iF 2= 58 - 8,885
Total 425t 400,414 1,856,059

The Group has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB399,774,000 (2022: RMB1,845,012,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against their future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is not considered probable that enough taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Current &)
Financial products 4 @z &

AEBRAPBEAMEELENTIEEEAA
R#399,774,0007T (20224 : AR
1,845,012,0007T) * ZEBEFHE—2H
FAEE (BEEE AR ERRFEMS)

HARZEEERRBELCHRAEE AR
ARET BB SRS A RABEE BRSO
RHERBFE -

URAREEFTEBEESE
AEHEENERMEE

2023 2022
2023 20224

RMB’000
ARETTT

RMB’000
ARET T

808,038 841,673

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are financial products invest primarily in short-term deposits,
guaranteed structured note and premium money market
investments, seeking to hedge its capital and liquidity by
calculating U.S. dollar returns at money market rates. The Group
manages and evaluates the performance of investments on a fair
value basis in accordance with the Group’s risk management and
investment strategy.
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25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND X BRERBEESEEBYWURTZR

RESTRICTED CASH IR €
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Cash and bank balances R4 & R1T45 85 1,362,982 999,384
Time deposits & Hi7F 7K 50,000 50,000
Subtotal /Nt 1,412,982 1,049,384

Less: restricted cash: /& @ EHIIR G
Current portion B E#B5

Pledged for interest-bearing borrowings &t /2 {& 7 17 (15) (15)

Restricted for others 5 E 1R ) (4,222) (298)
Subtotal /JNgt (4,237) (313)
Non-current portion FEREh &5

Pledged for interest-bearing borrowings &t 2. f& 7k # (488) (7,198)

Pledged for letter of guarantee 1 KK 48 (401) (2,528)
Subtotal /NaT (889) (9,726)
Cash and cash equivalents IR & R &5 EY 1,407,856 1,039,345
Denominated in: & :

RMB AR#& 1,347,366 953,842

US$ =T 49,221 56,527

HKS$ &7t 11,269 28,976
Total 485t 1,407,856 1,039,345
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED CASH (Continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits have a term of 180
days, and earn interest at an interest rate of 2%. Long term time
deposits have a term of 3 years, and earn interest at an interest
rate of 3%. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of
the cash and bank balances approximated to their fair values.

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

BATRBETEBYUARZR
#HEE (F)

ARSI EmEBRASEMER - A
1R 15 o B A 3 0 CHMEE B IR AR 1)) B KA
B BEERMEETERE) ASEEER
BEREETINEXZBNRITEARERL

RITRESBREBEEARTERNRFAER
FEYN R EREUA B - 52 HE B KA AR
R180K » WiL2%MFI KRG B - REEH
FROBRB=F - EI%BHF KGR - iR
THABTFEEERIFASRIEBENTEN
RIT - RERBTEROEESEEELD
REERS -

6. EZBARBEREMNRE

2023 2022

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Trade payables & 5 &~ FUA 314,607 305,910
Bills payable E{ZE & - 108
Total 425t 314,607 306,018
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26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 6. EZ BNARERENRE
(Continued) (&)
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of RIEHRNE 5N FIE R ENZER
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BT GRBEZEHH) 1T ¢
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Within 3 months 31 A A 309,711 286,367
3 to 6 months 3ZE 61 A 2,133 17,954
6 to 12 months 6 £ 121& A 2,763 1,697
Total #25t 314,607 306,018
The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are BEZRENREBELRENZEERZE  BEIX
normally settled on 30-day terms. SORKEAR&EH

27.OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 1. Hth BN FE R EFTE R

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBT T

Deposits from suppliers &% & 27,320 17,487

Deposits from customers BF & & 265,655 265,787

Advances from customers & F &t 105,779 97,779

Contract liabilities &4 & & (a) 90,219 119,810

Other payables E 1 f& 15 5K 18 (b) 112,657 110,496
Payables for purchase of property, plant and equipment

BEYXE - BELREBHOERMIA 7,878 27,070

Accrued operating expenses JEFH &L & A 104,857 77,517

Payroll and welfare payables fEff T & & & F) 261,728 226,199

Other tax payable Hth &S Fi 1B 27,959 6,804

Interest payables &7 2 735 173

Others EAth 4,404 -

Total 485t 1,009,191 949,122
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27.OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

270

(@)

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Advances received from customers: W B & F BN

. At ENRIEREFTER

(%)

(a) AHABEHMANT :

2023 2022
20234 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR®T T

Transportation and dispatch services & i & & 3% AR 75 81,353 106,038
Value-added services (B iR 7% 8,866 18,772
Total contract liabilities & %) & E42%58 90,219 119,810

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to provide
LTL services. The increase in contract liabilities in 2023 and 2022
was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the provision of LTL services at the end of the
year.

Other payables mainly include short-term operating rental payables
and amounts collected from shippers on behalf of freight partners,
which were trade in nature, non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand.
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 28. 5T B & ™K

Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB'000 k Maturity RMB'000
BR7I%E%) A | ARETR | ERAEQ HEA | ARETR
Current 8
Bank loans - secured $/TE 5 — B 2:3 2024 349,617 35 2023 395,100
Current portion of long term & HFERG TS
- bank loans - secured — $R/7E 3 - AR (a 5 2024 5,243 6-9 2023 29,692
- other borrowings - secured — Eft &3 - B b) 511 2024 108,366 7-12 2023 364,264
Total - current 41 — &) 463,726 789,056
Non-current 378
Bank loans - secured $/TE 5 — B (@) 5 20252037 65,532 512 2004-2087 72457
Other borrowings - secured A& 5 — AAH (b) 511 2025 39,489 512 2004-2025 175,788
Total - non-current & — 78 105,021 248,245
Total #zf 568,747 1,087,301
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28.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Analysed into: 1IN N4 :
Bank loans repayable: JEBZIRITEK

28. 5T AR (&)

2023
2023

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARETIT

RMB’000
ARBTR

Within one year 1R 354,860 424,792
In the second year 524 5,243 6,678
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F3ZE5F (B EEMF) 15,728 15,974
Beyond five years #Bi@5F 44,561 49,805
Subtotal /Nt 420,392 497,249
Other borrowings repayable: fE{&& H bS5k :
Within one year 15X 108,866 364,264
In the second year 24 39,489 128,601
In the third year 34 - 47,187
Subtotal /Nt 148,355 540,052
Total 425t 568,747 1,037,301

Notes:

(@) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

()  mortgages over certain of the Group’s motor vehicles with a net

carrying amount of nil (2022: RMB50,721,000).

(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s buildings with a net

carrying amount of RMB70,775,000 (2022: RMB107,147,000).

(b) Certain of the Group’s other borrowings are secured by:

(i)  mortgages over certain of the Group’s motor vehicles with a net
carrying amount of RMB140,508,000 (2022: RMB606,515,000).

(c) All Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL 29, iR A<
Shares il
Pursuant to the nineteenth amended and restated memorandum RIFER2021FE11 A1 BERBNE TN
and articles effected on 11 November 2021, the share capital of REBETMEYNEZRAMAN ZRA
the Company is US$50,000 divided into 2,500,000,000 shares of Al » RRARIMARA /50,0007 ' 545
a nominal or par value of US$0.00002 each. 2,500,000,000 s R EHE EEXEAE

0.000023& LK% ©

Shares &%

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT

Issued and fully paid: 2277 R &R :
1,162,605,486 (2022: 1,162,605,486) Ordinary shares

1,162,605,486 % (20224 : 1,162,605,486 %) &L i@ A% 149 149
At 31 December 712 431 H 149 149
Share options B R

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share RATIERESEI RIBIEZAEBTHE
options issued under the scheme are included in note 32 to the IR IR IEE R I S R M 5E32 ©

financial statements.
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30.

31.

274

TREASURY SHARES

On 8 June 2022, the board of directors of the Group approved
the adoption of a Share Award Scheme (‘the Scheme”) and
the share purchase pursuant to the Scheme. Futu Trustee (the
“Trustee”) is appointed by the Company for the administration
of the Scheme from time to time. As at 31 December 2023, an
aggregate of 11,626,500 ordinary shares were repurchased at a
total consideration of approximately HK$64,962,005 (equivalent to
approximately RMB57,835,258) for the purpose of the Scheme,
which were recorded as treasury shares in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the Group.

(a) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the reserve arisen pursuant
to the acquisition of subsidiaries, derecognition of warrants,
share-based payments and conversion of preferred shares.
The derecognition of warrants represents the repurchase of
warrants from warrant holders. Details of the movement in
capital reserve are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.
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31. RESERVES (Continued) 31. il (1)

(b) Share premium (b) B2 %= 1E
The share premium of the Group represents the amount paid AEBRMDEEREBRRELFIEMSZH
by shareholders for capital injection in excess of its nominal MRIEBEEEMNTD - RMDEED
value. Details of the movements in the share premium are set FEF BN EREEE -
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(c) Exchange fluctuation reserve (c) B X RENfF%E
The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange MR R ESREESANZSE e EE W
differences arising from the translation of the financial FARENERBNUBREREES
statements of entities of which the functional currencies are HIRE 5 Z 58 o
not RMB.

(d) Statutory surplus reserve (d) ZER R E
In accordance with the PRC Company Law, certain REBE(PEARRKMBRRER) - A%
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises EETHBAR (REARR) BREK
are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as EREMATERRFEREDEERBIE
determined in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting FHEE10% (IRB AT E S EAE
standards, to their respective statutory surplus reserves until ) EEREEESAEMELN
the reserves reach 50% of their respective registered capital. 50% ° TE(FEARLMBE R FE) R
Subject to certain restrictions set out in the PRC Company EMETRET MO EAERRER
Law, part of the statutory surplus reserves may be converted AIEMRRA - HEMEA LB RE
to share capital, provided that the remaining balance after the PELREMEARR25%

capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.
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32.

276

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity Incentive Plans

The Company operates two share-based payment schemes,
the 2015 Plan and the 2016 Plan (the “Schemes”), which were
further amended in 2020, for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Schemes
include the Company’s directors, the Group’s employees and
consultants. The main amendment to the Schemes in 2020 is to
add certain terms of RSUs. On 7 February, 2021, the Company
further adopted the 2021 equity incentive plan (the “2021 Equity
Incentive Plan”, together with the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan
and the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan, collectively referred to as the
“Equity Incentive Plans”).

The 2021 Equity Incentive Plan became effective in February
2021 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will continue
in effect for a term of 10 years from the date of grant. The Group
accumulatively granted 45,702,121 RSUs at an exercise price of
par value each share (considering the Share Subdivision) under
the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan as of 31 December 2023.

In 2022, the Company granted 2,694,377 restricted share units to
the Group’s employees. The fair value is computed based on the
Company’s share price on the grant date.

In 2023, the Company granted 1,157,314 restricted share units to

the Group’s employees. The fair value is computed based on the
Company’s share price on the grant date.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(Continued)
Equity Incentive Plans (Continued)

Unless otherwise specified, subject to the directors’ and
employees’ continued status as a service provider through each
of the applicable vesting dates and to the extent permitted by
applicable law, the RSUs shall be vested in whole or in part in
accordance with the RSU rules and the vesting schedule set forth
as follows:

(i) one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the RSUs shall vest on
the first anniversary of the effective date of grant;

(i) one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the RSUs shall vest on
the second anniversary of the effective date of grant; and

(i) the remaining one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the
RSUs shall vest on the third anniversary of the effective date
of grant.

2022 Share Award Scheme

In June 2022, the board of directors of the Company approved
the adoption of a share award scheme (“the 2022 Share Award
Scheme”). The Board is authorised to grant awards in the form of
RSUs under the 2022 Share Award Scheme. The purposes and
objectives of the 2022 Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise
the contributions of 113 eligible participants and to provide them
with incentives in order to encourage and retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; and (i) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group. In
2022, the Board passed the resolution to grant certain share units
with a fair value of RMB70,836,000 to the Group’s employees as
annual bonus in recognition of such employees’ performance and
contribution during the financial year ended 31 December, 2022.
Such share units were recognized as share-based payments of the
Company for the year ended 31 December, 2022. The granting of
the RSUs was completed in June 2023 and an additional fair value
of RMB 22,409,000 was recognized as share-based payments of
the Group.
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REMBE (&)

BERERY  EEFRETINEEAR
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07 R 08 TSP B R AR 1) BB AR
RRBHEHRBABS BB -

() =22Z2—(1/3)Z R Hl I iy B LT H A
MEERLEREH—BFRER

(i) =22 —(1/3)Z R &l B fn B A8 Ak
MEERLERBEHR _BFRES
&

(i) 82 FN=92—(1/3)Z R HI %15 BEfLFT
BRHOEERLERBH = RFRER

s -
2022 F [} {7 S Bt 2

MN2022F6 A + ARREZEHIERMR
D iEEN R &) ([2022F e @arEl ) - &=
EeREERE2022F RN EEEINZ
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BERSEENER - WHAESIRMARENU
HEREBEE  EMEREESFSURE
KERBERE R)AREENE—TEE
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FRAAEBEERHAABEAARYE
70,836,0007THE TP BEAIERFEE
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32.

278

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Continued)

2023 Share Incentive Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2023 Share
Incentive Scheme”) which became effective in June 2023. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to
three years and ends on a date which is not later than ten years
from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of
the Scheme, if earlier.

The new Shares to be allotted and issued by the Company
to satisfy the Grants represent approximately 8.60% of the
total issued Shares of the Company as at the Grant Date. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme may be granted under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme
in aggregate shall not exceed 100,000,000 Shares (which include
new Shares that may be issued by the Company and the Awards
granted with existing Shares of the Company), among which
the total number of Shares in respect of which Awards may be
granted to Service Providers under 2023 Share Incentive Scheme
shall not exceed 9,300,844 Shares.

In 2023, the Company granted 9,680,000 share options to the
Group’s management personnel, the fair value of the share
options granted was HK$29,796,000. In 2023, the Company
granted 5,320,000 share options to the Group’s employees, the
fair value of the share options granted was HK$14,434,000.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(Continued)
2023 Share Incentive Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year was estimated as at the date of grant using the Binomial
Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

32. B0 243 (£48)

2023 F IR 17 A B =& (&)

FARENARREENBRENIAE
ERFRHBHRA -RABREEERL
et - WK E B 8B I A 5 & 15
o TRESIFTABE I AR -

2023
20234

Dividend yield (%) A& 24z % (%)

Expected volatility (%) Y& A8 18 (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%) £ [® k& F & (%)

Expected life of options (year) T8 &t &A% HEE HR (£F)
Exercise multiple 1T{# 1% 2

39.39
4.35

10
2.20-2.80

The validity period of the options is 10 years. The expected
volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 14,060,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in
full of the outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 14,060,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company.

R BREFHNEARI/I10F - BHKER
BRTERFEERIARBE (BT —ERER
BR)HRE -

N FUEER IR R TR B A e E

RB|EMR - ARRIEZTEIB THERTE
#914,060,00017 i x4 o RIBFARQE B AT E
R BETERRITEABRERGER
N E)RESNEETT 14,060,000 % E @AY o
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32.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Continued)

2023 Share Incentive Scheme (Continued)

Subject to the employees’ continued status as a service provider
through each of the applicable vesting dates and to the extent
permitted by applicable law, the options shall be vested in whole
or in part in accordance with the option rules and the vesting
schedule set forth as follows:

(i) one third (1/3) of the Options shall vest on the first anniversary
of the grant date if the Company’s adjusted net profit
before tax (“‘Adjusted NPBT”) for 2023 represents 80% of
the targeted Adjusted NPBT for 2023, and subject to the
adjustment in terms of the Grantee’s performance review
conducted individually by the Board prior to the vesting date;

(i) one third (1/3) of the Options shall vest on the second
anniversary of the grant date if the Company’s adjusted net
profit before tax (“Adjusted NPBT”) for 2023 represents 80%
of the targeted Adjusted NPBT for 2023, and subject to the
adjustment in terms of the Grantee’s performance review
conducted individually by the Board prior to the vesting date;
and

(iii) the remaining one third (1/3) of the Options shall vest on the
third anniversary of the grant date if the Company’s adjusted
net profit before tax (“Adjusted NPBT”) for 2023 represents
80% of the targeted Adjusted NPBT for 2023, and subject to
the adjustment in terms of the Grantee’s performance review
conducted individually by the Board prior to the vesting date.
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Notes to Financial Statements

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Continued)

2023 Share Incentive Scheme (Continued)
The following RSUs were outstanding under the Equity Incentive

Plans and the 2022 Share Award Scheme as at 31 December
2023:

oo

Restricted share units: bR #I & B4 -

B TSR AR B RE
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32. B0 243 (£48)

2023 F IR 17 A B =& (&)

A2023F12 A31 8 » IREENETEI &
2022 F D HEENETBITE T M AR TTER
ZRFIMEDEMLT

31 December
2022

2022412 A381H
000

T

31 December
2023
2023%F12H31H

’000
T4

At the beginning of the year FF 1) 99,638 108,388
Granted during the year AR H 15,788 2,694
Forfeited during the year 4 KR U (916) (918)
Exercised during the period 7 A1T{E (40,530) (3,158)
Expired during the year 74 X 2| & = (7,368)
At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H 73,980 99,638
Exercisable as of 31 December 2023

HZ=2023F 12 A31 BRI 1 T{E 58,169 67,869

Exercise period 171# Hif&

The fair value of the RSUs granted during the year was
RMB5,712,000 (2022: RMB15,066,000). The fair value of the
options granted during the year was RMB39,882,000 (2022:
Nil). The Group recognised share-based payment expenses of
RMB102,562,000 (2022: RMB191,344,000) related to the above
share awards.

24 July 2016 to 24 July 2016 to

12 July 2047 12 July 2047
20165F7H24BZE 201657 A24B%&
2047%7H12H 204747 A12H

FRAREHZRAIBDEMHANBEBARE
5,712,0007T (20224 : AR¥15,066,0007T) °
FARLOEREN BB RARKES9,882,000
TC (20224 + &) o NREEMER LIk 5ZEE
BRI A AR 102,562,0007T (2022
& AR%191,344,0007T) °
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32. R =2 A (&)
(Continued)
2023 Share Incentive Scheme (Continued) 2023 F R R B & (&)
The following share options were outstanding under the 2023 RER » 2023 F M BB R BIH T 5 K77
Share Incentive Scheme during the year: BT

Weighted
average Number
exercise price of options
InREFEHTRE BRERE
HK$

per share ’000
BRET F4

At 1 January X1 A 1H - -

Granted during the year IR A% H 6.04 15,000
Forfeited during the year R A8 U 6.04 (940)

Exercised during the year & R1T{E = =
Expired during the year 74 A 2| Hf = =

At 31 December W12 A31H 6.04 14,060

Exercise period 171& £ 1 November 2024 to
1 November 2033

202411 B1HZE

203311 A1H

No share options were exercised during the year (2022: Nil). FAEERAEREITE (20224F : £) o

282 ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2023




Notes to Financial Statements

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 3. HEKE QA
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
2]Y[=X0]0]0] RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Property, plant and equipment ¥1% - & &% - 38,616
Right-of-use assets {# A& E - 5,856
Cash and bank balances R & K& R1T4# 848 = 11
Accruals and other payables FE&tE F K H b fE A 0B - 4,629
Total identifiable net assets at fair value
AR EBEFER A HSEEERERTE - 49,112
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M B R RIS 6 - 7,371
- 56,483
Satisfied by: JA 577 EF -
Cash IR& - 30,859
Consideration received in prior years @7 FE 2 WHHE - 25,624
- 56,483
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal is as FRALERSTENTOT :
follows:

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBTIT

Cash consideration IR & %8 - 30,859
Cash and bank balances disposed of 258 & & iR1TAE & - 25,624

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries
HEMBARNRE KRR ZEMRAFHE - 56,483
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34.

284

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB707,213,000 (2022:
RMB489,958,000 in respect of lease arrangements for sorting and
distribution centres).

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

UEERERERME

(@) TEHFREXS

FA BOBREXFLONEELR
mE  AEEBERNCERAEEER
HEBBENFEBEEAERARE
707,213,0007T (20224 : AR
489,958,0007T) °

(b) REZBELENEEEZD

Other

Interest- payables
bearing and Lease
borrowings accruals liabilities

Hit N RIE
sHRMER RESHER HESE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T AR® T

At 1 January 2023 7202341 A1H 1,037,301 949,122 1,032,417
Changes from financing cash flows gt& IR &7 & & F) (319,563) (87,617) (630,414)
Changes from other investing cash flows

HREREREZ (148,991) (53,820) -
Changes from operating cash flows &% 18 & 7 & & &) - 151,506 -
Additions of lease liabilities (note 16)

HEaEEM(HE16) - - 707,213
Termination of lease contract &R IFFAE A& - = (240,721)
Interest expense (note 16) |2 (FzE16) - - 41,281
At 31 December 2023 722023412 H31H 568,747 1,009,191 909,776
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED UESHERERMETE ()
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZTBELEMNESEEH (F)
activities (Continued)

Other
Interest- payables
bearing and Lease
borrowings accruals liabilities
H i - 5k
SR KEsHE R MEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARET T ARETT
At 1 January 2022 720221 A1 H 1,008,103 968,992 1,234,115
Changes from financing cash flows R & IR & i 2 & H) 174,736 (42,461) (641,422)
Changes from other investing cash flows
HiixERenEEH (141,315) (79,583) -
Changes from operating cash flows &% 1R 4 i & & &) (4,223) 102,174 =
Additions of lease liabilities (note 16)
HEaEEM(ME16) - - 489,958
Termination of lease contract X [FFAE A #) - - (108,613)
Interest expense (note 16) A B (MzE16) - = 58,379
At 31 December 2022 722022412 A31H 1,037,301 949,122 1,032,417
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HENRESR LA
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of WABRERERMNEAENRESRE L
cash flows is as follows: T
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Within operating activities & & & &) A 64,165 93,621
Within financing activities Bt & BB A 630,414 641,422
Total #85t 694,579 735,043
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35.

36.

37.

286

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no guaranteed in relation to certain bank loans
made to its customers (2022: RMB3,169,000).

COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group had the following contractual commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

3B HAREE

Z\

SERAEFPRHMNE TRITENIR

AR (20224 : AR®3,169,0007T) °

36, K IE

(@) RI|MEHR  AEENELFAENT :

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT

Contracted, but not provided for:
Motor vehicles Bt/98 B 5] 4B R T IR E M 508

19,128 36,528

(b) The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced. The future lease payments for these non-
cancellable lease contracts are RMB23,598,000 due within
one year and RMB52,421,000 due in the second to fifth years
as at 31 December 2022. The future lease payments for these
non-cancellable lease contracts are RMB84,206,000 due
within one year and RMB310,359,000 due in the second to
fifth years as at 31 December 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions.

Related parties of the Group are mainly entities over which key

management of the Company has direct or indirect significant
influence.
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37.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the year.

Borrowings provided to: @ %% FRHAEK -

Shanghai Qinghong Juyue Investment
Management Center (Limited Partnership)

FPESURERETEFRL (BRE%)

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

.M E RS ()

BRHBHRERASTHFANRHIN - K&
BRFEAGEEBHETUTERR
5 e

2023
20234

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBTIT

RMB’000
ARET T

- 500

Total 425t

- 500

Rental expenses: &M% :

Huaian Yuchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.
ELTFRHEEARARA

Wuhu Yuchu Storage Service Co., Ltd.
BRFRAEMBRBEERAA

Jurong Dingchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.”
ARBBRFERRAR

= 5,605
5,410 5,259

5,812 15,445

Total #25t

11,222 26,209

Acquisition of assets: WIBEE :
Ningbo Meishan Free Trade Port Area Dingrong
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)*

BERBLURHERGTREGBEE (BERA®)"

116,990 =

The above related party transactions were conducted in
accordance with the terms mutually agreed between the
parties.

* On 31 May 2023, the Group acquired certain assets through
the acquisition of Jurong Dingchu Storage and Transportation
Co., Ltd. from Ningbo Meishan Free Trade Port Area Dingrong
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership). Upon completion
of the acquisition, the acquired company became a subsidiary of
the Group.

*  H2023F5H31H  AEBBBEME

BIgLRHERJRREGBREE (B
Re®) WiEaaRERFREFRA RN
BETEE RIRBFRZKE
WUFE R R RASEE KB AR o
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS . RIS (1)
(Continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (o) BEEGTTHIREELR -

2023
2023 F

RMB’000
ARBT R

Due from related parties: FEUREBE: 5 3018 :

Non-trade related 3 & 5 0%

Ningbo Meishan Free Trade Port Zone Qinghong Equity Investment
Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (“Ningbo Qinghong”)

2022
20224
RMB’000
AREFT

ERBLURTERSILRERESREX (BERER) ([EREUL)) 2,040 2,040
Shanghai Qinghong Juyue Investment Management Center
(Limited Partnership)
FPESUREREETEFRL (BRA%)
- Gross — #8%8 500 500
- Provision — B - -
Total 85+ 2,540 2,540
Trade related ¥ 5 1HE3
Jurong Dingchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.
ARREREARAA - 2,331
Wuhu Yuchu Storage Service Co., Ltd.
BHNTHARRBEAER AR 534 664
Taizhou Zhicheng Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.
BMNERKBERR AR
- Gross — #4%8 368 468
- Provision — # & (368) (468)
Total &5t 534 2,995
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37.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

(©)

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

.M E RS ()

) AEBEXTREEABHHN

2023
2023 F

2022
20224
RMB’000
AREFTT

RMB’000
AR®ET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %% - 288 R EY1EF 45,377 47,976
Share-based payment expenses A% 7 % 1~ B 52 35,729 24,986
Pension scheme contributions iRk & &t &3k 2,275 1,812
Total 485t 83,381 74,774

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
10 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions disclosed in notes (a), (b) and
(c) do not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Continuing connected transactions of the Group:

Mr. Zhu Jianhui 7 238 % 4

ERESMerE - PFBFEARYB
HERMIFE10

M (a) ~ (b) R (c) BB HI AR T2 5

WAREK ETRAE - HASFRERN
RERXFAFERERS -

AEEFERERS :

2023
2023 F

RMB’000
ARBT R

7,007

Mr. Zhu Jianhui was an executive Director and chief operating
officer of the Company who resigned from all positions of the
Group with effect from September 1, 2022, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company. The Board resolves
to engage Mr. Zhu Jianhui as a consultant for his continuing
advice to the Group for the period from September 10,
2022 to September 1, 2024 for quarterly consultancy fees
of US$250,000. Accordingly, the Consultancy Arrangement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MEBEERRNRANTEERER
BT 202299 A1 BEBIA
SEMERE BRARARIMEA
T EEERBRTENEBLERE
- R2022F9 A10HE2024F9 8
1HHRE  #8RAEEREEER -
TEREME /250,000% 7T ° At 0 1R
BEMARRETOAE  BEMTHERE
BTHET IR GBRARAFHER
HER G o
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. ZERETHERMT A
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERR  SEeR T ANKRAEED
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N
2023 2023 F
Financial assets THEE

Financial
assets at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost
BAREE
STEEHSE R
EPN-ECECE RAGTE
WERmEE NEmEE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥T T
Trade receivables & 5 fE Ut 518 - 91,060 91,060
Financial assets included in other receivables and other assets
SFAHMBYRIEREMEEN SR EE - 141,921 141,921
Financial assets included in other non-current assets
FRARMIERDEEN S REE - 86,092 86,092
Restricted cash X R §IIR & - 5,126 5,126
Cash and cash equivalents & NIE & ZEY - 1,407,856 1,407,856
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
NRAREBEFELEZHFTAENESNEREE 808,038 - 808,038
Total 485t 808,038 1,732,055 2,540,093
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38 RERETWERMTITA
CATEGORY (Continued) (&)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBER  SHEem T ANKREER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T (&)
(Continued)
2023 (Continued) 2023 (&)
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBER AR
Hemes
RMB’000
AR¥T
Trade and bills payables & 5 f& < 7018 & fiE (- Z % 314,607
Lease liabilities f & & & 909,776
Interest-bearing borrowings &t 2 &% 568,747
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
FARMENRIBERESERNCRAE 714,365
Total #85t 2,507,495
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY B.IZERETHNERMIA
CATEGORY (Continued) (&)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERR  SEeR T ANKRAEED
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T : (&)
(Continued)
2022 2022F
Financial assets THEE
Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost
RAAREE
SATEAEEZ R
SFAEHIER XAt E
BNEREE WEREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARET T ARETTT
Trade receivables & 5 fEUFKIA - 23,464 23,464
Financial assets included in other receivables and other assets
SEAHMBYRIEREMEEN S R EE - 197,982 197,982
Financial assets included in other non-current assets
FAARMIERBEEN S REE - 76,934 76,934
Restricted cash X [R #l38 & = 10,039 10,039
Cash and cash equivalents & NIE & ZEY - 1,039,345 1,039,345
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
NAREBEFEEEZHFTAERESNEREE 841,673 - 841,673
Total 485t 841,673 1,347,764 2,189,437
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
(Continued)

2022 (Continued)

Financial liabilities

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

BREHNETHNEMT A

(&)

RBEMK  SERSRITAMETED
T (&)

2022 F (#&)

SEERE

Financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

WEHR AT &

ME@mAR
RMB’000
ARETT

Trade and bills payables & 5 & < 7018 & & (- Z 1% 306,018
Lease liabilities f & & & 1,032,417
Interest-bearing borrowings &t 2 &% 1,037,301
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

STARMENREREAERNEREE 715,946
Total #85tT 3,091,682

As at 31 December 2023, financial assets included in trade
and other receivables amounting to RMB232,981,000 (2022:
RMB221,446,000) were measured at amortised cost, and financial
liabilities included in trade and other payables amounting to
RMB1,028,972,000 (2022: RMB1,021,964,000) were measured at
amortised cost.

R2023F 128381 H st AE S REME
WHRIE /& E R ARK232,981,000
JC (2022%F + ARM221,446,0007T) + A
Rt AB S RAMERNFIENEREER
AR#1,028,972,0007T (20224 : AR
1,021,964,0007T ) HH# SER ANET 2 ©
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE VEMITENAABERLAR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL EEER
INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEEERMIANREBERAAEE (BRER
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that AEEAABEGEMBEENUIN AT

reasonably approximate to their fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
RREE DNREE

2023 2022 2023 2022

20234 20224 20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT | ARETT| ARETR | ARBTIT

Financial assets $B&E
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

NRAEEFEEHEEEFTAZHERNERHEE 808,038 841,673 808,038 841,673
Financial liabilities €@ & &

Interest-bearing borrowings 5t & f& % 568,747 1,037,301 550,638 1,002,912
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash BERENN ReKkBReEEY  XR
equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables, financial assets FIRE BHEWFHIE - 5FAE MR
included in other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities HEHEMEENSMEE N MG A ME
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their NHRIEMEFEANSREENAREE
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these BERAEES  FTEARZETAEMNE
instruments. HAHAMR SR TR ©
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
period, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and long-term interest-bearing borrowings has been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-performance
risk for the long-term interest-bearing borrowings as at the end of
the 31 December 2023 was assessed to be insignificant.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

NEMIENAARBERIR

BEER (&)

AEERMBRERENNBHERET
ERMTARS LFTE:#EE’]BZ REIEF o
SWmEH  MBHBOoMemITANEES
B WEEHERMEANEZE AR
B hERBRVBEERERIE

TREERABNANEBENERZS.
ERRS (MIFREHBRIEE) EPEZIE
MAIR B EBARR ° TITERRKRRE
mEt A AEE -

UAREBEFEEEZSH A HBERD
PRMEERRPFAEERNAABEDR
WERR BB LR - E AR R FHEIE
HARR &9 T A B A1 0] A A9 F) 3 47 38 T8 HA R 2R
ReREFTHE - AEEMN2023F12 A31
HRAREG B AR S 6T B LR R
FHBBTEK -
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE NTMIENARBERAA
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL BEER (&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the R2023F 20224 12A31H ' @@ T A
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative HEMANER ARG ASBERE
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022: b BRE DM T -

Fair value hierarchy AARAEBEER

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy TERAAREESH T AN ABETE
of the Group’s financial instruments: EEE

As at 31 December 2023: #2023%F12H31H :

Fair value measurement categorised into

MABEFEIER

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable | unobservable
markets inputs inputs
RERTH S EAUEE | EATTEE
HRE BWAHE BAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E—%) (B=%) (B=8) Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR ARBT T AR®T T

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

WARBEEEHETASHERNESREE - 808,038 - 808,038
Interest-bearing borrowings =+ &.f& 5 - 550,638 - 550,638
Total #5t - 1,358,676 - 1,358,676
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Notes to Financial Statements

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

NEFMTENLIABERLA
BEEL(E)

AREERER (&)
M2022F12 A31 8 :

Fair value measurement categorised into
DREEFENBR

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable | unobservable

markets inputs inputs

BAUBE | BATABE

RERmS
B R ME W \ BB B A\ R

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

(F—H) (F=H) (F=R&) st

RMB’000
AREF T

RMB’000
ARET T

RMB’000
ARBTT

RMB’000
AREFT

AR EBEFEEEETAENESNERMEE = 841,673 = 841,673
Interest-bearing borrowings &t & f& 5k = 1,002,912 = 1,002,912
Total #5+ - 1,844,585 = 1,844,585

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into

or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).

RER - F—REE_RK7HANAABE
AEYEEAERAYEEASEHE=
W (20224 : £E) o
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39.

298

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE NEMIANAABERAR

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

BEER (&)

IREEER ()

Tt 4% W) 5 A (B P R A0 1 (B Bl B
TEBARE -

Significant
Valuation techniques observable inputs
(R0 EXABENEAE
Financial assets at fair value through Discounted cash flow method Expected annualized return rate
profit or loss BeREMEE FTEHAGFE (b e R
AR EBEFELEZHFAERERN
TREE
Interest-bearing borrowings Discounted cash flow method Effective interest rate
FEER REeRBIH A BIRA =
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to support the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade and bills payables which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. As the Group’s exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum,
the Group has not used any derivatives and other instruments for
hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates
relates primarily to its interest-bearing borrowings and long-term
interest-bearing borrowings. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk.

40, & b /= ki

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

BERABRRBE

AEENTIZSRTARERE MRS S
EWMARZRHAE ZEERTATE
EEXKAKSENEE - AKBHEEZA
HeMEERARG WEERKREBAEE
REEXBNE SRR RE 5 BN R
AR ENRE

AEESRTITAEEANETERRAFER
% SNERRR c ERARKREREE SR
B BRASEEROZEREREER
K WAEERUEFEATANTETIARR
T EELHFRR  AEBITEFFRE
TESRTIAKEERRZ - KEELE
FEkEEZEAREESEZERBRHBERN
TR

AR
NEEEBH TSN EEFHERFEEER
SR EERERBAFEERER - K

EEYEERITE BT ALPEFIZA
B -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0N cREAREEEEREX
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (%)
(Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FEE b (48)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TRINTREEMESRETE E’Jl P
possible change in interest rate, with all other variables held T AEEBAFE(EBB) 8Hx
constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax (through the AlRE B MU E (BB FE ﬁiﬂﬁ’]
impact on floating rate borrowings). 2)o

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in (loss)/profit
basis points before tax

-8 Bial (B|),
#m,Ofd) FE@Em  (Rd)

RMB’000
ARETIT
2023 20234
If interest rate increases fifiFl| & & N 100 (4,499)
If interest rate decreases fiti Fl| = g 4> (100) 4,499
2022 20224
If interest rate increases i &l =& 1 fi 100 (9,699
If interest rate decreases fixi | &k (100) 9,699
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Chinese Mainland and all
transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s assets
and liabilities were denominated in RMB, except for certain bank
balances and financial assets denominated in US$ and HKS$.

The Group’s assets denominated in US$ and HK$ were mainly
held by certain subsidiaries incorporated outside Chinese Mainland
which had US$ as their functional currency and the Group did not
have material foreign currency transactions in Chinese Mainland
during the year.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2022. The amounts presented
are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2023 20234 12 31 H

4. TREREERBRRBE

(%)

SN LB

AEENEBUNTEAN - B2HRH
BIAANREEETT o BE T UAET RBITF
BENRITERLREMEEI  NEEAE
DEERBBEAUAREE -

AEBUXTRATAHENEETERS
T R B A 3 DA G AR SZ B B B 1 B
B ZEMBARNAETIEREIEE
% mMAKBERFAYELETBEAMETT
ERINER S -

= ARk

AEEERERAIREERFNE=TE
TR5 - AEENBRBAERAEER
RETRZNEFPHAETEERER
FFoo tbsh - BURGRIREHE B E R
AREERZERARILTERK -

B = B F 45 PR R

TREJINERAKTECFERENEEER
kxmEARR  TE2ERBBHER (BRIE
Hth BRI EEANETHUNEREALE N
BN TER) + RN2022%12 A31 AMW
FHEERERSE SHEESREAENERR
& -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. cEEREEBEZERBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (%)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging B R FERER (1K)

(Continued)
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

12 months
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A A4
FERX EEFENEDEERK

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 | approach Total
E-RR | E-KRR| HZER L R(423 gt
RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000
ARBTR | ARS TR | ARSTR | ARBTR | ARBTR

144,375 144,375

Trade receivables* & 5 & Yzt 8 - =
Financial assets included in other receivables

and other assets

AIARMEERAEL A EENSREE

- Normal** — IE&** 141,921 - - - 141,921

- Doubtful*™ — a] g - - 17,993 - 17,993
Other non-current assets EfIERENE &=

— Normal*™* — [E&** 86,092 - - - 86,092
Restricted cash %R 3R &

- Not yet past due — i# K75 5,126 - - - 5,126
Cash and cash equivalents & MRS EEY)

— Not yet past due — /&A1 5 1,407,856 - - - 1,407,856
Total &5+ 1,640,995 - 17,993 144,375 1,803,363
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40 cHEMREEBEREEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (&)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging B R FERER (])

(Continued)
31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

12 months

ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A FE
FEER% EEAFEREREERX

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 | approach

FHE | FoER| F=ER B
RMB’'000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB’000
ARBTT | ARBTT | ARETT | ARETT | ARKETT

Trade receivables* & 5 & Yz 8~ = =
Financial assets included in other receivables and
other assets

AIARMEERAL A EENSREE

72,298 72,298

— Normal*™* — [E&** 197,982 — — - 197,982
- Doubtful*™ — a] g ** - - 8,134 - 8,134
Other non-current assets H b 3ERBEE
— Normal*™ — I[E&** 76,934 — — - 76,934
Restricted cash %R #I3&
- Not yet past due — i# K Hj 10,039 = = = 10,039
Cash and cash equivalents 34 MR & EY)
- Not yet past due — A A% H3 1,039,345 = = - 1,039,345
Total #5t 1,324,300 - 8,134 72,298 1,404,732
*  For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * AEERESERFIEEABENRET
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is B - E B R R A B R B B RS 3R
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements. FMIFE20 ©

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in other receivables O FAHMERREREMEENSREE
and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not past ZEEEERERGBRERAIES] -
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had FBEEARBTSRMEE B VHBERIAR
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, MERRERAERIEM - T8 SREEN
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. EEBEEWR AR -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. cEEREEBEZERBER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability
to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations to meet its
debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability to obtain external
financing to meet its committed future capital expenditure.

(%)

REE T E R

AEEMNAREERDESHITAER
HESHRER BHIAEEESHT
AREMEE (MEFERKFHIR) HE BB
NREER(RARERE -

AEENRBHESTZIRNELER TS
MELEMSHRSRANBITIMEBEE
HIRES) - DA MERISS1 2B B & PAFE 1 EL A 42
HIARREARFTHIRET ©

AEERREMRRIES QRITBENKD

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted TRBEIHBERNT
payments, is as follows:

Within 1 1to5 Over 5

On demand year years years Total

BRER —FR —E1% RENE EH

RMB’000 | RMB'000 [ RMB’000 | RMB’000
ARRTR [ AR®TR | ARBTR | AR¥TR

RMB’000
ARBTR

Trade and bills payables & 5 508 K BN E 1% = 314,607 = = 314,607
Lease liabilities FE & & - 387,618 537,922 8,664 934,204
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

AAARMEN AR E ERNERAE - 714,365 - - 714,365
Interest-bearing borrowings &t /& - 478,570 128,215 - 606,785
Total 45t - 1,895,160 666,137 8,664 2,569,961
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0. cEEMREEBZERBER
(%)

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

RBESER (&)

Group 2022
AEE 20224

Within 1 1t05 Over 5

Liquidity risk (Continued)

On demand year years years Total

REX —%R
RMB'000 [  RMB'000
ARBTRL | ARBTL

RENE )
RMB'000 [  RMB'000
ARBTT | ARBTT

—Zh%
RMB'000
ARBTT

Trade and bills payables & SENFTERENZE - 306,018 - = 306,018
Lease liabilities FHE & (& = 522,114 510,410 4 1,032,528
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

FAEMERRERESERNSREE = 715,946 = = 715,946
Interest-bearing borrowings &+ 8 &% - 831,570 284,273 - 1,115,843
Total 5t - 2375648 794,683 4 3,170,335
Capital management BXRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the year ended 31
December 2023.

AEENEAEETEE EREAEEN
FEKERD  UYHBRRNEARLEX
U FEEBL < BRREEBZAL -

AEBRELCERAEHREBEENR
BREHEEEERNEBYHEELAE -
MRS RIS - WA ERIRIEEANK
BITHRD - AEB G EEBSFEAIMNES M
MBMEARERK - REZE2023F12A31H
IHFE  BEUEAETENEZ  BUR
BFRELEE -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The asset-liability ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are
as follows:

Total assets BE41E

Total liabilities B {E42%E

Asset-liability ratio (Note) BE & ELL X (M5E)

0.SREREEEEREE

(%)

EXEE (F)

RBEMROEERBLL T ¢

2023 2022

2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
5,777,054 5,845,012
2,802,835 3,330,556
48.5% 57.0%

Asset-liability ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total
assets and multiplying the product by 100%.

Note:
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 4, 2D B B R AR R T*
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
20234 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETIT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ¥ Re1&E

Interests in subsidiaries P B A & #)#EZ 939,032 901,602
Total non-current assets JEREN & E 2B 939,032 901,602
CURRENT ASSETS B &E

Other receivables £t f& I k18 2,097 40
Amounts due from subsidiaries F&U KB A 7 FIE 4,178,751 4,206,771

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

NARBEFEEEZESHTAEHESNCREE 808,038 741,673
Cash and cash equivalents 34 R &% EY 37,214 45,001

Total current assets 24 & 42(E 5,026,100 4,993,485
CURRENT LIABILITIES HRE & &

Amounts due to subsidiaries FE1I KB A 7518 17,568 17,275
Other payables and accruals E b &1 5k M fEETE A 5,603 7,315
Total current liabilities 7R EN & B 4258 23,171 24,590
EQUITY ##

Share capital J&Z< 29 149 149
Treasury shares EfF %7 - (11,983)
Reserves f# & 5,941,812 5,882,331

Total equity &z 5,941,961 5,870,497
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42.

43.

308

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 18 January 2024, the Group acquired a 6.2% interest in
Jurong Dingchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd. (“Jurong
Dingchu”). The Group has acquired Jurong Dingchu to fulfil its
storage and transportation demands. The purchase consideration
of RMB3,840,000 for the acquisition was in the form of cash. The
Group plans to measure the non-controlling interest in Jurong
Dingchu at fair value.

On 23 February 2024, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with Ningbo Qinghong, pursuant to which the
Group conditionally agreed to purchase and Ningbo Qinghong
conditionally agreed to sell its entire 2.7903% equity interest in
Shanghai ANE at a consideration of RMB338,700,000. Upon
completion of the acquisition, Shanghai ANE will be indirectly held
as to 98.9540% by the Company.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 26 March 2024.

ANE (Cayman) Inc. « ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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R2024%F1818H  AEBEKREGR SR
BREERAR([AFRHE])6.2%MiE
meo AEBEWEORRBUAREHR
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3,840,000t A e H N - AEEFEILA
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R2024F2 8230 @ AEEHEEFEUC
RN EERE - B AEEBKRER
ERE mMEARSUANEKERELEE
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Definitions

e

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following MARERN  BXERBEMEN - U TAEA
terms have the following meanings. These terms and their definitions A T3#% - ZE5HE R HES RS BEME
may not correspond to any industry standard definition, and may REEFERFT @ AN EHEEHEEMERAD
not be directly comparable to similarly titled terms adopted by other FMHRBITEARNLLH AT BN EERELL
companies operating in the same industries as the Company. oo

“2022 Share Award Scheme”

[2022 F fx 17 22BN T2 |

“2023 Share Incentive Scheme”

[2023 Bt B DAt 31

“affiliate”

(BB AL

“Articles” or “Articles of

Association”

(SRR [ A=A

“associate(s)”

Rk IN

“Audit Committee”

[BZZEE

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[EFE

“BVI”
[RBERRES]

the share award scheme the Shareholders of the Company approved to
adopt at its annual general meeting held on June 8, 2022, and approved to
be amended at its annual general meeting held on June 19, 2023
RRABIER 202256 A8 HBITHIRRIAF KRG FHERNI K 20236 B
19 B BITHREBFREG FHEEETOV R BREE 2]

the share award scheme the Shareholders of the Company approved to
adopt at its annual general meeting held on June 19, 2023
RABIREN2023F6 A19 R BITHRFAF KRG FHERRE ARG BEN T

£

with respect to any specified person, any other person, directly or
indirectly, controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common
control with such specified person

HEMBFEALTES - BEEXHEEEHZEEA TR AR EA R HE
ok B 2k A 1 Il ) (E (] E A A £

the articles of association of our Company adopted by special resolution
passed on June 8, 2022 and effective on June 8, 2022, as amended from
time to time

RARIAR2022F6 A8 HBBA R ARZBIRA LM 20226 A8 H A MAAE
BERMA (ETEER])

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB EmARRIE T &R0 E

the audit committee of the Board

EEeERLERES

the board of directors of our Company

ZAUNCIE--5

the British Virgin Islands
REEBRES

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules
ETRBIMEECT PrE e [ EE e~ Al
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Bx

“China” or “PRC”

[H = ]
“close associate”
[EEEE A

“Companies Act” or
“Cayman Companies Act”

NGV RGES 3o YNIbZN

“Companies Ordinance”

IPNGIIESN

» oo«

“Company”, “we”, “our” or “us”

VNI AR 4[58

“connected person(s)”

[BEAL]

“connected transaction”

(&R ]

“controlling shareholder(s)

[fERR AR

»

“Director(s)

[E%]
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the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only, except where the context requires otherwise,
references to “China” and the “PRC” do not apply to Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
REARKNE  EEREARS RIEMRRBRATS - RXESAREN -
[FE R T EANEE - BFIREE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB R R T R &

the Companies Act (As Revised), Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961) of the Cayman
Islands, as amended or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

FEHE1961FE3ARIE 228 R ANE (FHER]) - KRBT Ml FT kA
HAth 77 FIE

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BBEDIFE622F RN AHED] - & TRHERT ~ T AR T SR

ANE (Cayman) Inc. (ZEE¥IREE B AR, an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on July
31, 2014, whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 9956)

ZHEVREBARAR - —RN2014F7 A31 BRIEAE RS AETMAT
BEREARAR - HRGO N EBB M ER L (RHASR - 9956)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BA EmRAE T ZARRE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BB LR T ZARRE

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and, unless the
context otherwise requires

HAEMRAE TZANRE (BRXERBFIEIN)

the director(s) of our Company

ZAUNECIF: 2




“Equity Incentive Plans”

[ B s =t & ]

“ESG Committee”

[BIR -HEghERZEE]

“Giantruck”

[+

“Global Offering”
[ 2 IREE |

“Group”, “our Group”,

“ » o«

we”, “our” or “us”

[ZREeE ) 3 [ 2 AP

“HK$” or “Hong Kong dollars”
(%7l

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
[&7%]

Definitions

e

the equity incentive plans of our Company adopted by our Board
resolutions on May 29, 2015 (as further amended and approved on January
30, 2019 and December 30, 2020), December 1, 2015 (as further amended
and approved on January 30, 2019 and December 30, 2020) and February
7, 2021, the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed
“Appendix IV — Statutory and General Information — D. Equity Incentive
Plans” in the Prospectus
EFEGRERN2015F 5290 (201941 A30H k2020412 A30 B
#E— BT RAtE) - 20155F12 41 H (70201941 A30H 2020412 530
BAH—HER] MILAE) %2021 F2 A7 BRMA R RIREHEE - X2
BN B SR (M8 — AT R —MRER —D.ARERE TS —&

the environmental, social and governance committee of the Board
EEGRE  HENEREZES

Changshan Giantruck Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (& LI R <& 1 it
JESEEIBHBR A R]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
on September 25, 2015 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
FLRRENHERERGR AR - —KN2015%9 A25 HEH BEEMAL
WERDR - BEARAIZENB AR

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering
FEAHEENBEREE

our Company and its subsidiaries, or any one of them as the context may
require, and where the context refers to any time prior to its incorporation,
the business which its predecessor(s) was engaged in and which was
subsequently assumed by it

RARRHEMBAR » SKEREA—KAR (XEMT) - REXERLE
A ATEV RIS - B AR E A S P R B BB 18 PR M) R 7S

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BBETEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEES TR
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Definitions

Bx

“Hong Kong Offer Shares”
[BHEEERD ]

“Hong Kong Public Offering”
[BEAREES]

“Hong Kong Share Registrar”
[ BEBEHERLE]
“International Offer Shares”

[ BIFR 3% & At

“International Offering”

[BIFR % |

“Listing”
=il

“Listing Date”
[ A

“Listing Rules”
[ EmRA

“Main Board”

[ER]
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the 8,022,000 Shares initially being offered by our Company for
subscription at the Offer Price pursuant to the Hong Kong Public Offering
RARRBEELARBEEREEEVIRIEZEEUMHBIENS,022,000/ & 7

the offer for subscription of the Hong Kong Offer Shares to the public in
Hong Kong at the Offer Price, subject to and in accordance with the terms
and conditions described in the Prospectus

RERRERAEGR LG (EXEMRR) REEEREZLEFTSLER
DUAHRBBRRALTRE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

B EFEFECARAT

the 72,198,000 Shares being initially offered for subscription at the Offer
Price under the International Offering
BIEEREEREEENRIEZ HEAMRIERT72,198,000 & A%

the offer of the International Offer Shares at the Offer Price in the United
States to QIBs only in reliance on Rule 144A and outside the United States
in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation S or any other
available exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act, as
further described in the Prospectus

EEFIMAGEEZFIRANERNSEREBER - MKIBESHIIERZFE
BTEMEMERECLHARREARERSG T AEEBIRIMEEEEIREE
ERREERD - FEHANBRER

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
AR EMR LT

November 11, 2021
2021%F11 811H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited
ERMARGMARARES EHARA

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with the
GEM of the Stock Exchange. For the avoidance of doubt, the Main Board
excludes the GEM of the Stock Exchange

ERPTEERNRER S (NEERETS) BN R GEMI B 2 37
TEE - REER  FRTEEHRZIGEM




“Management Shareholders”

&2 ERR

“Memorandum” or

“Memorandum of Association”

[ERRAM ] [ AR EIZRM

“Model Code”

[Esral]

“Mr. Qin”

[FRFEE]

“Mr. Wang”

[E5E4]

“‘Mr. Zhu”

[ 5e4 ]

“Nomination Committee”

[fR2ZBE

“PRC Legal Advisor”
[ B2 ]

“Prospectus”

[ B =S

“Remuneration Committee”

[(HEZEE

“Reporting Period”
[ %5 HA

1B

Definitions

e

the management shareholders of our Company led by Mr. Wang and Mr.
Qin, as identified in the section headed “Relationship with Our Largest
Shareholders — Our Largest Shareholders” in the Prospectus
EHKRERBEARRAOME — RPAMNRARR | —8IA T4 RRE
ERENARAERERR

the memorandum of association of our Company adopted by special
resolution passed on June 8, 2022 and effective on June 8, 2022, as
amended from time to time

RRFF202256 A8 B EBHY R RIRZRA I 70202246 A 8 B £ A H K
BRRARM (K AREET)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FRAIKMERCIAE T BEITAEFEITEF R FHHIRESTA

Mr. Qin Xinghua (=), an executive Director, Co-Chairman, chief
executive officer and president of our Company
FEZELLE KRBT ES  BEEE  BENTEREH

Mr. Wang Yongjun (E# %), who resigned as an executive Director and
Chairman of the Board with effect from January 9, 2023
ITHERE  BERTEZEREFTSIE - B52023F1 AR BAEN

Mr. Zhu Jianhui (f1##%), who resigned as an executive Director and Chief
Operating Officer of our Company with effect from September 1, 2022
MEERAE  BHERARRIITESREFELE - B2022F9 A1 HEEEX

the nomination committee of the Board

EFEeRVEEAS

Jingtian & Gongcheng, the PRC legal advisor of our Company
BRNBARMEL - ARBHNHEERBER

the prospectus of the Company dated October 30, 2021 in connection with
the Hong Kong Public Offering
RAFIHEIR2021F10 A0 BB R AHEERRER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EEEFMEES

the year ended December 31, 2023
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE
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Definitions

Bx

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[ARE]

“RSU”

[ 52 PR 1 B {7 B84 |

“SFO”

(77 RS D]

“Shanghai ANE”

“Share(s)”

[RAn )

“Shareholder(s)”
e

“Stock Exchange” or
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
[BERX P ) S [ BB

“subsidiary(ies)”
EEAER

“substantial shareholder”

[EER]

“U.S.”, “US” or “United States”

S0

“US$”, “USD” or “U.S. dollars”

El

wgy”
%]
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Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FEVEEEBARE

a restricted share unit award to be granted to a participant under the
Equity Incentive Plans

WRIE IR AR RT 81 (7 2 B35 % ) B9 2 BR I A ) B8 i 22

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
ERENESTI ERZF RAEKRA - ETRERT - M A MR &k
Shanghai Anneng Juchuang Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (/8% §E
REHRESEEE B A R]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability on June 1, 2015, in which we held 96.16% equity interest as of
December 31, 2023

PERERAMERERARAR - —KN2015F6 A1 BEFRBETMAZA
BIRAF - B2023F12 4318 + HIFHH6.16% M

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company with a nominal value of
US$0.00002 each
AR AR AR AR E 5 0.00002 3 7T #) 3 AR

holder(s) of Shares
SRESZEPN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMERHMBR AT

has the meaning ascribed to it in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance
BB R RGEHIFES G T H R &

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB LA R T &R R E

the United States of America
EHEBEFEH

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EBEEEMZETT

per cent

Bk




‘A"
[Al]

“BoG”

[B2C]

“drop and pull”

[FRHUER ]

“express freight network”

[RER

“freight agents”

[EERER]

“freight partners”

)

[EEAFR

\

“freight volume”

r4b§ FE |

s/ EEE

Glossary of Technical Terms

B R

artificial intelligence
ATE 6

business to consumer, the type of commerce transaction in which
businesses sell products or services directly to consumers

TRIHEE  CXERAHBEHEERIRBNBEZRE

a transportation mode wherein a truck pulls the trailer to its destination,
drops the trailer, and hooks up a new trailer to be transported to its
destination

—REREN - FTEESIHBEEHANM  WTHE B9L5—a8#E -
EREH A A

nationwide LTL networks
R TEEGES

agents managed by freight partners, which typically own and operate
pickup and dispatch outlets in our network

HEEAFEEERNRER BEERMNABANER LB EMI X
2

business partners that are directly managed by us and typically own and
operate pickup and dispatch outlets in our network. Unless otherwise
indicated, each freight partner refers to the unique account that our freight
partners established on our Luban system through individual partnership
agreements each covering its respective business area
HEMEEEEABFERMNABEAES MEEBENMEXRPHENELE
EBH - BREAMEN  BESESEFRHEEECFRBREEEERSR
BEBRENEBEEREMERFMNBMRR LEZOBULRS

the amount of freight by volumetric weight
SEMRETEEE
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Glossary of Technical Terms

SRl

“handling volume”

[FRIRE |

“oT”
[oT ]

‘7
[T

“loss rate”

“unit cost” or
“unit cost of revenue”

=N A R-AvE— 37 %
“unit gross profit”
[ B EF ]

“unit line-haul transportation
cost”

[ B (i AR E B
“unit price”
[EE]

*

For identification purposes only

Y EHET)
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the amount of freights handled by our sorting centres, which equals to
total freight volume multiplied by handling times. During the transportation
process, the freight is handled twice at each of the departure sorting
centre, the destination sorting centre, and any transit hubs in between
BMOBARORBENGERE  FNEERERNGIERRE - RERBEF -
EMEanSRESED L - B A B0 K o A E ] o B AR AR 1 R TR R

N

Internet of things
ks

information technology

15 BRI

the ratio of number of shipment losses the applicable period over the total
number of shipments during the same period
RERPENERENEEEEHEHRANEEESHHNL X

cost of revenue of the applicable period divided by total freight volume
during the same period

ERRENEERNARARRNEERE

gross profit of the applicable period divided by total freight volume during
the same period
BRPEOENRURSBNEERS

line-haul transportation costs of the applicable period divided by total
freight volume during the same period

ERRENBRERKARARRNEERE

revenue of the applicable period divided by total freight volume during the
same period

ERPRNBARUARSNEERS




ZredlNe X

ANE (Cayman) Inc.
ZEEVMAREEBR AT
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